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CORPORATE INFORMATION

NAER

Auditors

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the
Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

Place of Incorporation

Hong Kong

Registered Office

21 Dai Fu Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate,
Tai Po, New Territories, Hong Kong

Share Registrar and Transfer Office

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Internet Websites

Lam Soon Hong Kong Group
https://www.lamsoon.com

Home Care Business
https://www.axe.com.hk

Edible Oil Business
https://www.lamsoonoil.com
https://www.haomama.com

Flour Business
https://www.hkflourmills.com
https://www.gsflour.com

Hong Leong Group
https://www.hongleong.com

MIE(EB)BRAR | 2=

B R ED

EERE BB

BT

RCEE R BERBREG) TOEMAR
BREZHE

ot fif B 3L 3tk
E
AMREE

BRMRBHAHIHEBAEEH215

RHBFELE

BEBPRIBEZTCERLT
EBEFERRERISIESMP 171
1712217165588

B R Uk
HIEE S EE

https://www.lamsoon.com

REEEER

https://www.axe.com.hk

RAMEXER
https://www.lamsoonoil.com
https://www.haomama.com

DS
https://www.hkflourmills.com
https://www.gsflour.com

LEPY

https:.//www.hongleong.com

PO 4F 4F ¥R



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
M EE

T . .
Revenue (HK$ million) Profit for the year (HK$ million)
WA CEE G EZT) REEBRNOEEEET)
$'m $'m
400
6,500 358
6,107 350 317
6,000
: 300
5,761 957
250
5,500 201
5,119 5,119 200
5,000 4,838 150
100 85
4,500
50 l
4,000 0
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
. .
N\
Total Equity (HK$ million) and Basic Earnings per Share and
Net Assets per Share (HK$) Dividend per Share (HK$)
BER(EEEET) RERFEE(EET) BRERBIREBRBE(EET)
$'m HK$ $(DPS) $(EPS)
3.500 14 0.55 2.40
' 12.16
3,300 s11.84 §11.45 $11.93 2.20
' 12 0.50 048 048 500
3,100 $1018 2959 2,904 '
2,900 2,786 10 . :
1.60
2'288 2,477 8 0.40 1.40
’ 6 0.35 1.20
2,300 1.00
1,100 4 0.30 0.80
1,900 5 0.95 0.60
1,700 0.40
1500 0 0.20 0.36 0.20
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Total Equity Net assets per share DPS EPS (Basic)
L O Spwax O spme O spusan
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBERE

Consolidated Results

mE¥E
Year ended 30 June
BEXNB=1THLEE
(HK$ million) 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
(B¥HET) —ECNFE ZE=fF ZEF B —ETEZH
Revenue PN 4,838 5,119 6,107 5,761 5,119
GP% ER= 21% 17% 19% 22% 23%
Profit before taxation BB AR 245 90 285 421 400
Taxation E (44) (5) (28) (63) (83)
Profit for the year KEERR 201 85 257 358 317

Consolidated Assets and Liabilities

HEEERAE

At 30 June

RARA=+H
(HK$ million) 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
(B EET) —E-NE —E-=F —T--F —E--F —T-EF
Total assets wWEE 3,546 3,425 3,801 3,676 3,215
Total liabilities wWeE (642) (639) (842) (795) (738)
Total equity HRES 2,904 2,786 2,959 2,881 2,477

Key Financial Indicators

FEMKER
Year ended 30 June
BEANAZTHLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E_NME —TB-_=F ZBEZ-F - ZEZEE
Earnings per share (HK$) BRER (GEMT)

Basic and diluted BEARREE 0.85 0.36 1.09 1.51 1.34
Dividend per share (HK$) BRBRE (E%T) 0.40 0.30 0.48 0.48 0.45
Equity-debt ratio* FERER & 100:0 100:0 100:0 100:0 100:0

* Equity-debt ratio is defined as the ratio of the total equity to net * EXRER A EEREEEHNLR - F
debt. Net debt represents leases liabilities less cash and deposits. EEEEHEEERRAENTER °

MIE(ERB)BRAR | — B - WEF® 5



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ESEIRREE

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Lam Soon
(Hong Kong) Limited (the “Company”), | present the annual report
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the financial year ended 30 June 2024.

FY23/24 marked another challenging year for the Group. Weaker
momentum in the Mainland Chinese and Hong Kong economies
weighed on consumer sentiment. The Group stayed focus on our
core competence and pursued opportunities in premium segments
where we have a comparative advantage in terms of brand and
quality. While our efforts allowed us to achieve overall volume
growth in a difficult environment, these gains were offset by our
adoption of competitive pricing strategy and unfavourable foreign
currency impact, resulting in a decline in overall revenue versus
last year. However, our pursuit of quality growth, combined with
lower raw material costs and ongoing cost saving programs, led to
a material rebound in profitability. As a result, the Group's revenue
declined by 5% to HK$4,838 million, while our profit increased by
135% to HK$201 million during the financial year.

The Board is pleased to recommend a final dividend of HK$0.27
per share at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. In addition
to the interim dividend of HK$0.13 per share paid earlier this year,
the total dividend for the year will amount to HK$0.40 per share.

Strategic Overview

During the year, food-related commodity prices relatively stabilized
after a prolonged period of volatility and elevation. Despite the
positive development, weaker economic conditions in Mainland
China and Hong Kong have led to softer consumer demand. Excess
manufacturing capacities, especially in Mainland China, triggered
and sustained aggressive pricing behaviour by industry players
within already highly competitive markets. Our management
teams aimed to strike a delicate balance between achieving
growth and protecting our profitability. As such, we were selective
in the opportunities we pursued and focused on the fundamentals
of developing solutions and new products in less price-sensitive
premium segments where there continues to be an underlying
need.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEEIREHRES

The Group’s Food division has shown significant improvement in
profit this year despite major industry challenges. While the lower
raw material cost of wheat and oil did alleviate some pressure,
management remained disciplined in implementing programs
to enhance our margins and reduce the impact of commodity
prices. In Flour, we remain committed to establish ourselves as the
partner-of-choice in total bakery solutions. We made progress in
our efforts to sell premium flour and specialty fats products to our
customers, especially in the bakery segment. Our baking centers,
located across eight major cities in Mainland China, allowed us to
develop new and tailored products and value-added services to
our customers. In Oil, management continues to strengthen our
portfolio with new products and packaging upgrades to enhance
the consumer experience.

FY23/24 has also been a fruitful year for the Home Care division.
Despite prevailing market conditions and price competition, we
managed to attain a stable improvement in top- and bottom-line
performance. Management'’s efforts in expanding geographically
and into new product categories were conducive to incremental
growth and margins. The team’s disciplined approach and
continuous improvement programs helped optimize our cost base
and generate efficiencies across the supply chain. These cost-
saving initiatives allowed us to reinvest resources into higher-
performing channels and new products. Over the past year, we
continued to strengthen our sales and R&D capabilities. Within
R&D, we developed closer ties with selected upstream ingredient
suppliers to enhance our products’ formulation and value
proposition whilst optimizing our cost base.

The Group regards sustainability as essential to our business
achievements. As a producer of food and home care products, we
proactively minimize our environmental impact and consistently
meet stringent national requirements by adhering to ethical and
sustainable practices throughout our production processes. We
prioritize emissions reduction, responsible water usage, and waste
management, working actively to pursue the targets we have
set. During the year, we implemented projects to reduce waste
via innovative and eco-friendly packaging solutions. Transparent
reporting, alongside our commitment to green production, will
remain a priority for the Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEEIREHRES

Looking ahead, geopolitical tension and commodity swings
are unlikely to dissipate in the near term. China’s uncertain
macroeconomic outlook will further add another layer of
complexity in this evolving environment. New policies and stimulus
by the government, aimed at easing the strains and spillover
effects from the real estate sector, could take some time to achieve
its full and intended effects. As China and the world traverses
through this transitionary and uncertain period, it is imperative
that the Group stays vigilant and focus on areas where we can
control. Targeted growth in premium and/or profitable segments,
cost control, and risk management will continue to be our top
priorities. With our strong balance sheet, the Group is well-
positioned to seize new opportunities and deliver sustainable
returns to shareholders.

During the year, Mr. WONG Cho Fai, James, retired as Group
Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer of the Company. On
behalf of the Board, | would like to thank James for his dedication
and contribution during his term of office. A warm welcome is
extended to Mr. CHIU Chao Hsiang, James, who assumed the
position of Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of
the Company with effect from 3 June 2024. His experience and
insights are valuable and | look forward to his contribution. We
also welcome Mr. Christian Karl NOTHHAFT who joined the Board
as a Non-Executive Director on 18 April 2024. | would also like
to express our sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers,
business partners, bankers and employees for their support and
commitment to the Group, and to all of my fellow Directors for
their continued wise counsel.

KWEK Leng Hai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 4 September 2024
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

E 3 E1 -

OVERVIEW

FY23/24 has been a year of challenges and opportunities. During
the year under review, the moderation in commodity prices from
their peak levels, including raw materials like wheat and oil,
has allowed the Group to lift some of the pressures on its cost
structure. Nonetheless, with operations primarily in Mainland
China and Hong Kong, we are also under the influence of their
uneven economic recovery. Weak consumer confidence and shifts
in post-covid consumer behavior have led to a trend of trading
down and decline in market demand, while depreciation pressures
on the Renminbi posed additional challenges. Throughout the
year, the Group has focused on growing its premium market,
expanding with stronger product portfolio, and improving channel
management to offset these challenges. We enhanced our
resilience as we pushed along our initiatives to fortify our internal
infrastructures and NPD. Proactive actions, including rigorous cost
management and procurement measures, were continually taken
to safeguard profits in the face of this exceedingly complex market
environment.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group reported a 5% year-on-year decline in revenue to
HK$4,838 million for the financial year ended 30 June 2024,
primarily attributed to the impact of a lower average Renminbi
exchange rate. Gross profit margin notably increased by 3.8
percentage points to 20.9%, mainly due to favourable wheat and
oil cost and sales mix improvement. As a result, the Group's profit
for the year increased by 135% to HK$201 million.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

E 3 E1 -

BUSINESS REVIEW

Food Segment

In FY23/24, revenue of the Food segment has dropped by 7% to
HK$4,030 million. Stripping off the Renminbi depreciation impact,
the revenue decreased by 4%. Operating profit of the segment
surged 263% to HK$190 million as compared to the previous
financial year.

The Flour and Specialty Fats division of the Group has confronted
intense market competition and lowered demand, as consumers
continue to prioritize pricing consideration. Navigating these
hurdles, whilst we have adopted a strategic pricing approach for
our lower price segments in Flour to strike a balance between
volume and growth, we retained a bigger focus on advancing our
premiumization strategy and sharpened our segment targeting
by enhancing our product portfolio to capture customer needs.
With strategic sales execution, impactful marketing initiatives, and
value-added services, we have achieved notable sales growth in
the top premium Japanese-style Flour segment. This has guarded
our profit margins and expanded our market share within the
premium sector. Combining these with production and operational
optimizations as well as favorable raw material costs, we have
made significant strides in improving our profit margins this year.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

E 3 E1 -

BUS'N ESS REV'EW (continued)

Food Segment (continued)

Aligned with the strategy in the Flour business, the Group's
Specialty Fats business also leveraged on the premium segment,
distinguishing itself in the competitive market environment. This
strategic focus has yielded sales momentum and margin growth
for this segment in FY23/24, accompanied by an expansion of
our premium customer base. Moving forward, we will further
integrate and optimize the synergies between the two businesses
to drive growth. Besides, supply chain optimization programs and
disciplined procurement practices will remain key to the division.

The Group’s Edible Oil business also navigated through market
challenges and opportunities and achieved a notably improved
results performance. Despite facing shrinking oil demands in core
Guangdong and Hong Kong markets and keen competition, we
have diligently implemented various strategies to overcome these
hurdles. Marketing campaigns were judiciously deployed during
peak festive seasons, catalysing sales as we operate with a keen
eye on cost efficiency. In addition, we introduced a mid-priced
corn oil product to deepen our segment penetration. In view of
the fast-evolving consumption trends, reinforcing our platform
strategy is a must. The revitalization of our e-commerce channel
has yielded favourable results this year and provided solid support
to our sales drive. We will continue this focus while strengthening
our brand equity and product offerings to optimize sales, with a
vision to expand beyond current markets to ensure sustainable
future growth.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

E 3 E1 -

BUS'N ESS REV'EW (continued)

Home Care Segment

Home Care Division revenue grew by 2% to HK$810 million
while operating profit increased by 14% to HK$83 million. We
were able to achieve both volume and revenue growth despite
softer demand in core markets and unfavourable foreign currency
translation impact on our Mainland China sales. Ongoing supply
chain optimization programs, combined with raw material cost
savings, helped improve our profitability.

In Mainland China, our simultaneous and relentless efforts to
deepen penetration in core markets, expand our product range,
and geographic expansion helped us generate incremental growth
in a challenging and highly competitive market environment. We
continued to make inroads in our expansion beyond our core
Guangdong and Fujian provinces. Some of our new products, such
as the more premium AXE Hyaluronic Acid product, have also
performed well in the e-Commerce channels. Ongoing progress of
these initiatives will provide us with more insights on our target
consumer base and more confidence as we step up our NPD,
marketing, and distribution programs in the new financial year.

In the more mature Hong Kong market, we remained focused on
expanding our brand presence and leadership with new products
in core and adjacent categories. Our new dishwashing and laundry
capsule products under the AXE Supra range have been well
received by consumers. We built on this momentum by launching
exclusive laundry capsule products with selected retailers, allowing
us to further tap into consumer needs whilst strengthening
strategic ties with key partners. As we continue to cross-sell and
drive NPD penetration within our established distribution channels,
we will also invest in corresponding marketing programs to boost
brand awareness and drive repeat purchases.
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OUTLOOK

Conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East and potential trade-
related restrictions from geopolitical tensions will continue to
impact the global economy. A sustained and stable economic
recovery in Mainland China and Hong Kong is expected to
take some time. Despite these challenges, the Group remains
committed to its premium strategy and positioning, and will
continue to develop products and solutions in line with this
direction as we expand our geographical reach and deepen our
presence in core markets.

Our long-term success is predicated on our ability to fulfil the
needs of our customers effectively and efficiently. Sustained
investment in IT and R&D capabilities will boost our organisational
efficiency and enable us to develop new breakthrough products
to solidify our brand equity, improve margins and reduce our
exposure to commodity fluctuations. Equally important is the
need to have an effective salesforce to execute our go-to-market
strategies across retail and institutional channels. In this regard,
we will not only step up our recruitment efforts, but also invest
in training programs and systems to elevate the skillset and
productivity of existing salespeople. These fundamentals will
not only help enhance the Group’s near-term performance and
resilience, but also strengthen the foundations for future growth.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Management has been provided with the following key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) to manage its business, through
evaluating, controlling and setting strategies to improve
performance. Such KPIs include revenue, gross profit margin,
profit for the year, inventory and trade receivable turnover days.

Group Results

For the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group's revenue decreased
by 5% to HK$4,838 million due to lower average exchange rate for
Renminbi. Gross profit margin increased by 3.8 percentage points
to 20.9%, primarily attributable to favourable wheat cost and oil
cost, as well as sales mix improvement in our Flour and Home Care
businesses along with improvement in the performance of our
Specialty Fats business. As a result, the Group's profit for the year
increased by 135% to HK$201 million.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

At 30 June 2024, the Group had a cash balance of HK$1,706
million (2023: HK$1,457 million). About 69% of these funds were
denominated in Renminbi, 27% in Hong Kong dollars and 4% in
other currencies.

Banking facilities available to Group companies and not yet drawn
as at 30 June 2024 amounted to HK$585 million (2023: HK$553
million).

The Group centralises all the financing and treasury activities at
corporate level. There are internal controls over the application of
financial and hedging instruments which can only be employed to
manage and mitigate the commodity price risk and currency risk
for trade purposes.

At 30 June 2024, the inventory turnover days' were 67 days (2023:
62 days). The trade receivable turnover days? were 24 days (2023:
21 days).

In view of the strong liquidity and financial position, management
believes the Group will have sufficient resources to fund its daily
operations and capital expenditure commitments.

Foreign Currency Exposure

The Group has operations in Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Macau. Local costs and revenue are primarily denominated in
Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars, and Macau Patacas.

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases, which give rise to receivables, payables and
cash balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a
currency other than the functional currency of the operations to
which the transactions relate. The Group monitors its exposure by
considering factors including, but not limited to, exchange rate
movement of the relevant foreign exchange currencies as well
as the Group's cash flow requirements to ensure that its foreign
exchange exposure is kept at an acceptable level. Details of the
foreign currency exposure of the Group are set out in note 25(d) to
the financial statements.

Net exchange gains for the year is set out in note 6 to the financial
statements.

! The calculation of inventory turnover days is based on the closing
balances divided by the preceding 3 months’ cost of sales and
multiplied by 91 days.

Z The calculation of trade receivables turnover days is based on the
closing balances divided by the preceding 3 months’ revenue and
multiplied by 91 days.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Equity Price Exposure

The Group maintains an investment portfolio which comprises
equity securities listed in Hong Kong for investment yield
enhancement purpose. Equity investments are subject to asset
allocation limits.

Capital Expenditure

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group invested a total
sum of HK$40 million (2023: HK$49 million) on acquisition of
plant equipment and other fixed assets.

Details of the capital expenditure commitments are set out in note
26(a) to the financial statements.

Human Resources

As at 30 June 2024, there were 1,631 employees in the Group.
Annual increment and year-end performance bonus mechanism
were incorporated in the Group’s remuneration policy to retain,
reward and motivate individuals for their contributions to the
Group. In addition, the Company also operates a share option
scheme for granting of options to eligible employees.

Relation with Shareholders and
Investors

The Company encourages two-way communication with its
stakeholders. Extensive information about the Group’s activities
is provided in the Annual and Interim Reports, which are sent to
shareholders. The Group also maintains a number of websites
to provide a wide range of information on the Group and its
businesses.
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FY24/25 Lam Soon Homecare Distributor Conference 28 June 2024
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2024 China International Baking Exhibition 21 to 24 May 2024
20241 BB EERES 2024F5821HZ24H
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CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS

Lam Soon High-end Bakery National Tradeshows 26 October 2023
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CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS
SELE

Honour & Awards

REERRIE

Guangzhou Lam Soon Homecare Products

Limited was awarded the Economic Development
Contribution Award from the Luopu Street Office of
the Luopu Street Party Working Committee
EMNEIEEZ2ARERARESBHEEIZ S HEE
MEEBBRLERREERE

FOOD AWARDS 782 A\ B

Shenzhen Lam Soon Edible Oils
Company, Limited’s Twist Cap product
was awarded the 13th M.Success X

Packaging Innovation and Sustainable 1% ik E'I #h 32
Development Award Technology :
Innovation Award
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Grain and Oil Demonstration Project
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Shenzhen Lam Soon Edible Oils Company, Limited’s
Knife Oil Adjustment Twist Cap was awarded the
Finalist Award by FBIF WOW FOOD AWARDS
RYIrgEh s B R A 7 J) B8 m A i =% FBIF WOW

Lam Soon (Sichuan) Food Company Limited was awarded the
title of demonstration processing enterprise of the National Safe

25



CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS

A2 TIL 3 G A R AR
| AR RTESH ik K b
F268 P HEERER N &
‘ IE T T S \ Jiangsu Lam Soon Food Company Limited “Golden

Statue” T65 Traditional French Bread Flour was
awarded the Innovative Product Award at the 26th
China International Baking Exhibition
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Shekou Lam Soon Flour Mills Company Limited “Golden AT WSO, W TR

Statue” was awarded the title of “Shenzhen Top Brand” 0.5 b A T
WORIEENERAT S5 L8 RYDERE] $ A H e

AHET [2023)/P156 %

WL e Shenzhen Lam Soon Edible Qils Company, Limited was

SE (FR) ALY : awarded the National (Shenzhen) Excellent Enterprises
ety with Foreign Investment Excellent Tax-Payment and
Turnover (2022)
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BR (20225 EF)

TS (2022408)
PLTACRA) AND TURNOVER
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CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS

“Knife"” was awarded the Superior
Brand Award and Outstanding
Partner Award under the Super
Brands Award activity held by
PARKNSHOP (HK) Limited

[TEE |REEREMBEREZER
BT m AR R A S ER R

2023-2024F%

“AXE" was awarded the Top Popularity Award of H.K.
Pharmacies 2023-2024
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| ;l E?ﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬂ(ﬁ@f%fﬁﬁiﬁ) “AXE" was awarded the Superior Brand Award under the
—— AXE Super Brands Award activity held by PARKnSHOP (HK)
Limited
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4 .

“Knife"” was awarded the Top Favourite Brands under the
Brand Champions Awards activity held by Wellcome
[T | KEEFEERARBZE AR MM
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEENEREEAES

Mr. Kwek Leng Hai

Aged 71, the Chairman of the Company since October 2006
and has been a Non-executive Director of the Company since
appointment to the Board in 1997. Mr. Kwek is also the Chairman
of Board Nomination Committee and a member of Board
Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. Kwek is a director and shareholder of Guoline Capital Assets
Limited (“GCAL"), the ultimate holding company of the Company.
He is the Executive Chairman of Guoco Group Limited ("GGL"),
a subsidiary of GCAL and listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). He is also
a non-executive director of GuocolLand Limited (“GuocolLand”,
GGL's subsidiary listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST")). He serves as a non-executive director
of Hong Leong Bank Berhad (“HLBB", a listed subsidiary of
Hong Leong Financial Group Berhad (“HLFG"”, GGL's associated
company listed on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa
Malaysia”))) and Bank of Chengdu Co., Ltd. (an associated
company of HLBB and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange).

Mr. Kwek qualified as a chartered accountant of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He has extensive
experience in various business sectors, including but not limited
to finance, investment, manufacturing and real estate. He is the
brother-in-law of Dr. Whang Sun Tze, a Non-executive Director of
the Company.
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Mr. Chiu Chao Hsiang, James

Aged 53, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director of the
Company since appointment to the Board in June 2024.

Mr. Chiu holds a Bachelor’s of Science degree in Food & Nutrition
from Fu-Jen University in Taipei, and a dual degree in Master of
Science (MS) in Human Nutrition and Master of Health Policy and
Management (MPH) from Columbia University in the City of New
York, USA.

Mr. Chiu has over 28 years of experience in the areas of food and
beverage, nutritional and healthcare products sectors and has
strong executive experience in multi-national corporations for the
Greater China regions. He has served in key leadership roles at
General Mills, Abbott Laboratories, Royal FrieslandCampina, Nestle
and Mead Johnson.

Mr. Christian K. Nothhaft

Aged 59, Non-executive Director of the Company since
appointment to the Board in April 2024.

Mr. Nothhaft is an Executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer of GGL.

Mr. Nothhaft graduated from Munich University of Applied
Science in Germany with a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Hospitality
and Tourism Management and also holds a Human Resources/
Payroll Management Degree from DGFP (German Association for
Human Resource Management). He has also attended the Harvard
University Young Presidents Organisation (YPO) Program. Mr.
Nothhaft has extensive experience in business management and
advisory, strategic planning, retail, consumer products, network
rollouts, e-commerce, digital transformation, people management,
ESG and compliance.

Mr. Nothhaft is an independent non-executive director and a
member of the remuneration and nominations Committees of
DFI Retail Group Holdings Limited, with primary listing on London
Stock Exchange and secondary listings in Singapore and Bermuda.
He was the Chief Executive Officer of Watsons Personal Care
Stores, China and the managing director of Watsons Wine and
Fortress Hong Kong. Before that, he was the regional managing
director of Movenpick (Asia Restaurants Group).
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Dr. Whang Sun Tze ph.p.

Aged 80, Non-executive Director of the Company since
appointment to the Board in 1984.

Dr. Whang holds a Doctorate Degree in Chemical Engineering. He
is the brother-in-law of Mr. Kwek Leng Hai.

Mr. Lo Kai Yiu, Anthony

Aged 75, Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since appointment to the Board in December 2008. He is the
Chairman of Board Audit and Risk Management Committee
and a member of Board Nomination Committee and Board
Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. Lo is qualified as a chartered accountant with the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada and a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lo has
over 40 years of experience in banking, finance and investments.
He worked for a number of well-known financial institutions as
managing director.

Mr. Lo also holds other directorships in a number of listed
companies in Hong Kong including independent non-executive
director, the audit committee chairman and members of the
compensation and nomination committees of Playmates Holdings
Limited; independent non-executive director, audit committee
chairman, member of the remuneration and nomination
committees of Tristate Holdings Limited; and independent non-
executive director, audit committee chairman and member of the
nomination committee of Convenience Retail Asia Limited.

Mr. Lo was an independent non-executive director and member
of Sustainability Committee of Top Glove Corporation Bhd.,
a company listed on Bursa Malaysia and Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited, until he resigned on 3 October 2022.
He retired as independent non-executive director of The Taiwan
Fund, Inc., a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, in
April 2018.
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Mr. Lester G. Huang sss, ip

Aged 64, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in November 2013. Mr. Huang is the Chairman of
the Board Remuneration Committee and a member of the Board
Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Company.

Mr. Huang is an independent non-executive director, the Chairman
of the board remuneration committee and a member of the board
audit and risk management committee of GGL.

Mr. Huang is a practicing solicitor and notary public, and is
currently the Managing Partner and Co-Chairman of P. C. Woo &
Co., a solicitor firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Huang became a qualified
solicitor of Hong Kong in March 1985 and has over 30 years
of post-qualification experience. Mr. Huang graduated with a
Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of Hong Kong in 1982
and a Master of Education degree from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong in 2006.

In 2002, the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“The Government of HKSAR") appointed Mr. Huang as
a Justice of the Peace. In July 2018, The Government of HKSAR
awarded him a Silver Bauhinia Star for his contributions to public
services.

Mr. Huang's public roles include serving as the chairman of the
Council of City University of Hong Kong and the Social Welfare
Advisory Committee of the Labour and Welfare Bureau. He is also
a director of Lei Foundation Limited, a Steward of The Hong Kong
Jockey Club ("HKJC") and a director of certain group companies
of HKJC. He is also a director of Pacific Basin Economic Council
Limited.

Mr. Huang was admitted to the Roll of Honour of the Law Society
of Hong Kong (“Law Society”) in May 2021. Previously, he was
the President of the Law Society from 2007 to 2009. He was also
a non-executive director of the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong (“SFC"”) and chaired the Investor and Financial
Education Council (a subsidiary of the SFC). Mr. Huang was a
member of the Hospital Authority and the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority’s Exchange Fund Advisory Committee as well as a non-
executive director of the Urban Renewal Authority. He also served
as a member of the Standing Committee on Judicial Salaries and
Conditions of Service and other public positions.

Mr. Huang is an independent non-executive director of Kidsland
International Holdings Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange).
He was also an independent non-executive director of Top
Glove Corporation Bhd. (listed on Bursa Malaysia and Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited) until he resigned on 13
September 2022.
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Ms. Ho Yuk Wai, Joan

Aged 59, Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since appointment to the Board in November 2019. She is
a member of both the Board Audit and Risk Management
Committee and the Board Nomination Committee of the
Company.

Ms. Ho is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada. She is also a Chartered Financial Analyst
and a member of the CFA Institute. Ms. Ho graduated from
Queen’s University, Canada with a bachelor’s degree (with
honours) in Commerce.

Ms. Ho has over 30 years of experience in auditing and advisory
services. She was an audit partner of KPMG China financial
services group between 2000 and 2015 and was also in charge of
the firm’s internal audit, risk and compliance services for financial
institutions and the accounting advisory services. Ms. Ho has
extensive experience in capital market transactions and conducting
operational reviews of banks in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China.

Ms. Ho is currently an independent non-executive director of
several other companies.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) has
adopted a Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG Code”), based
on the principles as set out in Appendix C1 (the "HKEX Code”)
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”). The CG Code is reviewed from time to time
and updated as appropriate to align with the revised provisions
of the HKEX Code. Continuous efforts are made to review and
enhance the performance of the Board as well as the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, disclosure practices
and communication with investors and stakeholders in light of
changes in regulations and developments in best practices. To us,
maintaining high standards of corporate governance practices is
not just complying with the letter of the provisions but also the
intent of the regulations to enhance corporate performance and
accountability.

The Board is of the opinion that the Company has complied with
the applicable HKEX Code throughout the year ended 30 June
2024 and up to the date of this report.

A. CORPORATE VISION & PURPOSE,
VALUES, CULTURE AND
STRATEGY

1. Group Vision & Purpose

The Group’s vision is for its businesses to be long-
term competitive and sustainable enterprises; and in
doing so, create prime value and achieve long-term
sustainable growth for its shareholders.

The strategic intent is to transform the businesses
in the Group, to focus on core businesses, to build
brands and develop competencies. It would include
strategies and action plans to achieve sustainable
global competitiveness and to deliver consistent
compound annual growth in revenue, profits
and free cash flow. This is carried out through
integrating entrepreneurialism with professional
business management as well as strong discipline
and governance.

2. Group Values

Our Group values below underpin our culture and
serve as a compass in all we do.

MIE(EB)BRAR | 2=

TEERER

KRR EEE((EEE ) CRA—EUT B
BXSFERABD(EZRNES ETRAT L
mARR DG 2 RAN(BRFATA D BEz
EEERTA(REERTA ) - BEERTA
7% R EFR R R AEE B B T LUBR RS R OB R
FFARE— - AEETEHRERA 2 X2 R
EEFBRZBERTIKEHRINBESSHRE
URASENREREERARBERZRS KBS
RREREERSHENEE - HEMAMS - 4
FekBEZEEERERTNMERTSRIHR
o MeREREAINEY  EURATENRR
REEM o

EFERRBE_ZBNFAA=THLFER
BEAREEH  ARE-—EHBFBXAFH -

A EERERRRE - EE
B Xt REm

1. EKEEEKRRE

ARENERETEARRES
FARTHBBRODE | K
ARRAEBAME BEREH
TR o

AEBHEKEEZ2EEERE
B BEROER  BARER
BRSEESD  RRNSEXRER
TEIRTE  UBRTFENDIR
BEH O AHRBA - BREBE
HBRSHRERENEAEEY
R EERBRELCERGEE
EECETERBRRNLENS
EMmELT -

2. KEHEESR
EMRENEEBTERRMAL

EXENER  BRFAHEM—
DATEIIEREE ©

VY F F 7 33



A. CORPORATE VISION & PURPOSE,
VALUES, CULTURE AND
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STRATE GY (continued)

2. Group Values (continued) 2.

Honour
e

Human Resources
ADER

Entrepreneurship

TRERBRES

A. t¥BESENTE  EE
B EREE )

SEEES @)

To conduct business with honour
IPYEEF i3

To enhance the quality of human resources — as the essence of management

excellence

RAANDEREEFEASHEENEH

To pursue management vision and foster entrepreneurship

To provide products and services that consistently exceed customers’

To continuously improve existing operations and to position for expansion

To ensure oneness in purpose, harmony and friendship in the pursuit of

B BREEBSREBELERY
Innovation To nurture and be committed to innovation
RIET BB RB ORI
Quiality

expectations
Bx RE-—EBEHEFHENER KRR
Progress

and new business opportunities
pi¥id TERERBEERN R BIEARE RN ERIBIE I
Unity

prosperity for all
B4 BRAABE -3 FMBRFERELR

Social responsibility
HEEE RIER E AR S
Group Culture

Group culture serves as the basis of our business
operation. The Board plays a leading role in
shaping the corporate culture and reviews this
from time to time. With the Board's oversight, we
promote compliance and ethical behavior across
the Group, as well as strict adherence to the code
of conduct and corporate policies, together with a
whistleblowing framework.

Furthermore, the quality of our people forms the
bedrock of our business strategies. The Group
commits to create an inclusive workplace for our
employees which values open communication
to foster growth. Employees are encouraged to
collaborate towards shared objectives, seeking
win-win solutions and taking ownership of their
progress.
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A. CORPORATE VISION & PURPOSE,
VALUES, CULTURE AND
STRATEGY (continued)

A. t¥BESENTE  EE
B EREE )

Group Culture (continued)

Innovation, creativity, and dedication to continuous
improvement are vital qualities for a progressive
organization. Consequently, we expect all
businesses within the Group to be forward-thinking,
adaptable, and receptive to new technologies
amidst the evolving environment. It is through
transformation that the Group is able to achieve
sustainable global competitiveness and to deliver
consistent growth.

Group Strategy

With a strong heritage of value creation, the
Group’s entrepreneurial vision guides our operating
businesses to remain relevant, trustworthy,
competitive and sustainable in pursuit of growth
and the creation of prime value. We also seek to
advance our development through incorporating
digital technology as part of our Group’s business
strategy. With the growing importance of
environmental, social and governance ("ESG"),
we are also incorporating this in our business
operations and strategic decision-making to derive
sustainable solutions that benefit our stakeholders.
This is all underpinned by achieving a strong and
healthy financial position through strict adherence
to prudent financial disciplines that enhance the
resilience and sustainability of our businesses.
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In summary, taking into account the vision, values and
strategy of the Group, the Board considers that they are in
alignment with the Group’s culture.
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Role of the Board

The Board assumes responsibilities for directing the
Company and enhancing its value for shareholders
in accordance with good corporate governance
principles. The main role and responsibilities of the
Board broadly cover, among others, overseeing
the corporate mission, value, culture and broad
strategies; directing and evaluating the conduct and
performance of the Group’s businesses; identifying
principal risks and ensuring the implementation
of appropriate systems to manage these risks;
reviewing and approving key matters such as
financial results, investments and divestments and
other material transactions.

The Board recognises its corporate governance
duties as an ongoing commitment and has
monitored and reviewed the relevant CG Code,
policies, standards and practices of the Company on
corporate governance as well as legal and regulatory
compliance during the year. It has delegated relevant
aspects of the functions to the board committees
and management, where appropriate, to assist it
in discharging its duties. In addition, the Board
has reviewed the Company’s compliance with
the HKEX Code and disclosure in the corporate
governance report. Through the Board Nomination
Committee, the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management
was reviewed and monitored.

The Board has overall responsibility for the ESG
matters of the Group and is accountable for setting
forth the sustainability mission and related reporting
framework, and oversees significant policies which
guide the implementation of relevant ESG strategies
at the business group level. The Board Audit and
Risk Management Committee of the Company is
assigned to assist the Board in monitoring the ESG
reporting progress, reviewing the ESG report as well
as managing the related ESG risk and issues.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day
management and operation of the Group's
businesses to the management of the Company.
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Board Composition 2.

The Board during the year and up to the date of this
report comprised the following members:

Chairman
KWEK Leng Hai

Executive Director
CHIU Chao Hsiang, James — Chief Executive Officer o'
WONG Cho Fai — Group Managing Director/

Chief Executive Officer Note?2

Non-executive Directors
Christian K. NOTHHAFT Note 3
CHEW Seong Aun Mete4
WHANG Sun Tze

Independent Non-executive Directors
LO Kai Yiu, Anthony

Lester G. HUANG, SBS, JP

HO Yuk Wai, Joan

Notes:

1. Mr. CHIU Chao Hsiang, James was appointed as
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company with effect from 3 June 2024.

2. Mr. WONG Cho Fai has retired as Group Managing
Director/Chief Executive Officer and ceased to be
a member of the Board with effect from 18 April
2024.

3. Mr. Christian K. NOTHHAFT was appointed as a
Non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 18 April 2024.

4. Mr. CHEW Seong Aun has retired from his position
as a Non-executive Director of the Company with
effect from 15 May 2024.
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Board Composition (continued)

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the
Company (the "Articles of Association”) and the
CG Code, not less than one-third of the directors
shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting. The directors to retire in every
year shall be those who have been longest in office
since the last election but as between persons who
became directors on the same day shall (unless they
otherwise agree between themselves) be determined
by lot.

Non-executive directors are not appointed for a
specific term. They are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general
meetings pursuant to the Articles of Association and
the CG Code.

The Company received confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-
executive directors (“INEDs”) for the year pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board is of the
view that Messrs. LO Kai Yiu, Anthony, Lester G.
HUANG, SBS, JP and Ms. HO Yuk Wai, Joan remain
independent.

The family relationships among the Board members,
if any, are disclosed under “Board of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 28 to 32 of this
annual report.
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Chairman, Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer ("CEO")

Currently, Mr. KWEK Leng Hai is the Chairman of the
Company. The Chairman sets the vision and strategic
direction of the Group and leads the Board and
ensures its smooth and effective functioning.

Mr. CHIU Chao Hsiang, James is the Executive
Director and CEO of the Company and is responsible
for implementing policies and Board decisions,
initiating business ideas and corporate strategies,
setting the benchmark and targets for operating
companies, overseeing the day-to-day operations
and tracking compliance and business progress. The
roles of the Chairman and CEO are separate with
clear division of responsibilities.

Board Process

The Board meets regularly, at least four times a
year. Additional board meetings are held whenever
warranted. For the year ended 30 June 2024, a total
of four board meetings were held.

The directors are at liberty to propose matters as
appropriate to be included in the meeting agendas.
Board agenda items are reviewed by the Chairman
and/or CEO of the Company. Board papers are
circulated prior to board meetings on a timely
manner, which include, among others, financial and
corporate information, significant operational and
corporate issues and business performance of the
Group as well as material or notable transactions
which require the approval of the Board.

Where appropriate, decisions are also taken by
way of circulated resolutions with supporting
explanations and materials, supplemented by
additional verbal or written information from the
Company Secretary or other executives as and when
needed. Monthly updates on the Group’s business
are provided to the directors of the Company to
allow their assessment of the Group’s financial
performance and position.
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Board Process (continued) 4, ExgEF@E)
All directors have separate and independent access FEESUSERBMERS
to senior management and also have access to the EBEBAE  LAREARWE
advice and services of the Company Secretary and RABZEETNZS EMER » U
internal auditor, and upon reasonable request, RESEBERT  AREENE
independent professional advice in appropriate MERBUBEEZR  BAABAAK
circumstances at the Company's expense, if any. AEIRH(WE) -
Details of directors’ attendance at the board RAFE ESHFESSTERE
meetings and general meeting held during the year EREREZZHERFBOT :
are as follows:
Board General
Meeting Meeting
Number of Number of
Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
Meeting Held  Meeting Held
EZE8R BRRE
HERE HERE,
Name of Director EEHE HITEBRE HITEBNRH
Chairman: FE:
KWEK Leng Hai BDLE 4/4 171
Executive Directors: HITES:
CHIU Chao Hsiang, James REETE
- Chief Executive Officer Mote ) — 1T B8 i) 0/0 0/0
WONG Cho Fai =HE
- Group Managing Director/ —EEEEEEE S
Chief Executive Officer Moe?) 17 Be#8 & 2 33 17
Non-Executive Directors: FHTES !
Christian K. NOTHHAFT (ote3) Christian K. NOTHHAFT (Z#g{=) #&) 171 0/0
CHEW Seong Aun ®oete4) Bz i) 2/3 11
WHANG Sun Tze FEEE 3/4 I7Al
Independent Non-Executive BYFHTES
Directors:
LO Kai Yiu, Anthony ERUE 4/4 171
Lester G.HUANG, SBS, JP BRM REMNEE X FHL 4/4 7
HO Yuk Wai, Joan EE 4/4 1/1
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4.

Board Process (continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. CHIU Chao Hsiang (“Mr. Chiu”) was appointed
as an Executive Director and CEO of the Company
with effect from 3 June 2024. No board/general
meeting was held during the period from 3 June
2024 (date of appointment of Mr. Chiu) to 30 June
2024.

2. Mr. WONG Cho Fai (“Mr. Wong”) retired as the
Group Managing Director/CEO of the Company
with effect from 18 April 2024. Three board
meetings and one general meeting were held
during the period from 1 July 2023 to 18 April
2024 (date of retirement of Mr. Wong).

3. Mr. Christian K. NOTHHAFT (“Mr. Nothhaft) was
appointed as a Non-executive Director of the
Company with effect from 18 April 2024. One
board meeting and no general meeting was held
during the period from 18 April 2024 (date of
appointment of Mr. Nothhaft) to 30 June 2024.

4. Mr. CHEW Seong Aun (“Mr. Chew") retired as a
Non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 15 May 2024. Three board meetings and one
general meeting were held during the period from
1 July 2023 to 15 May 2024 (date of retirement of
Mr. Chew).

Board Independence

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Company has put in
place mechanisms within our governance framework
to ensure that independent views and input are
available to the Board.

During the year, the Board had reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the
mechanisms and is of the view that such
mechanisms are effective. The key mechanisms
under the Company’s governance framework are
summarised below:
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Board Independence (continued)

Composition of the Board and board
committees

The Board comprises more than one-third of
INEDs and the Board Audit and Risk Management
Committee and Board Remuneration Committee are
both chaired by INEDs.

The composition of the Board is reviewed by the
Board Nomination Committee annually to ensure
that the number of INEDs meets or exceeds the
independence requirements under the Listing Rules.

Directors’ responsibilities

As set out in the terms of reference of the Board, it
is the responsibility of the directors (including INEDs)
to make positive contribution to the development
of the Company’s strategy and policies through
independent, constructive and informed comments.
Directors with different views are encouraged
to voice their concerns so as to ensure that
independent views and input are available to the
Board.

The Chairman encourages a culture of openness and
debate by facilitating the effective contribution of
non-executive directors in particular and ensuring
constructive relations between executive and non-
executive directors.

Criteria to assess independence of INEDs on
appointment and re-election

The suitability of the candidates for appointment
and the directors subject to re-election as an INED
will be assessed based on the assessment criteria and
guidelines as set out in the Company’s Nomination
Policy, including among others, their independence
and potential/actual conflicts of interest that may
arise if the candidate is appointed/re-elected.
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5.

Board Independence (continued)
Annual review of independence of INEDs

Annual review of independence of INEDs is
conducted by the Board Nomination Committee
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

INED’s remuneration

None of the INEDs receive remuneration based on
performance of the Group.

Independent professional advice

External independent professional advice is
available to all directors, including INEDs, whenever
considered appropriate.

Meetings with INEDs

The Chairman at least annually meets with INEDs
without the presence of other directors to facilitate
INEDs to express their views.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company had adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as the code of conduct governing
directors’ securities transactions.

All directors during the year, following specific
enquiry by the Company, have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code throughout the year.
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Dividend Policy 7.

Pursuant to the HKEX Code, the Board has adopted
a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) which is set
out as follow:

o The Company intends to create long
term value for its shareholders through
maintaining a balance between dividend
distribution, preserving adequate liquidity
and reserve to meet its working capital
requirements, and capturing future growth
opportunities.

o Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the
Board may propose/declare the payment
of dividend(s) after taking into account
the current financial performance of the
Company, the future financial requirements
of the Company and any other factors the
Board may deem relevant.

o The Board may also decide on the frequency
of dividend payment and further declare/
recommend any special distributions.
Dividend(s) may be in the form of cash,
shares, distribution in-specie or any other
form as the Board may determine.

The Board may review the Dividend Policy from time
to time and update, amend, modify and/or cancel
the Dividend Policy at any time in the interest of the
Company and its shareholders.
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8.

Whistleblowing Policy

To foster a productive workforce and maintain high
standards of business ethics, we have established
a whistleblowing policy that outlines confidential
and anonymous channels for employees to voice
their concerns, including an explanation of how
records will be maintained and stored. The Group
is committed to high corporate governance and
probity standards as well as ethical and compliant
business practices, and encourages reporting of
concerns and actual or suspected misconduct,
malpractice or non-compliance by any staff and/or
external parties in any matter related to the Group.
A whistleblower will be protected from retaliation,
adverse employment action or legal action by the
Group where the report is made in good faith.

All information received shall be investigated by
Group Internal Audit or other relevant persons
instructed by senior management, with the findings
reported to senior management and the Board Audit
and Risk Management Committee of the Company.
Management may take disciplinary action against
any persons found to have committed misconduct,
malpractice or non-compliance, and the matter may
be reported and information provided to the police
or relevant authorities/governing or professional
bodies as the findings may call for.

Our whistleblowing channels are:

Email: whistleblowing@lamsoon.com

Letter: Group Internal Audit
Lam Soon Hong Kong Limited,
21 Dai Fu Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate,
Tai Po, New Territories, Hong Kong
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9.

10.

Anti-corruption Policy

Enforcing integrity and transparency across our
operations, through anti-corruption, business ethics
and stringent policies, are imperative in building
trust, creating a positive impact and being a good
corporate citizen. As we uphold our corporate
governance values, the Group acknowledges
the importance of anti-corrupt behaviours in
establishing itself as a sincere and reputed industry
player. Our contractors and suppliers will also be
required to sign as appropriate with us the anti-
corruption policy, to ensure they abide by the policy.

The Group also disseminates the staff handbook
and code of conduct to all employees. We are
dedicated to upholding integrity and honesty in all
our operations, and have adopted zero tolerance
towards fraud, corruption and unethical actions. The
Group has implemented policies on anti-corruption
and procedures concerning offering or accepting
gifts and gratuities, which require employees to
consider the appropriateness of the giving and
receiving of gifts and hospitality. All employees are
required to become acquainted with and to abide
by these policies and procedures. In addition, our
Group has in place training, management systems
and internal controls to prevent corruption from
occurring.

During the year, we were not aware of any material
non-compliance with laws and regulations regarding
anti-corruption.

Directors’ Continuous Training and
Development Programme

Pursuant to the HKEX Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the board
remains informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place training and
development programmes for directors which
includes (i) induction/familiarisation programme for
newly appointed directors; and (ii) on-going training
and professional development programme for
directors.

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2024
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10.

Directors’ Continuous Training and
Development Programme (continued)

Mr. CHIU Chao Hsiang, James, who was appointed
Executive Director and CEO of the Company with
effect from 3 June 2024 has attended a training
session conducted by an external legal advisor
from a firm of solicitors and obtained legal advice
pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 27
May 2024. He confirmed that he understood his
obligations as a director of the Company.

Mr. Christian K. NOTHHAFT, who was appointed
Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect
from 18 April 2024 has attended a training session
conducted by an external legal advisor from a firm
of solicitors and obtained legal advice pursuant to
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 8 April 2024. He
confirmed that he understood his obligations as a
director of the Company.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, all directors
namely, Messrs. KWEK Leng Hai, CHIU Chao Hsiang,
James (appointed on 3 June 2024), WONG Cho Fai
(retired on 18 April 2024), Christian K. NOTHHAFT
(appointed on 18 April 2024), CHEW Seong Aun
(retired on 15 May 2024), WHANG Sun Tze, LO
Kai Yiu, Anthony, Lester G. HUANG, SBS, JP and
Ms. HO Yuk Wai, Joan received regular briefings
and updates on the Group’s business, operations,
risk management, corporate governance and ESG
matters. Materials on new or changes to salient
laws and regulations applicable to the Group
were provided to the directors. They also attended
regulatory update sessions and seminars on relevant
topics. All directors are requested to provide the
Company with their respective training record
pursuant to the CG Code.
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1.

Board Remuneration Committee (“BRC")

The Company established the BRC on 1 July
2005 with specific written terms of reference in
accordance with the requirements of the Stock
Exchange which deal clearly with its authority and
duties.

The principal role and functions of the BRC are to
make recommendations to the Board on the policy
and structure for the remuneration of directors and
senior management, as well as to determine, with
delegated responsibility from the Board as described
under Code E.1.2(c) of the HKEX Code, the
individual remuneration packages of all executive
director and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payment,
which may include any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment.
It is also responsible to review and approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules. Detailed terms of reference of
the BRC is accessible on the Company’s website
at www.lamsoon.com and the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk.

During the year, the BRC comprised Messrs. Lester
G. HUANG, SBS, JP (Chairman of the BRC), KWEK
Leng Hai and LO Kai Yiu, Anthony. Messrs. Lester G.
HUANG, SBS, JP and LO Kai Yiu, Anthony are INEDs
of the Company whilst Mr. KWEK Leng Hai is the
Chairman of the Company.
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C. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

(continued)
1. Board Remuneration Committee (“BRC")
(continued)

Membership and attendance

During the year, three BRC meetings were held.
The individual attendance of each member are as

C. EZEFHFM =

1. EFEFMZEESE(FMESR

gl @)
HERHEE

RAFER  HBIT=ZXFHZ
B2 - EARREHEZBR

follows: HyWT :
Number of
Attendance/
Number of
Meeting Held
HERE,
Name of Director BEEHRZ BITEBREY
Mr. Lester G. HUANG, SBS, JP (Chairman) ERMASE  REFEE
KF#H+(EE) 3/3
Mr. KWEK Leng Hai L/ EE 3/3
Mr. LO Kai Yiu, Anthony ERUBREE 3/3
Work done during the year REEEFEZTHZTIE

reviewed and recommended directors’ fees
for non-executive directors for the financial
year 2022/2023;

reviewed and approved the discretionary
bonuses for executive director and senior
management for the financial year
2022/2023;

reviewed and approved the remuneration
packages of executive director and senior
management for the calender year 2024;

reviewed and approved the remuneration
package of the Executive Director and CEO of
the Company appointed during the year;

reviewed the Employee’s Share Option
Scheme related matters;
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(continued)

Board Remuneration Committee (“BRC")
(continued)

Work done during the year (continued)

- reviewed the terms of reference of the BRC;

- reviewed and updated the remuneration
policy for directors and senior management;
and

- deliberated the statement relating to the BRC
for inclusion in the Corporate Governance
Report.

Level and Make-up of Remuneration

The Group's remuneration policy for executive
director and senior management is linked to
performance, service seniority, experience and scope
of responsibility and is based on the provisions in
the Group’s Human Resources Manual, which is
reviewed from time to time to align with market/
industry practices.

The level of remuneration of non-executive directors
reflects the level of responsibilities undertaken by
them. The fees of directors, including non-executive
directors, are recommended and endorsed by the
Board for shareholders’ approval at the Company’s
annual general meetings. Details of directors’
remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2024 are
provided in note 9 to the Financial Statements in this
annual report.
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1.

D. EEZIRA

Board Nomination Committee (“BNC") 1. E=gREZEE(REBZE
21
The Company established the BNC on 1 April APAR-E——FWA—HH
2012 with specific written terms of reference in VIRBEEER - IRBREEERE
accordance with the requirement of the Stock THEBRXFRE BB EEBE
Exchange which deal clearly with its authority and gE > ERTHEEIREE -
duties.
The principal role and functions of the BNC is REZEENTIEBERNES
to make recommendations to the Board on the o8B BEERARODEES
structure, size and composition of the Board, to EHIEERESE  UREARDTWN
complement the Company’s corporate strategy, to K URBMB LT
review the independence of INEDs, the suitability EEEBEM EZEEERLEE
of directors who will stand for re-election and RAEBREBHESEIR
directors’ continuous training and development REER -HITE  BIKER
programme, to formulate, review and implement FRESRERX(BRREERE
a policy for the nomination of directors (including F) UK EEBEESEZ T
nomination procedures) and to formulate a E2BR  EBZBERZERK
policy concerning board diversity, monitor the MAZEER(MER) - IRBEE
implementation of such policy and to review the SRESE HEBRAQTEIL
same, as appropriate. Detailed terms of reference www.lamsoon.com % & 33 fit 48 ik
of the BNC is accessible on the Company’s website www.hkexnews hk AT 2 o
at www.lamsoon.com and the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk.
The BNC comprised Messrs. KWEK Leng Hai REZEEHHTBEEREE
(Chairman of the BNC), LO Kai Yiu, Anthony, and EBEXEE) BERBEERME
Ms. HO Yuk Wai, Joan. Mr. LO Kai Yiu, Anthony and EL+HARc BERBAERME
Ms. HO Yuk Wai, Joan are INEDs of the Company BB RARBILIEHTE
whilst Mr. KWEK Leng Hai is the Chairman of the T MALHELENAEERQATE
Company. & o
Membership and attendance HKERHEE
During the year, two BNC meetings were held. The REAFEER  HETMARIERE
individual attendance of each member is as follows: EE2e% HAREHEZBR
HHWT
Number of
Attendance/
Number of
Meeting Held
HERE
Name of Director BEEER BIEBERHY
Mr. KWEK Leng Hai (Chairman) L BRE(EE) 2/2
Mr. LO Kai Yiu, Anthony ERREE 2/2
Ms. HO Yuk Wai, Joan MEEL+ 2/2
HIBE(EB)ARAA | 2T ZWFF W 51
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(continued)

1. Board Nomination Committee (“BNC")
(continued)

Work done during the year

assessed the suitability of 1) a candidate
for appointment as executive director and
CEO of the Company and 2) a candidate
for appointment as a non-executive director
of the Company pursuant to the process
and criteria as set out in the Company’s
nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”);

reviewed the structure, size, composition,
diversity and gender of the Board (including
the mix of skills, knowledge, experience,
competences of directors, and the balance
between executive directors, non-executive
directors and INEDs) annually and for
proposed changes of board composition;

reviewed and accessed the independence of
INEDs of the Company;

reviewed and assessed the suitability of
the directors who stood for re-election at
the annual general meeting pursuant to
the process and criteria as set out in the
Nomination Policy;

reviewed the continuous training and
development programmes undertaken by
directors to ensure that an appropriate
program is in place;

reviewed the terms of reference of the BNC,
the Company’s board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and the Nomination
Policy; and

deliberated the statement relating to the BNC
for inclusion in the Corporate Governance
Report.
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(continued)

2.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity
Policy. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance. The Company maintains that
selection of candidates for Board appointments
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service
and the ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board. The BNC reviews the Board Diversity
Policy annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.

Assessment and selection of candidates for Board
succession will be made pursuant to the objectives
of the Board Diversity Policy. While conscious
efforts are being taken to achieve board diversity,
new appointments are ultimately made on a merit
basis taking into account available and suitable
candidates. With a view to achieving a sustainable
and balanced development, the BNC reviews
annually the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board and the Board confirms that
its composition complies with the Listing Rules and
reflects an appropriate mix of education disciplines,
professional experiences and skill set.
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2.

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

The Board is currently diversified in terms of cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The directors possess various skills and professional
experience ranged from, amongst others, finance,
accounting, legal, business management & advisory,
people management and merger & acquisition.
During the year, Mr. CHIU Chao Hsiang, James,
who was appointed Executive Director and CEO
of the Company and Mr. Christian K. NOTHHAFT,
who was appointed Non-executive Director of the
Company, enhanced board diversity by bringing in
new knowledge to the Board with their professional
experience in food and beverage, nutritional and
healthcare products, sales and distribution, retail &
consumer products, network rollouts, e-commerce
and digital transformation, etc. The extensive
education background and professional experience
of the Board facilitates effective decision-making
process with each director provides constructive
advice and contribution to the Board. For further
biographical details of the members of the Board,
please refer to “Board of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

As at the date of the annual report, the Board
consists of one female member and six male
members. Biographical details of the current
Directors are set out in the section of “Board of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report. The BNC considered that the Board is
sufficiently diverse in terms of gender and it is not
necessary to set numerical target and timeline for
board gender diversity for the time being.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had a total of
1,631 employees, the ratio of male and female
in the workforce (including senior management)
is approximately 59% and 41% respectively. The
Board is of the view that appropriate balance of
gender diversity of workforce is achieved taking
into account the business sectors and operational
needs of the Group. The Company will continue
to take gender diversity into consideration during
recruitment process.
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(continued)

3.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the Nomination Policy which
serves as a guiding mechanism and framework
for the BNC on the process for new appointments
of directors, Group Managing Director and CEO
and board committee members as well as the re-
appointment and assessment of directors.

Under the Nomination Policy, the BNC will assess
potential candidates based on various assessment
criteria, including the candidate’s age, skills,
knowledge, experience, expertise, professional
and educational qualifications, etc., potential/
actual conflicts of interest with the Group and time
commitments as well as the overall desired Board
composition and the mix of expertise and experience
of the Board as a whole. In case of appointment and
re-appointment of INEDs, the BNC will also assess
the independence of the candidates pursuant to
the criteria set out in the Listing Rules. The BNC will
make recommendations to the Board in respect of
the appointment and re-election.

The BNC reviews annually the Nomination Policy
to ensure its effectiveness and application and will
update, amend and modify as appropriate to ensure
it continues to be relevant to needs of the Company
and is consistent with regulatory and corporate
governance requirements.

The Nomination Policy is accessible on the
Company's website at www.lamsoon.com.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Board Audit and Risk Management
Committee (“"BARMC")

The Company established the Board Audit
Committee on 29 December 1998 with specific
written terms of reference in accordance with the
requirements of the Stock Exchange which deal
clearly with its authority and duties. On 17 February
2016, the Board has resolved to rename the
Committee as Board Audit and Risk Management
Committee.

The BARMC oversees the financial reporting
process, assesses the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Company’s financial reporting, risk
management and internal control systems, oversees
the Company’s ESG matters including, among
others, monitoring the ESG reporting progress
and reviewing the ESG report as well as the ESG-
related risks and issues. The BARMC meets with
the Company’s external and internal auditors,
and reviews their audit plans, the internal audit
programmes, and the results of their examinations
as well as their evaluations of the risk management
and internal control systems. It also reviews
directors’ interests in contracts and connected
transactions. The BARMC reviews the Group’s
and the Company’s financial statements and the
auditors’ report thereon and submits its views
to the Board. Detailed terms of reference of the
BARMC are accessible on the Company’s website
at www.lamsoon.com and the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk.

During the year, the BARMC comprised Messrs. LO
Kai Yiu, Anthony (Chairman of the BARMC), Lester
G. HUANG, SBS, JP and Ms. HO Yuk Wai, Joan.
Messrs. LO Kai Yiu, Anthony, Lester G. HUANG,
SBS, JP and Ms. HO Yuk Wai, Joan are INEDs of the
Company.

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2024

E.

EIEREINE: L7

ESEENREREEEZESS
((EEKkERERESE )

KAAR—NAANEFE+ZRA
TTNABRUEESEREE
g2 UREFEBIAREZA
REmMBESE  EPTHERE
HEBE R=-ZZT—XEZA
tTtH EEERFLEEEZ
EWEH G ERESTSELRA
MEBEZER -

ERNAMETELZE SRR
MERFURFEARDT 20T
EREMRTERABERRER
BREFEEREN  EEALT
ZIRE HEREREE HAP
BREEEBRE HEREARCE
WMEE BHRE  HERER
REEURRE  HERERME
BRRNERT -BEXREARE
BEZESERA QAT ZIEZE
R AEBZEE - AFBFESE
BERAR  APEREER - #HE
ERZERURFSHEARSE
RASMEZEARG 2TE - B
EREEZESETEHESTNE
ERBERSZ2ANZBR - X
rEABREEZEEEHNAKEER
AAT 2 R TR UK EE 2%
HEREE YRAEETFER
ER -ERREBEEZES
BEGZE2FBERALTRIE
www.lamsoon.com K% 7 32 fT 489 uh
www.hkexnews.hk AT &R o

RAFER  BRREREERR
EEREMBRLL (ERRERE
BREGXR) EREMELE R
EHEE AFHLIRMAES
THAK - BRUBEE - ERAME
4 IREHAEE XA FHLRM
FE2ELTHRADRE AT
-


http://www.lamsoon.com
http://www.hkexnews.hk

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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E. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT E.

(continued)

1. Board Audit and Risk Management 1.

Committee ("BARMC") (continued)

Membership and attendance

During the year, five BARMC meetings were held.
The individual attendance of each member are as

BEMREZ @

ESEENREREEEZSS
(TEEREABEEZES])

(#)

HEHEE

RAFER  HBTRREER
EREERZEEEE - @EHMKE

follows: HEZERETOT
Number of
Attendance/
Number of
Meeting Held
HERE
Name of Director EENA BITERNRE
Mr. LO Kai Yiu, Anthony (Chairman) ERBREE (FE) 5/5
Mr. Lester G. HUANG, SBS, JP BRMALE  REFNEE K FHL 5/5
Ms. HO Yuk Wai, Joan MEEL+ 5/5

The Group Managing Director/CEO, Group Financial
Controller and Head of Internal Audit are regular
attendees of the BARMC meetings. Representatives
of the external auditor are invited to attend the
BARMC meetings to present their audit plan,
significant audit and accounting matters which they
noted in the course of their audit.

Work done during the year:

- reviewed the fees charged by external auditor
for audit and non-audit services;

- reviewed the nature and scope of external
audit, the independence of external auditor
and effectiveness of the audit process and
approved the external audit fee and the
engagement terms;

- reviewed the interim financial report, the

interim results announcement, the annual
accounts and the final results announcement;
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(continued)

1. Board Audit and Risk Management
Committee ("BARMC") (continued)

Work done during the year: (continued)

reviewed the external auditor's management
letter, any material queries raised by the
auditor to management about accounting
records, financial accounts or systems of
control, as well as management’s response
thereto;

reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting
functions, as well as those relating to the
Company’s ESG performance and reporting;

reviewed the Group’s accounting policies and
practices;

reviewed and approved the annual internal
audit plan;

reviewed major findings of internal
audit assignments and the progress of
implementation of remedial measures on
control issues identified;

reviewed the nature and scope of services of
the non-assurance services provided by the
external auditor to the Group;

reviewed the draft policy on non-assurance
services;

reviewed the effectiveness of the processes
for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance of the Company;

reviewed and discussed with the
management the effectiveness of the risk
management, including among others,
material ESG and climate risks, and internal
control system;
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ERELRWES

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(continued)

Board Audit and Risk Management
Committee ("BARMC") (continued)

Work done during the year: (continued)

- reviewed connected transactions entered into

by the Group or subsisting during the year;

- reviewed the terms of reference of the

BARMC; and

- deliberated the statement relating to the

BARMC for inclusion in the Corporate
Governance Report.

Financial Reporting

The Listing Rules require listed companies to prepare
annual financial statements which shall provide
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
companies and of the results of their operations and
cash flows.

The Board is responsible for ensuring the
maintenance of proper accounting records of the
Group. It has also acknowledged its responsibility for
preparing the financial statements.

The Board approves the financial statements after
taking into account the BARMC's comments on
specific accounting matters.

The Board is satisfied that appropriate accounting
policies have been used in preparing the financial
statements, consistently applied and complied with
the relevant accounting standards.

The statement of the external auditors of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities is
included in the Independent Auditors’ Report on
pages 83 to 92 of this annual report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(continued)

3. Risk Management and Internal Control

The risk management and internal control system is
designed to facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency
of operations, safeguard assets against unauthorised
use and disposition, ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records and the truth and fairness
of the financial statements, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. It provides
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and manages rather
than eliminates risks associated with its business

activities.

The Board, recognising its responsibilities in ensuring
sound risk management and internal controls, has
developed a set of Enterprise Risk Management
framework (“ERM framework”) for the Group and
set forth in its policy and procedures to assist in:

- identifying the enterprise risks faced by
the Group in the operating environment as
well as evaluating the impact of such risks

identified;

- developing the necessary measures for

managing these risks; and

- monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness

and adequacy of such measures.

The ERM framework consists of interactive processes
for each of our business units to constantly identify
and assess risks in terms of their potential impact
and probability of occurrence, as well as to establish
and implement relevant procedures and internal
controls for risk mitigation, ongoing monitoring
and periodic reporting by management to ensure
that residual risks after taking into account risk
mitigating measures fall within the risk appetite and

tolerance set by the Board.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(continued)

3. Risk Management and Internal Control

(continued)

The Board has entrusted the BARMC with the
responsibility to oversee the implementation of the
ERM framework of the Group. In discharging this
responsibility, the BARMC, assisted by the Group
Internal Audit Department (“GIAD"):

- ensures that new and emerging enterprise
risks are promptly identified by management;

- assesses the adequacy of action plans and
control systems developed to manage these
risks;

- monitors the implementation of the action
plans and the effectiveness and adequacy of
the control systems; and

- ensures the Group’s risk register is up-to-
date and risk profile reports are furnished by
management to the BARMC review.

These on-going processes have been in place, and
reviewed periodically by the BARMC to ensure
their effectiveness, supplemented by other reports
from GIAD on the Group’s internal control and risk
management findings.

The controls built into the risk management
framework are intended to manage and not
expected to eliminate all risks of failure to achieve
business objectives. These controls provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement of management and financial
information or against financial losses and fraud.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

(continued)

3. Risk Management and Internal Control
(continued)

The Board, through the BARMC, has conducted
an annual review on the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 30
June 2024 and considers that it is adequate and
effective, covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls.
The resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, as well as those relating to the Company’s
ESG performance and reporting has been reviewed
and confirmed adequate. The extent and frequency
of communication of the monitoring results to the
BARMC and the Board have also been reviewed and
considered sufficient. The Board is satisfied that the
Group has fully complied with the provisions on risk
management and internal controls as set out in the

CG Code.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside
Information

The Company has established and implemented
relevant procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information,
including restricting employee access to inside
information on a need-to-know basis and ensuring
that those who need to know understand the
obligation of keeping the information confidential
and refrain in dealing in the relevant securities. All
inside information is disclosed to the public if and
when required pursuant to the requirements under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Listing
Rules and kept strictly confidential before disclosure.

4, Auditors’ Remuneration and Auditor
Related Matters

The fees charged by the Group’s external auditors
for the year in respect of annual audit services
amounted to HK$2,191,000 and those in respect of
non-audit services (tax and other services) amounted

to HK$379,000.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders

The Company encourages two-way communication
with both its institutional and private investors.
Extensive information about the Group’s activities is
provided in the interim and annual reports which are
distributed to shareholders of the Company.

The annual general meeting of the Company
provides an opportunity for its shareholders to seek
clarification and to obtain a better understanding
of the Group’s performance. Board members and
representatives from the external auditor will attend
the annual general meetings to answer shareholders’
questions. Shareholders are encouraged to meet and
communicate with the Board at the annual general
meetings and to vote on all resolutions.

In order to promote effective communication, the
Company maintains a website at www.lamsoon.com
to provide:

° latest news, announcements, financials
including interim and annual reports;

° other corporate communication materials,
e.g. notices of meetings, circulars, proxy
forms, etc.;

o details of the arrangements on dissemination

of corporate communications of the
Company and for requesting printed copies
of corporate communications;

o corporate calendar for important
shareholders’ dates for current financial year,

o constitutional documents of the Company;

° corporate governance information including
composition and terms of reference of board
committees, corporate governance reports
and various governance policies adopted by
the Company,

o ESG reports and highlights of the Company’s
ESG practices and efforts; and

o other information relating to the Group and
its businesses.
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|NVESTOR RE LAT' O N S (continued)

Communication with Shareholders
(continued)

Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to
the business of the Group are welcome and are
dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
Shareholders can make any query in respect of
the Group or to make a request for the Group’s
information to the extent such information is
publicly available. The designated contact details are
as follows:

By Post:  Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited
21 Dai Fu Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate,
Tai Po, New Territorities, Hong Kong

By Email: comsec@lamsoon.com

Shareholders’ questions about their shareholdings
are dealt with by Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, the Company’s share
registrar and transfer office, at Shops 1712-16, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company has in place a shareholder
communication policy which sets out the provisions
to ensure that the Company’s shareholders are
provided with access to material information about
the Company in a timely manner. The Board has
conducted a review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholder communication
policy during the year ended 30 June 2024
and, having considered the various channels of
communication in place, was satisfied that the
implementation of the policy was effective.
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SREARE

|NVESTOR RE LAT' O N S (continued)

2.

Shareholders’ Rights

The Company has only one class of shares, all shares
have the same voting rights and are entitled to the
dividends declared.

(a)  Rights and procedures for shareholders
to convene extraordinary general
meetings ("EGM")

Subject to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the directors shall on the requisition
of shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)”) representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights of all the shareholder(s)
having a right to vote at general meetings
of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to
convene an EGM of the Company.

The requests must state the general nature of
the business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may include the text of a resolution that
may properly be moved and is/are intended to
be moved at the meeting. The request must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company for
the attention of the Company Secretary in
hard copy form.

(b)  Rights and procedures for shareholders
to make proposals at general meetings

(i) Rights and procedures for a
shareholder to propose a person for
election as a director are as follows:

Pursuant to Article 86 of the
Company’s Articles of Association,
shareholder(s) may send a notice in
writing of the intention to propose
a person for election as a director
and notice in writing by that person
of his willingness to be elected shall
have been delivered to the Company's
registered office provided that the
minimum length of the period during
which such notices are given, shall be
at least seven days and that the period
for lodgement of the notices shall
commence no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the
meeting appointed for such election
and end no later than seven days prior
to the date of such meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued) F. BREEBEZR@
2.  Shareholders’ Rights (continued) 2. IRERBER (&)

(b)  Rights and procedures for shareholders
to make proposals at general meetings
(continued)

(ii) Rights and procedures for proposing
resolution to be put forward at a
general meeting are as follows:

Shareholder(s) can submit a written
requisition to move a resolution at an
annual general meeting (“AGM") if
they:

- represent at least 2.5% of
the total voting rights of all
shareholders who have a right
to vote on the resolution at the
AGM; or

- at least 50 shareholders who
have a right to vote on the
resolution at the AGM.

3. Constitutional Documents 3.

There was no change in the Articles of Association of
the Company during the year ended 30 June 2024,
and such document was published on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHREE

The directors submit their annual report together with the
audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2024.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out on pages 201 to 203.

Principal Subsidiaries

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out on
pages 201 to 203.

Business Review

The business review of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement, Review of Operations
and Environmental, Social and Governance Report of this annual
report.

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year, the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at 30 June 2024 and the Group’s
cash flows and statement of changes in equity for the year ended
are set out in the financial statements on pages 93 to 200.

Dividends

The directors are recommending to the shareholders for approval
at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on Friday,
8 November 2024 a final dividend of HK$0.27 per share totaling
approximately HK$65,706,000. This, together with the interim
dividend of HK$0.13 per share paid on Wednesday, 20 March
2024, will amount to a total dividend of HK$0.40 per share for
the year (2023: interim dividend of HK$0.10 and final dividend of
HK$0.20 per share). Subject to shareholders’ approval, the final
dividend will be payable on Tuesday, 3 December 2024 to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members on
Monday, 18 November 2024.
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Closure of Register of Members

For ascertaining shareholders’ right to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting:

Closure dates of Register of Members
(both days inclusive)

5 November 2024 (Tuesday)
to 8 November 2024 (Friday)
Latest time to lodge transfers 4:30 p.m. on
4 November 2024 (Monday)
Record date 8 November 2024 (Friday)

Annual General Meeting 8 November 2024 (Friday)

For ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final
dividend*:

Closure dates of Register of Members 18 November 2024 (Monday)

Latest time to lodge transfers 4:30 p.m. on
15 November 2024 (Friday)
Record date 18 November 2024 (Monday)

Proposed final dividend payment date 3 December 2024 (Tuesday)

(*subject to shareholders’ approval at the annual general meeting)

During the periods of the closure of Register of Members, no
share transfers will be registered. For registration, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrars and Transfer
Office — Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong before the relevant latest time to lodge
transfers.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in Note 22 to the financial statements.

Equity-Linked Agreements

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
ended 30 June 2024.
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Directors
The directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

KWEK Leng Hai, Chairman”

CHIU Chao Hsiang, James, Chief Executive Officer™
— appointed on 3 June 2024

Christian K. NOTHHAFT”
— appointed on 18 April 2024

WHANG Sun Tze"

LO Kai Yiu, Anthony*

Lester G. HUANG, SBS, JP!

HO Yuk Wai, Joan*

WONG Cho Fai, Group Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer**
— retired on 18 April 2024

CHEW Seong Aun*
— retired on 15 May 2024

* Non-executive director
** Executive director
iz Independent non-executive director

In accordance with Article 89 of the Company’s Articles of
Association and standards 4(2) as set out in Core Shareholder
Protection Standards of Appendix A1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Listing Rules”), Mr. CHIU Chao Hsiang, James and Mr.
Christian K. NOTHHAFT shall hold office until the forthcoming
annual general meeting (the “AGM"”) and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

In accordance with Article 84 of the Company’s Articles of
Association and Code B.2.2 of the CG Code, Mr. LO Kai Yiu,
Anthony and Dr. WHANG Sun Tze shall retire from office by
rotation at the AGM. Dr. WHANG Sun Tsz, being eligible, will offer
himself for re-election at the AGM.

Mr. LO Kai Yiu, Anthony has indicated his intention of retirement
and not to offer himself for re-election at the AGM.

Directors of Subsidiaries

The names of all directors who have served on the boards of
the subsidiaries of the Company during the financial year ended
30 June 2024 or during the period from 1 July 2024 up to
the date of this report is available on the Company’s website
(http://www.lamsoon.com).
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Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangement or Contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the Company
or an entity connected with a director had a material interest,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Permitted Indemnity

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every director
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office
or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company maintains directors
and officers liability insurance, which gives appropriate cover for
any legal action brought against its directors. The level of the
coverage is reviewed annually.

INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Continuing Connected Transactions
Master Services Agreement

A master services agreement (the ‘“Master Services Agreement’’)
dated 30 June 2023 was entered into by Lam Soon (Hong Kong)
Limited (the ""Company’’, together with its subsidiaries, the
""Group’’) with GuolLine Group Management Company Pte.
Ltd. ("GGMC", a wholly-owned subsidiary of Guoline Capital
Assets Limited (“GCAL")), the ultimate holding company and
a substantial shareholder of the Company) for the provision
by the latter of management services including, among other
things, overview and/or oversight of businesses and operations,
investment management and financial management disciplines,
treasury and risk management, key managerial recruitment and
retention as well as other operating practices and procedures,
accounting, corporate advisory, legal, company secretarial and
other services (the “Services”).
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INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)
Master Services Agreement (continued)

(GGMC or other Hong Leong Group company(ies) as may be
agreed by the parties from time to time are referred to as “Service
Provider”; the Company and its subsidiaries are referred to as
“Service Recipients”).

The Master Services Agreement is for a term of three financial
years from 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2026.

The fee payable under the Master Service Agreement comprise:

1. a monthly fee (the “Monthly Fee”) as agreed from time
to time between such Service Recipient and the Service
Provider and is currently agreed to be approximately
HK$100,000 per month; and

2. an annual fee (the “Annual Fee”) equal to 3% of the annual
profit before tax of such Service Recipient as shown in its
audited profit and loss account for the relevant financial
year, subject to appropriate adjustment (for example, to
avoid double counting of profit, if any).

The yearly total fees, being the sum of the Monthly Fee, the
Annual Fee and the total amounts of any fees paid or payable by
the Group to any Hong Leong Group companies for services of a
similar nature as the Services, are subject to annual cap of HK$28
million (the “Annual Cap”) for each of the three financial years
ending 30 June 2026.
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INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)
Master Services Agreement (continued)

GGMC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of GCAL, the ultimate
holding company and a substantial shareholder of the Company,
and thus GGMC was an associate of a connected person of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Mr. Quek Leng
Chan, being a controlling shareholder of GCAL and Hong Leong
Company (Malaysia) Berhad (“HLCM?"), is regarded as a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Subsidiaries under HLCM and GCAL
which may become Service Providers under the Master Services
Agreement are regarded as associates of connected persons
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
transactions contemplated under the Master Services Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the relevant disclosure
requirements have been complied with.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company had
reviewed the transactions under the Master Services Agreement
during the year and confirmed that:

(1 the transactions under the Master Services Agreement for
the year was entered into:

- in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

- on normal commercial terms or better; and

- according to the agreement governing them and
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

(2) the aggregate services fees paid and payable by the
Group under the Master Services Agreement for the year
amounted to approximately HK$8,625,000 which did not
exceed the Annual Cap of HK$28 million as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2023.
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INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)
Auditor’s Review

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions regarding the Master Services Agreement
mentioned above in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The Company’s auditor has issued an unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed above in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other transactions of
the Company which require disclosure in the annual report in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

Management Contracts

Except for the Master Services Agreement disclosed in the section
of “Interests in Contracts and Connected Transactions” above, no
contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or subsisted during the year.

Directors’ Interests in Competing
Business

None of the directors is interested in any business apart from the
Group’s business, which is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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Directors’ Interests in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 30 June 2024, the directors of the Company have the
following interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code") set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules:

EERKRND - HERORE
ZZEm

RZZFZOFEAA=1H  FESERAQXFH
HEMAEBEE (ERXRBSRPERG([EH
REBEHRG DEXVR) BEARBESZRHE
RPIEIS2FRBEMR BT B P AE 2R
DREBARAPZLXRRN - HERORES
ZREmRRE EHRRAMERCIHMEz EH AT
ESETRFRINRETR(HRETFA DA
HEARBRABRAZERNT ¢

(A) The Company (A) A&2AF
Long positions in shares/underlying shares BR&GIHEBRGZIFE
Approximate
percentage of
total number of
Number ordinary shares
of shares/ of the Company
underlying in issue
Nature of shares held HARATEET
Name of director interest BEERG Total TEREH
BEEHA ERHE HERGEE #st BABEDL
KWEK Leng Hai Personal 2,300,000 2,300,000 0.95%
LIy = @A
WHANG Sun Tze Personal 27,523,743
ELHE BA
Corporate 19,326 Note 1 27,543,069 11.32%
NG il
LO Kai Yiu, Anthony Personal 200,000 200,000 0.08%
FERUE &8 A
Lester G. HUANG Family 150,000 150,000 0.06%
Note: Kzt :
1. The interests disclosed represent the corporate interests 1. FiHEcEERRELEELER

of Dr. WHANG Sun Tze in 18,457 ordinary shares and 869
ordinary shares in the Company held by SGR Investment
Company, Limited (“SGR") and T.C. Whang & Company
(Private) Limited (“T.C. & Co.") respectively. Dr. WHANG
Sun Tze holds 95.41% and 59.52% interests in SGR and
T.C. & Co. respectively.

SGR Investment Company, Limited
(TSGR B T.C. Whang & Company
(Private) Limited([T.C. & Co.1) %5l
BERDQT 18457 RSB K S69MK
EERe L AAER ELEBELE
SGRKT.C. & Co.Z RlI#FHI5.41% K
59.52% Z B0 fEzm o

74 Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2024



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHREE

EERRG - HERORE
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Directors’ Interests in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

(continued)

(B) Associated corporations (B) HHESEE
Long positions in shares/underlying shares B HEBRG A
Approximate
percentage of
total number of
Number of ordinary shares
shares/ of associated
underlying corporation in issue
Name of associated Nature of shares held HEBEEERT
corporation Name of director interest BERG Total ZEREZZ
¥ LEERE ExEpg EEtE HERDEH A FoH BRED
Guoline Capital Assets Limited ~ KWEK Leng Hai Personal 841,000 841,000 2.62%
BLE BA
Guoco Group Limited KWEK Leng Hai Personal 3,800,775 3,800,775 1.16%
BEEEERAHE BLE BA
Guocoland Limited KWEK Leng Hai Personal 35,290,914 35,290,914 2.98%
BEEEHEBRAT BLE BA
WHANG Sun Tze Family 66,600 66,600 0.01%
BLE Rk
Guocoland (Malaysia) Berhad KWEK Leng Hai Personal 226,800 226,800 0.03%
BLE BA
The Rank Group Plc KWEK Leng Hai Personal 1,026,209 1,026,209 0.26%
BLE A
Save as disclosed herein, none of the directors of the BRAX IR EE I » MEA AR QRE
Company had any interests or short positions in any shares, ERADTHE TR EE (RIEFE
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any ERHEKRAEXNVRZESR)EEEAR
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part BHREFRAERAIEI2FRREMZZ
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be ZREMPFE 2RO EER AT 2
kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified RERG  HERMRESFRREBESE
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the FAIBEMNERQATRBRATZER o
Model Code.
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Share Options

Executive Share Option Scheme 2013 (the “ESOS
2013")

The ESOS 2013 was approved by the shareholders of the Company
at the extraordinary general meeting held on 23 April 2013 and
took effect on 25 April 2013 (“Adoption Date”). Summary of
details of the ESOS 2013 is set out below:

The purpose of the ESOS 2013 is as follows:

(i) to align the long term interests of any executive or director
of the Group, who is eligible to participate in the ESOS
2013 (“Eligible Executives”) with those of the Shareholders
and encourage Eligible Executives to assume greater
responsibility for the performance of the business that they
manage;

(ii) to motivate Eligible Executives towards strategic business
objectives;

(iii) to reward Eligible Executives with an equity stake in the
success of the Group; and

(iv)  to make the total compensation package more competitive
in order to attract, retain and motivate high caliber
executives.

To be eligible for participation in the ESOS 2013, a person must be
at least eighteen (18) years of age and:

(i) be an executive of a member of the Group and has been
confirmed in service; or

(i) be a director of member of the Group.

The Board may at its absolute discretion select and identify suitable
Eligible Executives to be offered options.

The total number of shares which may be issued and/or transferred
by the Trust upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the ESOS 2013 and any other share option scheme shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the Company’s total number of shares
in issue at the Adoption Date of the ESOS 2013, i.e. 24,335,416.
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Share O ptions (continued)

Executive Share Option Scheme 2013 (the “"ESOS
2013") (continued)

The maximum entitlement for any eligible executive in respect of
the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
options granted and to be granted in any 12 months period does
not exceed 1% of the Company’s total number of shares in issue.

The Board may at its discretion determine the exercise price of an
option under the ESOS 2013 provided that the exercise price so
fixed shall not be less than greatest of (a) the average closing price
of a share as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the day of offer of such option; (b) the closing price of a share as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the day
of offer of such option, which must be a business day; and (c) the
nominal value of a share ™,

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the share option within 30 days (or such longer period of time as
may be permitted by the Board at its discretion) from the date of
making such offer.

The ESOS 2013 expired on 24 April 2023 (the “Expiry Date”) and
no option has been granted under the ESOS 2013 after the Expiry
Date. Share options granted under the ESOS 2013 shall continue
to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the rules of the
ESOS 2013.

Note:

The concept of par value of a share was abolished with effect from 3 March
2014 pursuant to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Share Options (continued)

Executive Share Option Scheme 2013 (the “"ESOS

2013") (continued)

As at 1 July 2023, there were 6,700,000 outstanding shares

options pursuant to the ESOS 2013.

During the year, 2,500,000 share options granted to the then
Group Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer were lapsed
pursuant to the ESOS 2013. Details of the share options as at 30

June 2024 are as follows:

R DB »)

20131THHAERHDAEESTE([2013K
RRBRETE ) (&)

HE-E—-=

FEtA—H RE2013BHRE

FEST 212 56,700,00017 18 K 1T 2 B 0 3R 88

FE o

B RODBEZFBOT :

Number of share options

RAEER - RE2013KR 0 DEE 2
2,500,000 R ABERTFTERESAL
B/ THARCAN -R-ZST-WEAA=1+

KRB EHE
Exercised/
Lapsed/
As at cancelled Exercise
1 July Granted during Asat  price per
2023 during the year 30 June share
Bz theyear  REAEER 2024 BRTHEE
Date of grant Grantees —B-=& RAFER T6/4%/ R-Z-m% HK$ Notes
R AH ERA tA-8 & BE  ASA=tH B i3
24 August 2021 WONG Cho Fai (Ex-Group 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - 15.11 1,2
Managing Director/Chief
Executive Officer)
“EC-FEN\AZ1MA EEB(HEEESLLE/
THER)
24 August 2021 Directors of the Company’s 2,400,000 - - 2,400,000 15.11 1,2&3
subsidiaries
“EC-FNAZTHA FARMBARMNES
24 August 2021 Other eligible executives 1,800,000 - - 1,800,000 15.11 1,283
“EC-FNAZTNA HtEERTHAE
Total 6,700,000 - (2,500,000) 4,200,000
By
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Share Options (continued)

Executive Share Option Scheme 2013 (the “"ESOS
2013") (continued)

Notes:

1. Vesting of the options is subject to the achievement of the
prescribed financial and performance targets and contribution
criteria to be met by the grantees for the financial periods from
1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024. The closing price of the shares
immediately before the date on which such options were granted
was HK$15.

2. At the end of the relevant performance period, the Board
Remuneration Committee of the Company shall determine, at
its discretion, the extent of achievement of the financial and
performance targets and contribution criteria in respect of that
period, and decide on the vesting of the options and the number
of shares comprised in the vested options. Thereafter, the grantees
shall be notified of the vesting of the options and shall be able to
exercise the vested options within an exercise period of up to 30
months following the vesting of the options.

3. The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include the then Group Managing Director/
Chief Executive Officer of the Company (retired on 18 April 2024)
as disclosed above. Among the above granted share options, the
remaining four highest paid individuals were granted 2,400,000
share options in aggregate under the ESOS 2013.

Saved as disclosed herein, no other options were vested, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled under the ESOS 2013 during the year.
Accordingly, the number of outstanding options was 4,200,000 at
30 June 2024.

Save for above, certain other subsidiaries of GCAL, the ultimate
holding company of the Company during the year, maintain share
option schemes or plans or arrangements which subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year, under which
eligible directors of the Company may be granted share options
for acquisition of shares of respective companies concerned. No
person, being a director of the Company during the year, held
shares acquired in pursuance of certain aforesaid share option
schemes or plans.

Apart from above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company or any other body corporate.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests

As at 30 June 2024, the following shareholders (other than
directors of the Company whose interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as disclosed above)
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

FERRZFRER

RZZZOFEAA=1TH BREFHERPBER
PIE336RBEMR BT EMPAE - T3
BERREXFAARBDESAFBERQ T ZR
DRBEBRD P ZXRRO RAAERD 2 #H)
FAERRARDBEERA P ZXBRD KA
BARRAD 2 -

Approximate

Number of percentage

shares held of interest

BEZRHOHE RHZZBIEIHL

Guoline Capital Assets Limited (“GCAL") 156,114,659 64.15%
QUEK Leng Chan ZB< & 156,114,659 64.15%
Hong Leong Investment Holdings Pte. Limited (“HLIH") 156,114,659 64.15%
Davos Investment Holdings Private Limited (“Davos”) 156,114,659 64.15%
KWEK Leng Kee 156,114,659 64.15%

Note:

The interests comprised (i) 140,008,659 ordinary shares in the Company
held by Guoline International Limited (“GIL"); (ii) 6,781,000 ordinary
shares in the Company held by Richly Choice Development (PTC) Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; and (iii) 9,325,000 underlying
shares of the Company of other unlisted derivatives held by Oceanease
Limited.

GIL was a wholly-owned subsidiary of GCAL. Oceanease Limited was a
wholly-owned subsidiary of GuocoEquity Assets Limited which in turn was
a wholly-owned subsidiary of GGL. GGL was 71.88% owned by Guoline
Overseas Limited (“GOL") which in turn was a wholly-owned subsidiary
of GCAL. By virtue of Section 316(2) of the SFO, Mr. QUEK Leng Chan
held 49.11% interest in GCAL. HLIH held 34.49% interest in GCAL. Mr.
KWEK Leng Kee held 41.92% interest in Davos which in turn held 33.59%
interest in HLIH.

All the interests disclosed under this section were long positions in
the ordinary shares of the Company.

BEE -

ZREFBHE(G) Guoline International Limited ([ GILJ)
BBERARRQNT140,008,659RZ BT 2 5 (DAA
Az 2 EK B2 FRichly Choice Development (PTC)
Limited B RA A 79,325,000 REER 2 EH &
(iii) Oceanease LimitedEBEMIE FHLTETREEFE
KA F]9,325,0000% AR 10 2 % ©

GILAGCALZZEMEB T o Oceanease Limited%
B ERAEEERATZEZEWNBLAR  #EHEH
EZEEWBAT » B 271.88% M EGuoLine
Overseas Limited([ GOL)#H > GOLAGCALZZE
MELAT - RIEBFRIEMRHIEII6QKRKRE @ 26
SBREEIEBGCALZ49.11% %  HLIHEFBGCAL
34.49% 2 # i o KWEK Leng Kee 5 4 3% & Davos
41.92% 2z B % » ™ Davos 8l#F B HLIH 33.59% 2 i%
FE o

HHORE M EREERBEALTAFRE
BRRAD ©
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests

(continued)

Save as disclosed herein, no other person (other than directors of
the Company) has an interest or a short position in the shares and
underlying shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Shares

During the year, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as
the trustee for a trust set up for the purpose of acquiring shares
of the Company to satisfy the exercise of options which may be
granted to the Executive Share Option Scheme adopted on 23 April
2013, purchased 174,000 shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange at a total consideration of HK$1,444,000.

Save as disclosed above, during the year, the Company did not
redeem any of its listed shares and neither did the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell any of the Company’s listed
shares.

Major Customers and Suppliers

Total sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s revenue for the year.

The percentage of total purchases attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers for the year are as follows:

- the largest supplier 12%

- five largest suppliers combined 33%
None of the directors, their close associates or any shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued shares) had an interest in the
major suppliers or customers noted above.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

At all times during the year and up to 4 September 2024, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules, based on the information that is publicly available to
the Company and within the knowledge of the directors.

Auditors

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as
auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board
KWEK Leng Hai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 4 September 2024

BRAZABERE

ERARARARAERcENRBESA
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KPMG

Independent auditor’s report
the members of Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lam
Soon (Hong Kong) Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 93 to 200, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 30 June 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

FAREFSE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional BRETEEERERMNVEXHE > AAEAK
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the B ARV ETRAEEMNSIE - &=
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These EEARME T EREESBRREEEZRE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the EITEEY BREFSHESEEEEHERNS
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our =

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Revenue recognition

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 125 to 127

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Sales of flour, edible oil and home care products are
recognised as revenue when the control of the products
is transferred to the Group’s customers according to the
terms of the sales and purchase agreements entered
into between the Group and its customers.

The Group trades mainly with distributors and
supermarkets and has a large volume of individual
transactions which increases the risk of error in
recognising revenue.

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit
matter because revenue is one of the key performance
indicators of the Group which could create an incentive
for management to record revenue inappropriately to
meet targets or expectations and because the large
transaction volume increases the possibility of errors in
recognising revenue.

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
included the following:

o gaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls over revenue recognition;

o challenging the revenue recognition policies
adopted by the Group by making inquiries of
management and inspecting a sample of sales and
purchase agreements to understand the terms of the
transactions with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

o inspecting underlying documentation for revenue
transactions by adopting specific risk-based criteria,
if any;

o comparing sales records for a sample of sales

transactions recorded during the year with relevant
underlying documentation, which included sales
invoices and goods delivery notes with evidence of
the customers’ receipt of the goods and the date of
receipt of the goods by the customers;
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Key audit matters (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

FARETEE @

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 125 to 127

(continued)

The Key Audit Matter (continued)

How the matter was addressed in our audit (continued)

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue
included the following: (continued)

MIE(EE)AR QA |

identifying sales returns from the sales ledger after
the year end on sample basis and inspecting the
underlying documentation in relation to these
sales returns to assess if the related adjustments to
revenue had been accounted for in the appropriate
accounting period; and

assessing, on a sample basis, whether specific
revenue transactions around the financial year end
had been recognised in the appropriate financial
period in accordance with the terms of sale as
set out in the sales and purchase agreements by
comparing details of these transactions with sales
invoices and goods delivery notes with evidence of
the customers’ receipt of the goods and the date of
receipt of the goods by the customers.
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Key audit matters (continued)

FARETEE @

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment (“"PP&E")

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 111 and 112

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The carrying amount of the Group’s PP&E as at 30 June
2024 was HK$738 million, representing 21% of the
Group’s total assets.

Management has determined cash-generating unit
(“CGU") as the smallest identifiable group of assets that
generates cash inflows that are largely independent of
the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.
Management reviews the performance of individual
CGU to identify if there are any impairment indicators
on the allocated assets of the CGUs. Where impairment
indicators are identified, management assesses the
value in use of the CGUs by preparing a discounted cash
flow forecast to determine the recoverable amount of
the CGUs, and then comparing the carrying value of
the CGUs with the recoverable amount. Based on the
impairment assessment performed by management, no
impairment losses on PP&E was recognised in profit or
loss for the year ended 30 June 2024.

We identified the impairment assessment of PP&E
as a key audit matter because of the significance of
the carrying amount of PP&E to the consolidated
financial statements and because of, for the value in
use assessment, the determination of key assumptions
used in the discounted cash flow forecasts, including
future revenue growth rates, future materials costs
growth rates and discount rates are subject to a
significant degree of judgement and could be subject to
management bias.

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of PP&E
relating to the loss-making units in food business segment
included the following:

assessing and challenging the management’s
impairment assessment, which included evaluating
the indicators of impairment and the allocation of
assets to CGUs with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards;

challenging the key assumptions adopted by
management in the discounted cash flow forecasts
and comparing the key assumptions used, including
future revenue growth rates, future margins
and future cost growth rates by referring to the
historical financial performance of each CGU and
management’s budgets and forecasts;

with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists, evaluating the methodology applied by
management in the preparation of discounted cash
flow forecasts with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards and assessing
the discount rates adopted in the discounted
cash flow forecasts by benchmarking against the
companies in the same industry and external market
data; and

obtaining a sensitivity analysis of the key
assumptions adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecasts prepared by management and assessing
the impact of changes in the key assumptions
to the conclusion reached in the impairment
assessment and whether there were any indicators
of management bias.
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Key audit matters (continued)
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Key audit matters (continued)
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Information other than the
consolidated financial statements
and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of the directors
for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Board Audit and Risk
Management Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial
statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial
statements (ontinuead)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also: (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board Audit and Risk Management
Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Board Audit and Risk Management Committee
with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRBEHRES

Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial
statements (ontinuead)

From the matters communicated with the Board Audit and Risk
Management Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lam Leong Wai.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

4 September 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

Kt B FT JBEF T
Revenue A 5 4,837,585 5,118,938
Cost of sales SHEM A (3,824,687) (4,242,965)
Gross profit ER 1,012,898 875,973
Other income Ha A 6 58,127 45,186
Selling and distribution expenses EERDHEER (625,049) (641,384)
Administrative expenses THEHAR (201,165) (188,996)
Profit from operations KRR 244,811 90,779
Finance costs BhE B AN 7 (254) (208)
Profit before taxation RRELATR R 7 244,557 90,571
Taxation I8 8(a) (43,958) (5,222)
Profit for the year REEBER 200,599 85,349
Earnings per share BRER
Basic and diluted BEARREE 11 HK$®E#0.855t HK$EME0.367T

The notes on pages 101 to 200 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in

note 10.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e B

KR E b2 H B &R

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

2024 2023
—E_ME —EBE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Profit for the year AFEEmM 200599 85349
Other comprehensive income for AEEHMEEWE(NBREH
the year (net of nil tax and BREHSERAER)
reclassification adjustments)
Item that will not be reclassified to BIrEEHIEE
profit or loss: BHER2ER
Equity investments at FVOCI — net movement RO EES AR MEE WS
in fair value reserve (non-recycling) HIRRERE - N EEREE
SEFR(TAEE) 3,377 3,820
Remeasurement of long service payment RERESEEZENTE
liabilities 116 -
3,493 3,820
Items that may be reclassified HEWEHFIER
subsequently to profit or loss: ERER2IER
Exchange differences on translation of BRERBLUIMNE A R EEIR
financial statements of subsidiaries outside RIEECERZRE
Hong Kong (7,090) (162,078)
Other comprehensive income AEEHMEHE K E
fortheyear @7 (158.250)
Total comprehensive income AEELHRGEEE
for the year 197,002 (72,909)

The notes on pages 101 to 200 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR R

At30June 2024 H=-Z-MFXA=+AH

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Note HK$'000 HK$°000
Kt B FT JBEF T
Non-current assets FREBEE
Leasehold land and property, HETHRYE -
plant and equipment WEREE 12 737,745 771,353
Intangible assets and goodwill B EENDE 13 8,530 4,625
Other financial assets HitemEE 14 52,364 90,468
Deferred tax assets BEFRIBEEE 21 11,897 14,586
Other non-current assets HibIEREEE 1,702 2,485
812,238 883,517
Current assets REEE
Inventories =ZE 15(a) 637,948 667,918
Trade and other receivables BE REMEWERT 16 367,935 347,364
Other financial assets HihemEE 14 22,032 69,340
Cash and deposits HERTFR 17(a) 1,706,444 1,456,839
2,734,359 2,541,461
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables 5 K HEMESIR 18(a) 581,018 589,238
Contract liabilities sEAEE 18(b) 17,173 20,824
Tax payables FEATRL TR 8(c) 17,389 8,850
Lease liabilities HERE 19 2,615 3,112
618,195 622,024
Net current assets BREEE 2,116,164 1,919,437
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBER 2,928,402 2,802,954
Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBEBEE 21 20,903 15,572
Lease liabilities HEEE 19 1,333 1,069
Long service payment liabilities RERBESEE 20 1,943 =
24,179 16,641
NET ASSETS FERE 2,904,223 2,786,313
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR R

At30June 2024 H=—Z-MFEXA=1+AH

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
Kt B FT JBEF T

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EEREE
Share capital BR 7 22(a) 672,777 672,777
Reserves IEAE 2,231,446 2,113,536
TOTAL EQUITY Pab 2,904,223 2,786,313

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on KASEEN-_Z-WFHh AN BREREET

4 September 2024. 2% o
CHIU Chao Hsiang, James HGRE8%¥ Christian K. NOTHHAFT  ZE#{=

DIRECTOR EE DIRECTOR EZE

The notes on pages 101 to 200 form part of these financial FIRE101EEF200E 2 ZIE M5t B A E 153k
statements. Tz —ED °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KARRREG
Fair value
Share Surplus ESOP Shareoption  Exchange Teserve Revenue
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve  (non-tecycling) reserve Total
fHAZ b
et 14 T AVEERR
U JES B EifE  (FTER) ke ait
Note HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wi Brr  BFn B Hin B B Bt B
At 1 July 2023 ZECZELR-B 672,711 184,913 (88,246) 4133 (135,000 (1979) 2155115 2,786,313
Profit for the year REERA - - - - - - 0059 200599
Equity investments at FVOC! - net FOTEE A2 ENE
movement in fair value resere HRERE-ATEERE
(non-tecycling) BEFE(TTER) - - - - - 33n - 33n
Transfer of gain on disposal of ERLERNVEEAZE
equity investments at FVOC to hEnhERE 2 WE
revenue reserve - - - - - (1,681) 1,681 -
Remeasurement of long seniice RBmBeaE ENNE
payment liabilties - - - - - - 116 116
Buchange differences on translation of ~ BEFBMNEAT
finandial statements of subsidiaries ~ EiTAERIEL L
outside Hong Kong EizE - - - - (7,090) - - (7,090)
Total comprehensive income for the year - AEE2EURER - - - - (7,000) 1,696 202,3% 197,002
Equity setled share-based tansactions R EEZURHA
E#2S 7 - - - (147) - - - (147)
Purchase of ordinary shares of EREE T HE]
the Company for share option scheme ~ AAFZEER 20) - - (1,444) - - - - (1,444)
Transfer from revenue reserv fo HUGREEAERGGHE
surplus reserve - 2017 - - - - 917 -
Finaldividend paid in respect of FEEEEARERE
prior year 10b) - - - - - - (46,976) (46,976)
Interm dividend paid in respect of FREREARARE
current year 10@) - - - - - - (30,525) (30,525)
- 2917 (1,444) (147) - - (80,418) (79,09)
At30 June 2024 ZECMERRZTH 672,717 187,830 (89,690) 4,586 (142,090) (6,283)  2217,093  2,904223
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE—ZBE_WFEAA=tBHLFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KRARFRES
Fair value
Share Surplus ESOP  Share option Bxchange fesene Revenue
capital reserve feserve reserve reserve  (non-ecycling) feserve Total
fiHAE it
e TeE NVEERE
e BUfE GES ] fife EXfifE  (FUER) Wk aif
Note HKS000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS000 HKS 000
it i Bfr B B B B Bt B
At 1 July 202 REEZZELA-H 672,117 183516 (87182) 2537 2,078 (5620 2,166,024 2,959,124
Profit for the year REERA = - - - - - 85349 85,349
Equity investments at FVOC - net RATEET ARB2ENE
movement in fair value reserve WkERE-ATERRR
(non-tecycling) FOER(TTEE) - - - - e 3800 e 3800
Transfer of gain on disposal of equity ~ ERHERATEENA2E
investments at FVOCIto revenue reserve WM ERE & - - - - - (6,173) 6,173 =
Bxchange differences on translation of ~ BEEBINIEA
finandia statements of subsidiares HRERAEL,
outside Hong Kong EiZE - - - - (162,08) - e (162,08)
Total comprehensive income for the year - AEE2EURER - - - - (162,078) (239) 91522 (72,909
Equity settled share-based transactions ~ kEREE ZNRHA
EE Y 7 - - - 21% - - - 2,1%
Purchase of ordinary shares of EEE L HE]
the Company for share option scheme ~~ AAFZ R 20 e = (1,064) s e = = (1,064)
Transfer from revenue reserve to BYGHEER2ERGR
surplus reserve - 1397 - - - - (1.397) -
Final dividend paid i respect of REFECARERE
prior year 10(b) - - - - - - (77.539) (77539)
Interm dividend paid in respect of FREEEARERE
current year 106) - - - - - - (23.495) (23,495)
- 1397 (1,064) 2,1% - - (102,431) (99,902)
At 30 June 2023 RZBZ=ERA=1R 672,771 184913 (88,246) 4733 (135,000) (1979 2,155,115 2,786,313

The notes on pages 101 to 200 form part of these financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

GERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

2024 2023
—E_ME —EBE=F
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
BraE BEF T BEF T
Operating activities ReEEE
Profit before taxation BB AIER 244,557 90,571
Adjustments for: FHE
Depreciation and amortisation e N 7 72,401 76,635
(Reversal of write-down)/write-down FECRERE), SRE
of inventories 15(b) (2,319) 4,357
Loss allowance recognised for B RRIRRZ
trade receivables EEEEER 7 10 9
Finance costs L& AR 7 254 208
Interest income on financial assets REHERATTEEREE
measured at amortised cost ZF B 6 (44,659) (32,628)
Dividend income from equity securities BREZES ZBREWA 6 (5,087) (4,710)
Fair value loss/(gain) on club BEZLATVEE
membership & () 6 600 (150)
Net losses/(gains) on disposals of HEHELRYE
leasehold land and property, BEREZREZF
plant and equipment e, () 6 2 (539)
Share-based payment (forfeiture)/ BRI AFE R,
expenses, net EH 7 (147) 2,196
Net unrealised exchange losses REBELFEHE 632 1,252
Net unrealised gains on derivative PTESMIAZ
financial instruments REIRFWER (772) =
Changes in working capital: EESTHEE
Decrease in inventories FEZED 31,202 139,425
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other B REHMEWIRERZ
receivables () (20,755) 50,939
Decrease in trade and other payables ES R EMEMIRR
2D (8,298) (104,552)
Decrease in contract liabilities cEEEZEY (3,565) (47,685)
Increase in long service payment liabilities ~ EHIRB S EE >N 2,059 -
Cash generated from operations REEBRBHERS 266,115 175,328
Taxation: BiE
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid ERNEENEH (4,401) (2,702)
Tax paid outside Hong Kong SR EBUNNIE (23,024) (13,912)
Net cash generated from operating RETHFABELSTFE
activities 238,690 158,714
HIBE(EB)ARAA | 2T ZWFF W 99



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

2024 2023
—E-ME —EIZ=F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BtaE BT T BT T
Investing activities REED
Increase in fixed deposits held at banks  FrisERIHA A=A
with original maturity over three months Ll = #$R4TE B 175X
2340 (211,330) (195,163)
Payment for the purchase of BEWX BERRBEIAR
property, plant and equipment and BEEEZMAR
intangible assets (40,419) (49,445)
Net proceeds from disposals of leasehold HERETHRYE - KE
land and property, plant and equipment %ﬁ{%ﬁﬁ?%?kﬁ;‘%%ﬁ 658 1,123
Payment for purchase of: BBEEhiE
— debt securities —1;5% 55 = (111,449)
Proceeds from: RS RRIE
— maturity of debt securities —f& i%;u%@],ﬂﬂ 69,305 37,635
— sale of equity securities - HEREES 18,775 30,363
Interest received 2 UF & 43,667 28,348
Dividends received from investment in REREEFHFEBWKRE
equity securities 5,087 6,414
Net cash used in investing activities  REFEBAARSFE (114,257) (252,174)
Financing activities RMEEE
Purchase of ordinary shares of RO REETEEE
the Company for share option scheme ARa 2 EBIR 22(a) (1,444) (1,064)
Capital element of lease rentals paid 2 HERE2EARID 17(b) (4,316) (4,521)
Interest element of lease rentals paid EHEEHESZREED 17(b) (254) (208)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of  {SFARQABRERZIKE
the Company (77,501) (101,034)
Net cash used in financing activities & EEMAREEHE (83,515) (106,827)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BHELNBRSEHE
cash equivalents FRERE A, CRD) 40,918 (200,287)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July RtA—B2
ReRkBEEH 730,182 1,009,960
Effect of foreign exchange rate ExgEHsoE
changes (2,643) (79,491)
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June RWRAXA=+HZ
HEeRHBEEZHE 17(a) 768,457 730,182
The notes on pages 101 to 200 form part of these financial FIRE101EZEE 2008 2 ZIE M A A B i

statements. R2—EM
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

General information

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company is located at 21 Dai Fu Street, Tai Po Industrial
Estate, Tai Po, New Territories, Hong Kong.

The Company is a holding company and its principal
activity is investment holding. The principal activities of
the Company’s subsidiaries include manufacturing, trading
and processing of edible oil, flour products and home care
products in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China
("PRC") and Macau.

Material accounting policies
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Listing Rules”). Material accounting policies
adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current accounting period reflected in these financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2024 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical cost
basis except that the following assets and liabilities
are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

- club membership;

- investments in equity securities (see note
2(f)); and

- derivative financial instruments (see note
2(9)).

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

2

BEARESFTBEE @)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

Changes in accounting policies
(i) Amended HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following
amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to
these financial statements for the current
accounting period:

- Amendments to HKAS 12, Income
taxes: International tax reform — Pillar
Two model rules
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(i)

Amended HKFRSs (continued)

The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period. Impacts of
the adoption of the amended HKFRSs are
discussed below:

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
International tax reform — Pillar Two model
rules

The amendments introduce a temporary
mandatory exception from deferred tax
accounting for the income tax arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
to implement the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development ("OECD")
(income tax arising from such tax laws is
hereafter referred to as “Pillar Two income
taxes”), including tax laws that implement
qualified domestic minimum top-up taxes
described in those rules. The amendments
also introduce disclosure requirements about
such tax including the estimated tax exposure
to Pillar Two income taxes. The amendments
are immediately effective upon issuance and
require retrospective application. The Group
provided the additional disclosures in note
8(d).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

()

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(i)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-
LSP offsetting mechanism

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR
Government (the "Government”)
gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the “"Amendment Ordinance”), which
will come into effect from 1 May 2025 (the
“Transition Date”). Once the Amendment
Ordinance takes effect, an employer can
no longer use any of the accrued benefits
derived from its mandatory contributions
to mandatory provident fund (“MPF")
scheme to reduce the long service payment
("LSP") in respect of an employee’s service
from the Transition Date (the abolition of
the “offsetting mechanism”). In addition,
the LSP in respect of the service before the
Transition Date will be calculated based on
the employee’s monthly salary immediately
before the Transition Date and the years of
service up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published
“Accounting implications of the abolition of
the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” that provides accounting guidance
relating to the offsetting mechanism and the
abolition of the mechanism. In particular,
the guidance indicates that entities may
account for the accrued benefits derived
from mandatory MPF contributions that
are expected to be used to reduce the
LSP payable to an employee as deemed
contributions by that employee towards the
LSP.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

()

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(i)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-
LSP offsetting mechanism (continued)

However, applying this approach, upon the
enactment of the Amendment Ordinance
in June 2022, it is no longer permissible to
apply the practical expedient in paragraph
93(b) of HKAS 19 that previously allowed
such deemed contributions to be recognised
as reduction of service cost (negative service
cost) in the period the contributions were
made; instead these deemed contributions
should be attributed to periods of service in
the same manner as the gross LSP benefit.

To better reflect the substance of the
abolition of the offsetting mechanism, the
Group has changed its accounting policy
in connection with its LSP liability and
has applied the above HKICPA guidance
retrospectively. The cessation of applying
the practical expedient in paragraph 93(b) of
HKAS 19 in conjunction with the enactment
of the Amendment Ordinance resulted in a
catch—up profit or loss adjustment in June
2022 for the service cost up to that date and
consequential impacts on current service cost,
interest expense and remeasurement effects
from changes in actuarial assumptions for the
financial year ended 30 June 2023, with the
corresponding adjustment to the comparative
carrying amount of the LSP liability. However,
since the amount of the catch-up profit
or loss adjustment was immaterial with
reference to the assessment by the external
specialist engaged by the Group, the Group
did not restate the comparative figures for
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra—group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra—
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra—group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to
the Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non—
controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non—controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see note 2(f)) or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment
losses and is test annually for impairment (see note

2(k)(i)).
Other investments in securities

The Group’s policies for investments in securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries, are set out
below.

Investments in securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL") for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of
how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 25(f). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending
on their classification.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(f) Other investments in securities (continued)

(i)

Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments classified into one of
the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective
interest method (see note 2(t)(iv)),
foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain
or loss on derecognition is recognised
in profit or loss.

- fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI") —
recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest
and the investment is held within
a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection
of contractual cash flows and sale.
Expected credit losses, interest income
(calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit
or loss and computed in the same
manner as if the financial asset was
measured at amortised cost. The
difference between the fair value and
the amortised cost is recognised in
other comprehensive income (“OCI").
When the investment is derecognised,
the amount accumulated in OCl is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

- FVPL if the investment does not meet
the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies 2 BEARESTEHEw

(continued)

(f)

(9)

Other investments in securities (continued) (f)
(ii) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL, unless the investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition
the Group makes an irrevocable election to
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-
recycling) such that subsequent changes
in fair value are recognised in OCI. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-
instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. If such election
is made for a particular investment, at the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is
transferred to retained earnings and not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL
or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as
other income (see note 2(t)(iii)).

Derivative financial instruments (9)

The Group holds derivative financial instruments to
manage its foreign currency and interest rate risk
exposures. Embedded derivatives are separated from
the host contract and accounted for separately if
the host contract is not a financial asset and certain
criteria are met.

Derivatives are initially measured at fair value.

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with
changes therein recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets arising from leases over
leasehold properties where the Group is not the
registered owner of the property interest and items
of property, plant and equipment, including right—
of-use assets arising from leases of underlying plant
and equipment, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(k)
(ii)). The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its present working condition and location
for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after an
item of property, plant and equipment has been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situation where it can
be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has
resulted in an increase in the future economic
benefits expected to be obtained from the use of
the property, plant and equipment, the expenditure
is capitalised as an additional cost of the property,
plant and equipment.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)). Cost comprises
direct costs of construction, capitalised borrowing
costs and exchange differences to the extent that
it is an adjustment to borrowing costs during
the periods of construction and installation.
Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the
construction in progress is transferred to property,
plant and equipment when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the assets for their
intended use are completed. No depreciation is
provided for in respect of construction in progress
until it is completed and ready for its intended use.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives, then
they are accounted for as separate items (major
components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.
Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from
the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is not
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(h)

()

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight—
line method over their estimated useful lives and is
generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

Leasehold land is depreciated over the unexpired
term of lease.
Buildings and leasehold improvements  2-25 years

Machineries, equipment, furniture and
motor vehicles

3-20 years

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets, including patents and trademarks,
that are acquired by the Group and have finite
useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and
brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of
intangible assets less their estimated residual values
using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives, if any, and is generally recognised in
profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

— Enterprise planning resources system 5 years
("ERP™)
— Trademarks 5 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual
values are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted if appropriate.

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2024

2

BEARESFTBEE @)

(h)

M - BERKREE)

M BERRBEARASTH
FH (T ) NE S TEMORE A
BLBREL A ET R BREE (EA) 5
BITEREERRARER

7R B R b S HA R RO FEL 5T T AR 4R AR
mE

HETmRAEREERINE -

EFEREE 2-25%

HeEE - RE - FEM 3-20%
®ARE

B EE (BB

FEBWEZETEEARAR
ERAFR  BEREFRER - U
AR ERT#ERRTRER
KT (RMEE2(k)i0)

ABELEBERREZHRE
L HIBERAFEX -

BREENBEUHETTEA
FIR(WB) RAERERERAE
HERBFREETHE  —R
SFABEIR o

NEA R LEER B R A FE A AT A BB
T

- EEERTERS 55

-BE 5%

BmiEs ERFRAIREES
B3RS B ETERILEE T



2

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

()

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is
the case if the contract conveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i)

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right—of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for leases that have a short
lease term of 12 months or less, and leases of
low-value items. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value item, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. If not capitalised,
the associated lease payments are recognised
in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the
lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense
is recognised using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability, and
are charged to profit or loss incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

()

2

BEARESFTBEE @)

Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
notes 2(h) and 2(k)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or if the Group
changes its assessment of whether it will
exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of—
use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right—of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

()

2
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Leased assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured
when there is a lease modification, which
means a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract,
if such modification is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case, the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are
rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph
46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the
Group has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as
negative variable lease payments in profit
or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long—term
lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.

As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or
an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

() Leased assets (continued)

(i)

As a lessor (continued)

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note

2(t)(ii).

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial assets

The loss allowance of trade receivables is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses (“ECLs"), which are
those losses that are expected to occur over
the expected life of the trade receivables. The
loss allowance is estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For other financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and deposits,
investments in debt securities and other
receivables), the Group recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless
there has been a significant increase in
credit risk of the financial assets since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

Other financial assets measured at fair value,
including club membership, investments
in equity securities and derivative financial
assets, are not subject to the ECL assessment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

2

BEARESFTBEE @)

(k) FFEBEREEREG)

(i)

Credit losses from financial assets
(continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date with any changes recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of financial assets through a
loss allowance account.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the counterparties
does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write—off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(k)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its non—financial
assets (other than property carried at
revalued amounts, investment property,
inventories and other contract costs,
contract assets and deferred tax assets) to
determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped
together into the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of the cash
inflows of other assets or cash—generating
units (“CGU"s). Goodwill arising from a
business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU
is the greater of its value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal. Value in use is
based on the estimated future cash flows,
discounted to their present value using a pre—
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds
its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit
or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying
amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a
pro rata basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(k)

U

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(ii)  Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed. For other assets, an impairment
loss is reversed only to the extent that the
resulting carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have
been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been
recognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average cost formula and comprises all
costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. In the case of work
in progress and finished goods, cost comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an attributable
proportion of production overheads.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write—-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write—
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write—down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(m)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue (see note
2(1)). A contract liability would also be recognised
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such latter cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised
(see note 2(n)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see
note 2(t)(iv)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration and only
the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(k)(i)).

Cash and deposits

Cash and deposits comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and
deposits are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2(k)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value and are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice
amounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(a)

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability
is recognised for the amount expected to
be paid if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount
as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be
estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans are expensed as
the related services is provided.

Defined benefit plan obligations

The Group has LSP under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance as the defined benefit
plan.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of
defined benefit plans is calculated separately
for each plan by estimating the amount
of future benefit that employees have
earned in the current and prior periods and
discounting that amount. For LSP obligations,
the estimated amount of future benefit is
determined after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions
that have been vested with employees, which
are deemed to be contributions from the
relevant employees.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation
is performed by a qualified actuary using the
projected unit credit method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(a)

Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Defined benefit plan obligations
(continued)

Remeasurements arising from defined
benefit plans, which comprise actuarial gains
and losses, are recognised immediately in
OCI. Net interest expense for the period
is determined by applying the discount
rate used to measure the defined benefit
obligation at the beginning of the reporting
period to the then net defined benefit
liability, taking into account any changes
in the net defined benefit liability during
the period. Net interest expense and other
expenses related to defined benefit plans are
recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payments

The grant—date fair value of equity—settled
share-based payments granted to employees
is measured using the Black-Scholes model.
The amount is generally recognised as an
expense, with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the vesting period of the awards.
The amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the number of awards
for which the related service conditions are
expected to be met, such that the amount
ultimately recognised is based on the number
of awards that meet the related service
conditions at the vesting date.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when it recognises costs for restructuring.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

2

BEARESFTBEE @)

(r)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, or items recognised directly in equity
or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current
tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the
tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes. It
is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also
includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred
tax is not recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and that affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

- temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to
the extent that the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will
not reverse in the foreseeable future;

- taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

= those related to the income taxes arising from
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
to implement the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic
Co—operation and Development.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(r)

(s)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against
which they can be used. Future taxable profits
are determined based on the reversal of relevant
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to
recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future
taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing
temporary differences, are considered, based on
the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the
group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will
be realised; such reductions are reversed when the
probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a pre—tax rate that
reflects current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on
historical warranty data and a weighting of possible
outcomes against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at
the present value of the lower of the expected
cost of terminating the contract and the expected
net cost of continuing with the contract, which
is determined based on the incremental costs of
fulfilling the obligation under that contract and an
allocation of other costs directly related to fulfilling
that contract. Before a provision is established, the
Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets
associated with that contract (see note 2(k)(iii)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(s)

(t)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
(continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non—
occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required
to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount of
the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of goods, the provision of
services or the use by others of the Group’s assets
under leases in the ordinary course of the Group's
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, or the
lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(t)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Sale of goods

Sales of the Group’s products are recognised
when control of the products has transferred,
being when the products are passed to
the customer. If the products are a partial
fulfilment of a contract covering other goods
and/or services, then the amount of revenue
recognised is an appropriate proportion of
the total transaction price under the contract,
allocated between all the goods and services
promised under the contract on a relative
stand—alone selling price basis.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss
on the date on which the Group’s right to
receive payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method. The “effective
interest rate” is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. In calculating interest income,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset (when
the asset is not credit-impaired). However,
for financial assets that have become credit—
impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no
longer credit-impaired, then the calculation
of interest income reverts to the gross basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

2 Material accounting policies

(continued)

(t)

(u)

Revenue and other income (continued)
(v) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
initially when there is reasonable assurance
that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to
them.

Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the
same periods in which the expenses are
incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for
the cost of an asset are deducted from
the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset
by way of reduced depreciation expense.

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting
date. Non—-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated at the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences
are generally recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(u)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on acquisition, are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates at the reporting date.
The income and expenses of foreign operations are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OClI
and accumulated in the exchange reserve, except to
the extent that the translation difference is allocated
to non-controlling interests (“NCI").

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its
entirety or partially such that control, significant
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the exchange reserve related to that
foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal. On disposal of
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that foreign operation that have been
attributed to the NCI shall be derecognised, but
shall not be reclassified to profit or loss. If the Group
disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but
retains control, then the relevant proportion of the
cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI. When the
Group disposes of only part of an associate or joint
venture while retaining significant influence or joint
control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative
amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(v) Related parties

(i)

(ii)

A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(a)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

(a)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third party and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post—-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (i).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Material accounting policies

(continued)

(v)

(w)

Related parties (continued)

(i)  An entity is related to the Group if any
of the following conditions applies:
(continued)

(9) A person identified in (i)(a) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(h) The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Accounting estimates and
judgement

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made various estimates based on
past experiences, expectations of the future and other
information. Note 24 contains information about the
assumptions and their risk factors relating to fair value of
share options granted. Other key sources of estimation
uncertainty that may significantly affect the amounts
recognised in the financial statements are disclosed below:

(a)

(b)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight line basis over their estimated useful lives,
after taking into account of their estimated residual
value. The determination of the useful lives and
residual value involve management’s estimation.

The Group assesses annually the residual value and
the useful life of the property, plant and equipment
and if the assessment result differs from the
original estimate, such a difference may impact the
depreciation for the year. The details of property,
plant and equipment are disclosed in note 12.

Impairment of leasehold land and property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and
goodwill

Determining whether leasehold land and property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill
are impaired requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash—generating units to which the
leasehold land and property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and goodwill have been allocated.
The calculation of value in use requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the CGU and a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value. If the estimation
of value in use is different, any reversal or further
impairment will impact the profits or losses of the
Group. The details of leasehold land and property,
plant and equipment and goodwill are disclosed in
notes 12 and 13 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Accounting estimates and
jUdgement (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(c)

Income taxes

At 30 June 2024, deferred tax assets of
HK$20,288,000 (2023: HK$20,897,000) in
relation to unused tax losses were recognised
as set out in note 21. No deferred tax asset was
recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses
of HK$301,341,000 (2023: HK$276,679,000) and
temporary differences of HK$61,522,000 (2023:
HK$64,118,000) arising from impairment of certain
leasehold land and property, plant and equipment
due to the unpredictability of future taxable profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax assets
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits
or taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future. In cases where the future profits
generated are less or more than expected, a write
down or further recognition of deferred tax assets
may arise, which would be recognised in the profit
or loss for the period in which such a write down or
further recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

4 Segment reporting

In a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management, the Group has two reportable segments,
as described below. Businesses in each reporting segment
have similar operating and currency risks, class of customer
for products, distribution channels and safety regulation.
The following summary describes the operations in each
segment:

Food: manufacture and distribution of a wide
range of food products including flour,
edible oils and specialty fats.

Home Care:  manufacture and distribution of household
and institutional cleaning products.

(@) Segments results, assets and liabilities

The Group’s most senior executive management
monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the
following basis:

The measure used for reporting segment profit
is “profit from operations”. To arrive at “profit
from operations”, the Group's earnings are further
adjusted for items not specifically attributed
to individual segments, such as head office or
corporate administration costs.

Segment assets include all tangible assets, intangible
assets and current assets with the exception of
deferred tax assets and other corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include tax payables, all trade and
other payables and contract liabilities attributable
to the manufacturing and sales activities of the
individual segments, lease liabilities and long service
payment liabilities with the exception of deferred tax
liabilities and other corporate liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

4 Segment reporting (ontinued) 4 DHHRE@
(a) Segments results, assets and liabilities (a) EEE BEERERGSE)
(continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by the timing of revenue recognition, as
well as information regarding the Group's reportable
segments as provided to the Group’s most senior
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BITHEBABZARKE 2K
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) . _ DEHEREIOT
executive management is set out below:
2024 2023
kS 1] TECZE
Segment Segment
Food  Home Care Total Food  Home Care Total
RE FERE AR R FEEE G
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BETT BETT BETT BT BT
Disaggregated by timing of EREREERNA
revenue recognition on RAKHI B
point in time
Revenue from external customers — HHAEEZIMA 4,029,653 807,932 4837585 4,326,192 79,746 5,118,938
Inter-segment revenue AMEZUA - 1,907 1907 - - -
Reportable segment revenue BES:virid 0N 4,029,653 809,839 4839492 432619 792,746 5118938
Reportable segment profit from EES v
operations &l 189,650 83,280 272,930 52,296 73,055 125,351
Interest income on financial assets ~ FEBRTHESR
measured at amortised cost BEZREWA 17,074 5,567 22,641 13,942 4,605 18,547
Finance costs BERK (153) (56) (209) (139) (57) (196)
Depreciation and amortisation RERES (60,838) (4,892) (65,730) (65,553) (5,106) (70,659)
Other material profit or lossitems: A EERHRER |
- Net exchange gains -ERE0S 1,512 625 2,137 2172 100 200
- Loss allowance recognised for -BARUERZEE
trade receivables BERED (10) - (10) (9) - (9)
Taxation pirae] (21,147) (14,920) (36,067) 11,457 (12,200) (743)
Reportable segment assets q2HniEE 2,525,838 381447 2907285 2,460,053 333727 2,793,780
Reportable segment liabilities EEEVr a1 502,800 138,976 641,776 498 415 133,857 632,272
Additions to non-current EMNA DR EE
segment assets 33,853 2,346 36,199 35,399 4,480 39,879
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 7 R &= Bﬁ%I

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZE-ZE_MEANA=1+HILEE
4 Segment reporting (continued) 4 DEHHRE@
(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment (b) TUEFRSIB2ZWA - BiHEEK -
revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities BEEREBENYHER
2024 2023
—E-ME —ED=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFT BHF T
Revenue A
Reportable segment revenue A2/ 2 WA 4,839,492 5,118,938
Elimination of inter-segment revenue DERE Z WA Z K 8E (1,907) -
Consolidated revenue (note 5) REWA (BtaE5) 4,837,585 5,118,938
Profit bt
Reportable segment profit from ] 23D 202 L& EF
operations 272,930 125,351
Unallocated exchange gains/(losses) FodizERWE(EE) 15 (1,941)
Unallocated net realised and FoBz2TEEMI A
unrealised gains on derivative RN ARBRF R
financial instruments 823 -
Unallocated interest income on financial X2 B2 REBHEKAFTE
assets measured at amortised cost SRMEEZFEWA 22,018 14,081
Dividend income from equity securities RZEFHH ZREWA 5,087 4,710
Unallocated head office and RKOB 2B AT R
corporate expenses TEEH (56,062) (51,422)
Finance costs A& R AR (254) (208)
Consolidated profit before taxation FRERBADRF 244,557 90,571
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets 2Ry 2EE 2,907,285 2,793,780
Elimination of inter-segment receivables %3 FEUWFIE 2 K 84 (38,705) (19,574)
2,868,580 2,774,206
Deferred tax assets RERIBEE 11,897 14,586
Unallocated head office and AOEZBATR
corporate assets TEEE 666,120 636,186
Consolidated total assets SEREE 3,546,597 3,424,978
Liabilities 8f&
Reportable segment liabilities EIEX:5: 174N 641,776 632,272
Elimination of inter-segment payables 3B FE{TFIE 2 K $H (38,705) (19,574)
603,071 612,698
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE 20,903 15,572
Unallocated head office and AOEZBARR
corporate liabilities TEERE 18,400 10,395
Consolidated total liabilities pe e =R 642,374 638,665
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 Segment reporting (continued) 4 DEBE@
(c) Geographical information (0 HEER
The following table sets out information about TREVHHEBNBEEREHE()
the geographical location of (i) the reportable AZ2WoMBEHIEFZBA T K
segment’s revenue from external customers and (VFEBNHEL R - K
(ii) the Group's leasehold land and property, plant ENFE EFEENRBEERY
and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill and ¥ BERRBEAMRE(EE
prepayments for property, plant and equipment FREBEE]) - BEFWABHE
("specified non-current assets”). The geographical TREREEHREYE X 2
location of customers is based on the location at IMEBEE -HELTHWRYE K
which the services were provided or the goods ERRENIEHERRERE
delivered. The geographical location of the leasehold WME - ME - MERRERE
land and property, plant and equipment is based NRENFIBEIRIEEEE
on the physical location of the assets, in the case of WE . MEBREERBENE
prepayments for property, plant and equipment, the wERIDREEESERINEE
location of operations and in the case of intangible BEME
assets and goodwill, the location of the operation to
which they are allocated.
2024 2023
—E-ME ZEICE
Hong Kong  Mainland Hong Kong Mainland
and Macau China Total  and Macau China Total
BERAM  PEAKE A%t EEAREM  PEAE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETrn  BEFr EMTn BETn BEFr BEn
Revenue from external customers — H4EF A 722,568 4115017 4,837,585 778731 4340207 5,118,938
Specified non-current assets EEHRBEE 83,101 664,876 741,971 82,231 696,232 778 463
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Revenue

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out
on pages 201 to 203.

Revenue represents the amounts receivable for the goods
sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts,
value added tax and other related taxes to external
customers.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by major products or service lines is as follows:

5
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2024 2023
—E N —EC-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFT BHEFIT
Revenue from contracts with ERVMEREENE+ RS
customers within the scope of BRAZREEFERMIBA
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products or REBEMDREE D
service lines
— Sales of goods -HEBMm 4,837,585 5,118,938

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition and by geographical
markets is disclosed in notes 4(a) and 4(c) respectively.

During the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, there was
no single external customer that contributed 10% or more
of the Group's total revenue from external customers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

6 Other income 6 HMA
2024 2023
—E PN —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BEFIT
Sales of scrapped materials HERER 455 436
Income from food supply reservation BREEAERA 457 241
Net (losses)/gains on disposals of leasehold HEHEELRYE - BHEK
land and property, plant and equipment REF(BE) W (2) 539
Interest income on financial assets BEEAATESREEZ
measured at amortised cost FEWA 44,659 32,628
Dividend income from equity LB R BUN (HFE3)
securities (note (i) 5,087 4,710
Net exchange gains B 5 F g 2,152 331
Net realised and unrealised gains on TEEmMIEZEEAR
derivative financial instruments (note (ii)) RN BUWRE (BaE3)) 891 -
Fair value (loss)/gain on club membership £ AFEHE(ESE) WE (600) 150
Government grants BUERL 2,980 2,950
Others Hith 2,048 3,201
58,127 45,186
Notes: Kzt -
(i) The Group recognised dividend income of HK$5,087,000 (i) EEBREERATFEAESTAHMLS
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(2023: HK$4,710,000) from the equity securities
designated at FVOCI, of which HK$1,511,000 (2023:
HK$1,045,000) related to investment disposed during the
year and HK$3,576,000 (2023: HK$3,665,000) related to
investments held at 30 June 2024.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group entered (ii)
into various foreign exchange forward contracts to manage

its foreign currency risk exposures. There have been no

foreign exchange forward contracts entered into by the

Group during the year ended 30 June 2023.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

BRBL

Profit before taxation 7

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

R R e

Al 322 )

BREALERE MR, G THEE

2024 2023
—E-ME —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$°000
BEFT BT T
Finance costs AL A A
Interest on lease liabilities (note 717(b)) HEaEzFE(HF170) 254 208
Staff costs (including directors’ BIXS(BREEEHE
emoluments - note 9) )
Salaries, wages and other benefits TE  HFEeREMER 431,196 418,543
Share-based payment (forfeiture)/expenses, BREXHFCGRI), EH
net (147) 2,196
Expenses recognised in respect of FERBRFE S 2E®R
long service payments (note 20) B (ME20) 2,062 -
Contribution to defined contribution TEREEFERIRETE 2 HR
retirement plans 36,523 35,245
469,634 455,984
Auditors’ remuneration REET S
Audit services ZERTE 2,191 2,177
Tax and other services B R b pR i 379 422
2,570 2,599
Depreciation and amortisation E K
Leasehold land and property, HELHEYE BER
plant and equipment B 71,072 75,664
Intangible assets \BILEE 1,329 971
72,401 76,635
Other items Hitig g
Loss allowance recognised for B SRR 2 BERE
trade receivables i 10 9
Cost of inventories (note 15(b)) BFERA(BEE15(b)) 3,824,687 4,242,965
MIE(EB)BERRAA | ZF ZWF F &, 139



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE—ZBE_WFEAA=tBHLFE

8 Taxation 8 ®HiE

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or (a) MNEZEeEZRZBES:
loss represents:

2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BT T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax ZREFIE-EFABFNEH
Provision for the year REERE 10,311 3,757
Over-provision in respect of prior years {XFEE 2 BEERE (509) (497)
9,802 3,260
Current tax - Outside Hong Kong RERE - FHBLUI
Provision for the year REERE 26,308 13,305
Over-provision in respect of prior years X E 2 BEERHE (154) (159)
26,154 13,146
Deferred tax (note 21) EERIE (M F21)
Origination and reversal of temporary ~ EREMERENELR
differences ] e 8002  (11.184)
43,958 5,222
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHZE—=Z

8 Taxation (continued)

(a)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss represents: (continued)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year
ended 30 June 2024 is calculated at 16.5% (2023:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is
a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered Profits
Tax rate regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits are taxed at 8.25%, and the
remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.
The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this
subsidiary was calculated at the same basis in 2023.

Taxation outside Hong Kong represents income
tax charge on the estimated taxable profits of
certain subsidiaries operating in Mainland China
and Macau, calculated at the rates prevailing in the
respective regions.

All entities engaged in the primary processing
of agricultural products in Mainland China are
exempted from PRC corporate income tax (“CIT").
As a result, the profits from flour mill operations
are exempted from CIT for the years ended 30 June
2024 and 2023.

Other subsidiaries operating in Mainland China are
subject to CIT tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%).

In addition, the Group is subject to withholding
tax at the applicable rate of 5% on distribution of
profits generated after 31 December 2007 from
the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. Deferred tax liabilities have been
provided for in this regard based on the expected
distributable dividends by its subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of profits generated
after 31 December 2007.

MIE(EB)BRAA

“MFEAAZTHLEFE

8 ®BiEw

(a)

—E - NFFR

RERSBRERZBIAR © (F)

BE-Z-_NEABA=1THLHF
ENEBANEHBEDRZEE
MG+E%H/HMM5%LQ
Z=%F 1 165%)5E  HAEE
H—REELAREMRFEHE
HTHEER QTR

FEZHEB AR =1 gy}
%ﬁmﬁﬁm,ﬂu85%ﬁ
B BRTHERBERL165%
BH RZEZ=F - ZHBEQ
ANEBIESHEBEDEZERE
E5tE o

BB LU IR 15 A i B K BE AR
FIEEzETHEARMMGETE
ARBBNRZBER ZHERETE
HIBLIASTH ©

FIEERBEAREKEEERERLM
ITEIERRPRECEMS
BTEERBHR ] - Bt - BB
EZE_NMERZZEZ=FXA
=+ B LLF E KL HR R TR EX
Zim A AR ERR R P B KR 2
FRGHE ©

RAABERELEE 2 HMHE R
A FRLEFSE mﬁfﬁﬁ%
(ZB==% :25%)

[l $Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ$lkﬁﬁ
VHNELER-—ZFTLF+=
A=1+— Hé%?im/ﬂﬁﬁ
ZAK BB RS % MR TE
BBt AH  SREBEEPEK
BERIMNPMELER-_ZTZLF
t-A=+t—-RERELZBEFNAE
HAafkzREFRELEHRIES
& o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

8 Taxation (ontinued) 8 MIEwm
(b)  Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (b) FEZHESIHBAIREARE
profit at applicable tax rates: ZEEBRNT ¢
2024 2023
—E_mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BT T
Profit before taxation BREBL AR 244,557 90,571
Notional tax on profit before taxation, 1% R &b FT{EH:
calculated at the rates applicable to MR ERBAT
profits in the tax jurisdictions concerned &Rz B&EHE 56,950 15,807
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses — Fi#_t A HE B &
R E 1,410 2,659
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue HMEBRFUA 2 RIS E (5,301) (6,397)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  KFLUERNHIEEIE
2R E 3,882 2,479
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not {# AR LATEE T F LUHE
previously recognised RBRBEB2RELE (636) (4,469)
Effect of tax concessions BRERZEE (18,957) (9,401)
Over-provision in respect of prior years L < BEERE (663) (656)
Withholding tax on dividend and royalty B U EWRE R
received and receivable SRR TR 7,613 4,587
Others Hith (340) 613
Actual tax expenses EMHIESH 43,958 5,222
(c)  Current taxation in the consolidated statement of () EHREUBRRERPHWERBE
financial position represents: (A
2024 2023
—ZE_UFE —EB=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFT BHEF T
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax REEFBRNEHEE
for the year 10,311 3,757
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax EFEZEBAES
payable relating to prior years Pz ahek (146) 1,007
10,165 4,764
Provision for profits tax outside BRI ERE
Hong Kong 7,224 4,086
Tax payables FEHFIRR 17,389 8,850
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHZE—=Z

8 Taxation (continued)

(d)

Pillar Two income taxes

The ultimate holding company, GuolLine Capital
Assets Limited, and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“UHC Group”) of which the Group is a part of, is
within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two model rules
whereby top-up tax on profits is required in any
jurisdictions in which it operates when the blended
effective tax rate in each of those jurisdictions is
lower than the minimum effective tax rate of 15%.

The UHC Group will be adopting the Pillar Two
model rules effective from the financial year
beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
International tax reform — Pillar Two model rules
introduce a temporary mandatory exception to
the accounting for deferred taxes arising from the
jurisdictional implementation of the Pillar Two model
rules as well as disclosure requirements on the
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes upon adoption
(see note 2(c)(i)). Accordingly, the Group has applied
the temporary mandatory exception in Amendments
to HKAS 12, Income taxes: International tax reform
— Pillar Two model rules retrospectively and is not
accounting for deferred taxes arising from any top-
up tax due to the Pillar Two model rules in the
consolidated financial statements.

The UHC Group is in the process of assessing the
potential exposure to the Pillar Two income taxes
for all of its subsidiaries that operate in the same
jurisdictions as the Group. The potential exposure,
if any, to Pillar Two income taxes is currently not
known or reasonably estimable. The Group expects
to be in a position to report the potential exposure in
the period of application.

MIE(EB)BRAA

“MFEAAZTHLEFE

8 ®BiEw

(d)

—E - NFFR

BEoXHEREH

B #& # B 2 3 Guoline Capital
Assets Limited R KB AR (&8
BRAERER) BREEERSIHE
“HERNEE ESETAEE
BENREEERERN15% @ F
HEEBMEEKNEMALEE
BEERR o

REEREESERAE - XHE
WARA - R —FB-_HF-A—
B2 BRIRNMFERERN -

BB ERE 1258 2B A
B - BERERRSE -
TEREMR IS AT — TH e B 5 ) 14 FR
% HHRERERSE - AERRA
AIMEENELERIRETEE
B UERERARKREHEC
XHEMEHROAERBER (R

2(0)() - Hit - AEBCBHE
REBERTERNE 125 2B [

EH EERRRE -
EER MR ESIEH% - AR
REPBBRPTEHRE-X
HENRRAmEEWEMHEER
EITELERIRS T RIE o

BRREREEEENEHMAEE
HEBHEEREERRRNEE
FART uﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ—iﬁﬁﬁa
BREVEERRER - BA  §E
TRERBHREERRER (W
B TERSEESEMG - &
B EEAPBREEER
BRAER o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

9 Directors’ and senior executives’ 9 EERSHITHA SN

emoluments &
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=E=EMe
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section RIEEBCA THEMYEI8IMNER
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and (RBEI(FEESFRER RHD
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information 2B CEENENT ¢
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors' and henefits schemes Share-hased
fees inkind ~ Bonuses contributions  Sub-total  payment 2024
(Note (v)) (Note (vii))
g
EHR i1
EEL A ] L HEER Mt BEX  Z3opE
(i) (Hiet(vi))

HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS'00
BRTr  ERTn  ERTn ERin ERTn BT ERTx

Executive directors HihES

WONG Cho Fai (Notes ()i ERE WK - 3,785 600 15 4,400 - 4,400
CHU Chao Hsiang, James (Notes (i&(ii) ~ SRR 1) - 390 - 8 398 - 398
Non-executive directors ez

KWEK Leng Hal (Note (}) SRR - - - - - - -
CHEW Seong Aun (Notes ()i BRI IR ) = = = = = s =
WHANG Sun Tze BIE 240 - - - 0 - 240

Christian K. NOTHHAFT (Notes ()&(i) B (Hs0E i) - - - - - - -

Independent non-executive directors BI85

L0 Kai Yiu, Anthony EHE 380 - - - 380 - 380
Lester G. HUANG, 85, Jp EE

REHEE AT4t 350 - - - 350 - 350
HO Yuk Wai, Joan s 340 - - - 340 - 340
Year ended 30 June 2024 HE_E-mEARA=1H

LLEE 1310 4,175 600 3 6,108 - 6,108
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9

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE-—ZB-WFEAA=ZtHLEE

Directors’ and senior executives’ 9 EERSHRITHASM
emoluments (continued) € )
Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EE=M<E)
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors' ~ and benefits schemes Share-based
fees inkind Bonuses  contributions  Sub-total payment 2023
(Note (1) (Note (vii))
EHR &4
EZhe B B FEER Mt REZH  ZBI=E
(i) (Histini)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
E¥fr  B¥Fn B¥in B¥Fr B¥in EEfr B
Executive director Higs
WONG Cho Fai (Note (i) BRBH)) - 4491 1122 18 5,631 963 6,594
Non-executive directors FHTES
KWEK Leng Hai (Note () SLEMWEH)) - - - - - - -
CHEW Seong Aun (Note (i) BRZ (W) - - - - - - -
WHANG Sun Tze ini) 240 - - - 140 - 240
Independent non-executive directors FUFHTES
L0 Kai Yiu, Anthony EfiE 380 - - - 380 - 380
Lester G. HUANG, 58S, JP B2l
HEHEE A T4t 350 - - - 350 - 350
HO Yuk Wai, Joan Eg 340 - - - 340 - 340
Year ended 30 June 2023 ECECTERASTH
LEE 1310 4,491 1122 18 6,941 963 7904
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Directors’ and senior executives'’
emoluments (continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Notes:

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

No directors’ fees have been paid to any salaried
directors employed by the Company or its related
corporations.

Mr. WONG Cho Fai (“"Mr. Wong”) has retired as
an executive director of the Company with effect
from 18 April 2024. Following the retirement of
Mr. Wong, Mr. CHIU Chao Hsiang, James was
appointed as an executive director of the Company
with effect from 3 June 2024.

Mr. CHEW Seong Aun has retired as non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 15 May
2024.

Mr. Christian K. NOTHHAFT is appointed as non-
executive director of the Company with effect from
18 April 2024.

Bonuses paid/payable for the year were
performance-related.

There was no arrangement under which a director
had waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

These represent the estimated money value of
share options granted to the director under the
Company’s share option scheme. The value of
these share options is measured according to
the Group’s accounting policies for share-based
payment transactions as set out in note 2(q)(ii) and,
in accordance with that policy, include adjustments
to reverse amounts accrued in previous years where
grants of equity instruments are forfeited prior to
vesting.

The details of the principal terms and number
of share options granted are disclosed under
note 24.

9 EENSRITHAEM
€@

() ESHME=@)
wist -

(i) MEEFSHLE XN TFALH
S EARREE AN EAZEH
-

(ii) BEHELE(ELENR=Z
TEFEEATNBRERDT
BTES-B - REXLERME
% BEFEER-T-NF
NEZBRZERFRTHT
-

(iii) BRZAER-ZF-_MFHA
THEAREAQRBFHITES
_HE% °

(iv) Christian K. NOTHHAFT ( & %
CYEER-ZZ-_MNFETA
TNAEZEARQTFEHT
EEo

v) REE 2N EATEATIE
REEE -

(vi) W L EEHRARZNR
W EREL BN £ Y 22 8

(viiy  EHREMRBEALFRODE
BT ERTES 2 ROPDEE
AT ERER - ZLERDR
BEEEDIREARERR
X5 (IR KHE2()
(i) Fr il E & SR M At
5 BEEREACEENR
ETE  RIEZBEEmEE N
R ETRNEEE -

RODEEE S ERRE
BB 2 R R 240
HEHHIRE o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

9 Directors’ and senior executives’ 9 EERSHITHA SN

emoluments (ontinved) AL S
(b) Individuals with highest emoluments (b) HESWANEER
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, ESBeFMARALH  B—
one (2023: one) is a director whose emolument is Z(ZEBEZ=F : —R)3ARNT
disclosed in note 9(a) above. The aggregate of the ZEZ > Hi€E R LilHEEa)
emoluments in respect of the other four (2023: four) HigE  c HOZE(ZE =% :
individuals are as follows: mE) AL ZSBEEMT :
2024 2023
—EmF —EC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Salaries and other benefits HEREMBF 10,715 8,648
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 1,174 1,245
Retirement schemes contributions BORETEI TR 260 265
12,149 10,158
Share-based payments BRELZAER 925 1,079
13,074 11,237
The numbers of individuals whose emoluments fall BEeBTHEERNZ AZWMT :
within the following bands are:
2024 2023
—E_ME —EBE=F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
HKS$E ¥ T AE AE
2,000,001 - 2,500,000 - 1
2,500,001 — 3,000,000 1 1
3,000,001 - 3,500,000 1 2
3,500,001 - 4,000,000 2 -
4 4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i %5 R & Bﬁ%I

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HZE-ZE_MEAA=1+HIEE
10 Dividends 10 KRR

(@) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the () FREMEAQIABRERE (KR
Company (excluding the amount paid to shares held ENFAEBRITHAERTDR
by the Group under the ESOP reserve) attributable to BEIR#FEBTEEZRONS
the year: ) ¢

2024 2023
—E-E —EBC=E
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Interim dividend declared and paid of FHREERRENERE
HK$0.13 (2023: HK$0.10) per BRAB®I3T(ZE==
ordinary share F 1 B¥0.107) 30,525 23,495
Final dividend proposed after the end of HRBEIRE 2 RERE
the reporting period of HK$0.27 Hﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁfﬁ#"o.ﬂﬁ(
(2023: HK$0.20) per ordinary share Z=4 ! E¥0.207T) 63,388 46,989
93,913 70,484
The final dividend proposed after the end of the RIBERLABERIRE 2 KRR
reporting period has not been recognised as a E'E"#&*EW‘E! e AREIR LR
liability at the end of the reporting period. A—HEHEE-

(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (b) FREHRESSWA—ETKRE
Company (excluding the amount paid to shares held EEMSAQRRERE (R
by the Group under the ESOP reserve) attributable FAREBRITHRAERMDREZE
to the previous financial year, approved and paid FREETHEZRONEE)
during the year:

2024 2023
—E-NE —EB=E
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Final dividend in respect of the previous BEA—ENREEESRE
financial year, approved and paid during NHRERE  SEREER
the year, of HK$0.20 (2023: HK$0.33) B0 20T (ZE==F :
per ordinary share 7B%0.337T) 46,976 77,539

148 Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 7 R &= Bﬁ%I

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-Z_MFEXA=T+HILEEE

11 Earnings per share

(a)

(b)

11 BREF

Basic earnings per share () BREXRER
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based ERERERTIREARQABRE
on the profit for the year of HK$200,599,000 (2023: % F %5 200,599,000 T (=&
HK$85,349,000) and the weighted average number T =% : 8%85,349,0007t) KR
of 234,854,000 (2023: 234,981,000) ordinary ZFﬂfrWEﬁ{TE}EHijJD*E$
shares in issue during the year, calculated as follows: 13 81234,854, OOO(— =F:
234,981,000) & Hx.#
2024 2023
—E-E —EC-=F
‘000 ‘000
F F
Issued ordinary shares at the beginning FHEETEE
of year 243,354 243,354
Effect of shares repurchased in EFEERECEBR
prior years & (13,584) (13,476)
Effect of shares repurchased in AEELRBEER
current year VR (91) (72)
(13,675) (13,548)
Effect of share options exercised in FFEETEZRNDR
prior years BRENSE 5,175 5,175
Weighted average number of ordinary  FREERINEF I
shares at the end of year 234,854 234,981
Diluted earnings per share (b) BEBREBSEF
The diluted earnings per share equalled the basic FRUBEHARBT2ETEEE
earnings per share as there were no dilutive Lﬂﬁ AhBE-—ZFT-_NER=
potential ordinary shares outstanding during the ZEERA=ZTHLEEZS
years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023. Hﬁ?iﬁﬁ”*ﬂ*ﬁ ERERERER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE—ZBE_WFEAA=tBHLFE

12 Leasehold land and property, 12 HELTHRYE  BE

150

- e
plant and equipment REEE
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) BREMEZHER
Leasehold
Leasehold land and
land and buildings Machineries,
buildings and leasehold equipment,
and leasehold improvements furniture
improvements outside  Construction and motor
inHong Kong ~ HongKong in progress vehicles Total
EEAE BBUMEE
THRET THRET AR
k& R&# ERIE  HHRAE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
BRI BETr BETr BT BRI
Cost: R
At 1 July 2022 RZZE-Z%+A-H 137,910 1,184,749 5,927 1,099,671 2,428 257
Additions Em 1,488 11,792 8,662 26,372 48,314
Transfer between categories DEmER 7,538 454 (11,734) 3,742 -
Disposals HE - (620) - (6,386) (7,006)
Exchange adjustments ERAZ - (86,040) (237) (74,049) (160,326)
At 30 June 2023 RIBEZ=FxA=tH 146,936 1,110,335 2,618 1,049,350 2,309,239
At 1 July 2023 WZEZ=F+tA-A 146,936 1,110,335 2,618 1,049,350 2,309,239
Additions K210 404 9,805 9,223 21,560 40,992
Transfer between categories PEHER - 8,068 (10,680) 2,612 -
Disposals HE - (4,777) - (11,298) (16,075)
Exchange adjustments EXHER - (3.422) ) (2,936) (6,360)
At 30 June 2024 R-Z-mERA=TH 147,340 1,120,009 1,159 1,059,288 2,327,796
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

12 Leasehold land and property, 12 HELTHRYE  BE

- e
plant and equipment (continueq) BB
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount () REEZHE®E)
(continued)
Leasehold
Leasehold land and
land and buildings Machineries,
buildings and leasehold equipment,
and leasehold improvements furniture
improvements outside  Construction and motor
inHongKong ~ Hong Kong in progress vehicles Total
FEHE  EEMMEE
THEEF  IHRET e R
RE# k&8 EBIE  HERAE At
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
BRI ¥ ¥ ¥R BRI
Accumulated depreciation, ZiE - BERRERE.
amortisation and
impairment loss:
At 1 July 2022 RZE-Z5tA-H 83,842 784,056 - 714,356 1,582,254
Charge for the year TEEEERINE 3,587 22,556 - 49,521 75,664
Written back on disposals HERRR - (238) - (6,184) (6,422)
Exchange adjustments EHAE - (67,691) - (45,919) (113,610)
At 30 June 2023 RZBZ=EXA=1H 87,429 738,683 - 111,774 1,537,886
At 1uly 2023 RZBZ=&£+A-H 87,429 738,683 - 711,774 1,537,886
Charge for the year REERERITE 3,813 20,79 - 46,465 71,072
Written back on disposals HEARMD - (3,972) - (10,406) (14,378)
Exchange adjustments ERER - (2,725) - (1,804) (4,529)
At 30 June 2024 RZZ-mERA=TH 91,242 752,780 - 746,029 1,590,051
Net book value: BHERE:
At 30 June 2024 WZE-MERA=TA 56,098 367,229 1,159 313,259 737,745
At 30 June 2023 RZBZ=EXA=1H 59,507 371,652 2,618 337,576 771,353
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE—ZBE_WFEAA=tBHLFE

12 Leasehold land and property, 12 HELTHRYE  BE
plant and equipment (ontinved N & )
(b) Right-of-use assets (b) FHEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use RHBEESE2FRAEEEZ
assets by class of underlying asset is as follows: BREEESAOT
2024 2023
—E_UF —EBT=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEFT BT T
Leasehold land and buildings in BEBHETHEET
Hong Kong 10,991 11,468

Leasehold land and buildings outside EHRLIIMAE T HRIESF

Hong Kong 55,244 58,367

Machineries, equipment, furniture Mees  R1E - FMRRE
and motor vehicles 1,127 495
67,362 70,330
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12 Leasehold land and property,
plant and equipment (continueq)

(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Right-of-use assets (continued) (b)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

12 HELTHEYE  BE
K& )

EREEE @)

BERERRER ZHEHEEZM
XER DT

2024 2023
—EUFE —EB=F
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BHEF T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use RREEY B2 FEARE
assets by class of underlying assets: EEZINEER
Leasehold land and buildings in HFEAHEIHRETF
Hong Kong 477 476
Leasehold land and buildings outside BEBUNMNEE T K
Hong Kong gF 6,102 6,361
Machineries, equipment, furniture HEs - BB~ R
and motor vehicles kARHE 343 331
6,922 7,168
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) HEaB2FE(HZ7) 254 208
Expense relating to short-term leases BREEHHES HX 5,504 7,081

During the year ended 30 June 2024, additions
to right-of-use assets were HK$5,128,000 (2023:
HK$4,594,000). This amount included the purchase
of machineries and equipment of HK$1,146,000
(2023: HK$Nil), and the remainder primarily related
to the capitalised lease payments payable under new
tenancy agreements and adjustment due to lease
modification.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the
maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
notes 17(c) and 25(b) respectively.

MIE(ERB)BRAR | — B - WEFR

REBZ-Z-_WFEASA=+HL
FE ANBEFRAREEABYE
5,128,000t (ZE =4 : B¥
4,594,0007T) - ZRIEBEEE
1,146,000 (ZEZ=F :
BETT)ABEREREE &
THEXEREHFHEEHRZETE
FEEERFREERBEETEL
W ERE -

FEHEZRERHAEREE

BEZBH DD BB
17(c)k25(b) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 EHZE=Z

THEXRAZTHLEFE

13 Intangible assets and goodwill 13 BFEEKRBE
Goodwill  Trademarks ERP Total
TEER
[k Bz BEEY &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BT T
Cost: B
1 July 2022 RZBE-ZFt+H—H 14,714 39,970 27,903 82,587
Exchange adjustments R - - (123) (123)
At 30 June 2023 RZEZ=%xXH=1H 14,714 39,970 27,780 82,464
1 July 2023 N-E-=F+A—H 14,714 39,970 27,780 82,464
Additions =0 - - 5,235 5,235
Exchange adjustments EHAERE = = 4 (4)
At 30 June 2024 RIBE-MERA=1H 14,714 39,970 33,011 87,695
Accumulated amortisation: By
At 1 July 2022 R-Z--5+A—H - 39,970 24,407 64,377
Charge for the year TEEHH - - 971 971
Exchange adjustments B R A% - - (48) (48)
At 30 June 2023 RIEBEZ=FxA=1H - 39,970 25,330 65,300
At 1 July 2023 RZE-=F+tH—H - 39,970 25,330 65,300
Charge for the year TEEEH - - 1,329 1,329
Exchange adjustments Rk = = (3) (3)
At 30 June 2024 R-Z-MERA=1H - 39,970 26,656 66,626
Impairment loss: REEE :
At 1 July 2022, 30 June 2023, R-ZBZZF+tHF-HB-
1July 2023 and 30 June 2024 ~ ZEZ=FXA=+H"
—EC=ftA-BkK
—mEAA=TH 12,539 - - 12,539
Net book value: ARERE
At 30 June 2024 RIBE-MERA=1H 2,175 - 6,355 8,530
At 30 June 2023 RZEZ=FxH=1H 2,175 - 2,450 4,625
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

Intangible assets and goodwill

(continued)

The amortisation charge for the year is included in
“administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Impairment test for cash-generating units
containing goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to edible
oil operations. The recoverable amount of the CGU is
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a three-year
period. The key assumptions of the cash flow projections
are the estimated weighted average growth rate and
the discount rate used. Cash flows beyond the three-
year period are extrapolated using an estimated weighted
average growth rate of 3% (2023: 3%) which does not
significantly exceed the long-term average growth rate for
the business in which the CGU operates. The cash flows are
discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 13.7% (2023:
14.8%) which reflects specific risks relating to the relevant
CGU.

The results of the tests undertaken as at 30 June 2024
and 30 June 2023 indicated no further recognition of
impairment loss was necessary.

MIE(EB)BRAR | 2=
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BREEREE )

REEZHHEBEACTARGEERER
MTHREM A -

BeHECREEAEAZRENR

EECZEROSERERA B - 8E
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EABNKEERPIRBTHERE
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14 Other financial assets

156

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Eﬁ%iﬁ%’zﬁﬁi

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-Z_MFEXA=THLEEE

Htte®mEE

2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
Note HK$’000 HK$°000
Hiat BT BT T
Debt securities measured at BRI E AN FT 2 2 B5RE
amortised cost o (i) 22,032 91,446
Equity securities designated at FVOCI  I§EZR AT EEFT AEM
(non-recycling): ZEWE (FAEE) W
PREES
- Equity securities listed in Hong Kong - R&EB LT 2REZS (i) 52,092 67,490
Financial assets measured at FVPL: BAFEEF B2
ZERMEE
— Club membership -2 272 872
74,396 159,808
Representing: HER
— Non-current assets - EREEE 52,364 90,468
— Current assets - REEE 22,032 69,340
74,396 159,808

Notes: BaE -

(i) At 30 June 2024, the debt securities are unsecured, bearing @) R-ZZBE-NEANA=1H ' BEEH
fixed interest rates at 2.8% (2023: 2.0% to 3.3%) per AEER REEFANERE28% (=
annum and will mature in one year (2023: mature in one to T=F 1 20%%E33%) MR-
two years). FREH(ZZ==F . R—ZEWMFR

EH) -
(ii) The equity securities designated at FVOCI (non-recycling) (i) BEEAFEEFAREMEEEE (R

include the listed equity securities of companies engaged
in banking and finance industry of HK$52,092,000 (2023:
HK$67,490,000). The Group designated these investments
as equity securities at FVOCI (non-recycling), as the
investments are held for investment yield enhancement
purpose.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group disposed
part of the equity securities for capital preservation
purpose. The fair value on the date of disposal was
HK$18,775,000 (2023: HK$30,363,000), resulting in
a transfer of accumulated gain on the equity securities
designated at FVOCI (non-recycling) of HK$1,681,000
(2023: HK$6,173,000) within equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

15 Inventories 15 &E&
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement (a) REEHERRRZEESR
of financial position comprise: g
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$°000
BT T JBHEF T
Raw materials BEAR 416,618 426,547
Work in progress ¥R 43,349 40,322
Finished goods I MR 153,742 176,229
Inventories in transit TERER 621 1,066
Packing materials R 23,618 23,754
637,948 667,918
(b) The analysis of amount of inventories (b) REHECEZRBIRAZIHZE
recognised as an expense and included in ESBEImUT
the consolidated statement of profit or loss
is as follows:
2024 2023
—E-ME —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$°000
BET T BHEF T
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFEZREE 3,827,006 4,238,608
(Reversal of write-down)/write-down FECHERR) SRE
of inventories (2,319) 4,357
3,824,687 4,242,965
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

16 Trade and other receivables 16 ESRHEAMEWERR
2024 2023
=F-mE —
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance MR EEREZE S EWREER 312,317 302,746
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments EfifEER - RE R FETRIE 54,846 44,618
Derivative financial instruments: fTEE®mMIE
— Foreign exchange forward contracts —HNEREASE 772 -
367,935 347,364
All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be FEESREMEBEWERFEESRE —F
recovered or recognised as expense within one year. ALNEIE R Y S g
Ageing Analysis AR 2 AT
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis RBEPL B - RBERZEABHRNRE
of trade receivables (which are included in trade and other ERECESERFEZRE (B
receivables), based on the invoice date and net of loss AEZREMBRERFZ)AOT :

allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEF T BT T
Within 3 months =@EAR 309,892 299,742
3 to 6 months =EXREA 2,406 3,004
Over 6 months ANEAKUE 19 -
312,317 302,746

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk AEBEZEEBRRREZEBRIES

arising from trade receivables are set out in note 25(a). WIS B RERFEDIAMEE25() ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

17 Cash and deposits and other

cash flow information

17 RERFRREMRE

(a) Cash and deposits comprise: (a) JRERFERBEE:

2024 2023

—E-NE —EB-=F

HK$°000 HK$°000

BEF T BEFT

Deposits with banks IRITEHER 1,480,200 1,139,063

Cash at bank and on hand RITERRRS 226,244 317,776
Cash and deposits in the consolidated  4ZREMBMRRRZBELER

statement of financial position FF 1,706,444 1,456,839
Fixed deposits held at banks with FFERIEBEAR=EA

original maturity over three months Pl ERISRITERRTER (937,987) (726,657)
Cash and cash equivalents in the GERERERZEER

consolidated statement of cash flows HEeE5E 768,457 730,182

Cash at bank carries interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposits rates. Deposits with banks
include time deposits which are matured within
three months and earn interest at the respective
short term deposit rates, and fixed deposits with

original maturity over three months.

MIE(EE)AR QA |

— = —
=
—_

PO 4F 4F ¥R

RITEREBRBEBRARTERZ
BRI R E T EREAE o RIT
ERFREEEHFRDIR=E
AREH  URREBZEHRE
FARR=MEA A ENEREFR
BREVFIS -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

17 Cash and deposits and other 17 REeERERERHEMEAE

cash flow information (continued) REER @)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) WEITHFELEZEBHE
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s TRFVNAEERETBEE
liabilities from financing activities, including both 2EERH  ETERERERHF
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from Re®s  mETBMEEZE
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows BREESHREGHRIKRKES
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the REBNEKERERSEESRE
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as AL EARETHZ2RERE -

cash flows from financing activities.

Lease liabilities (note 719)

HEABE(HZ19)
2024 2023
—EUFE —EB=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At 1 July RtA—A 4,181 4,416
Changes from financing cash flows: RIEREREBSE :
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERS 2 EREH (4,316) (4,521)
Interest element of lease rentals paid [REREiEN=C kel =EiTy) (254) (208)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERSRESE)BEE (4,570) (4,729)
Exchange adjustments ELAR (8) (308)
Other changes: Hih g :
Increase in lease liabilities from FRARBFILHFHEER
entering into new leases and HEZPZHERE
renewal of leases during the year #hn 5,128 4,594
Decrease in lease liabilities from FRREELERZ2EE
lease termination =AE=vo (1,037) -
Interest expenses (note 7) FMEBER(HFE7) 254 208
Total other changes Hith @A %E 4,345 4,802
At 30 June RA<A=+H 3,948 4,181
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE-—ZB-WFEAA=ZtHLEE

17 Cash and deposits and other 17 BEeREFREREMES

cash flow information (continued)
(¢) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of

REER @)

(0 HERSRHAE

BREEFAGERERERZK

cash flows for leases comprise the following: BEEELTIER -
2024 2023
—E_UF —EBT=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within operating cash flows KRERERER 5,504 7,081
Within investing cash flows REREREA 4,570 4,729
10,074 11,810

These amounts relate to lease rentals paid.

ELSREXNNEEESER -

MIE(ERB)BRAR | — B - WEFR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE—ZBE_WFEAA=tBHLFE

18 Trade and other payables and 18 EZRHMEMNERK
contract liabilities cEEE
(a) Trade and other payables () EZRHMEMNER
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing MRI|EBRAKE  RBEXZAH
analysis of trade payables (which are included in B o ENES BB (TEA
trade and other payables), based on the invoice date, B REMEBARIONT ¢
is as follows:
2024 2023
—ECINE —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within 3 months =@EAR 303,272 364,645
More than 3 months =@EAUE 605 2,694
Trade payables B SRR 303,877 367,339
Deposits received BWizE 13,788 17,009
Other payables and accruals HihE SRR ETER 260,405 200,910
Deferred income IEFEUEA 2,948 3,980
581,018 589,238
Notes: B
(i) All of the trade and other payables are expected to (i) FEE 5 REMEMRRITE

162

be settled or recognised as income within one year
or are repayable on demand.

(ii) As at 30 June 2024, other payables and accruals
included an amount due to a fellow subsidiary of
HK$7,336,000 (2023: HK$2,717,000) in relation
to management fee expenses payable to the fellow
subsidiary, which is unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

HHE— ERER AR BB
FRERFE ©

(i) R-ZZB-_MEXA=+H
HiEARAKEFERE
FENEBZRMEB QI BE
7,336,000L(ZZE=_=% : &
#52,717,0007T) - EE2EBE
HFRRMEBARNNEEERN
Y ZREAERR REK
REREE -

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
75 R & Y &

STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE-—ZB-WFEAA=ZtHLEE

18 Trade and other payables and 18 EERHMENERR
contract liabilities (continued) SEEEw
(b) Contract liabilities (b) BEEE
2024 2023
“ECNEF —E-=HF
HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Advances received for goods to be sold FHEERBEKRER 17,173 20,824

Contract liabilities represent receipts in advance for
sales of goods, giving rise to contract liabilities until
revenue is recognised.

Included in the contract liabilities as at 30 June
2023, a balance of HK$20,561,000 (2022:

HK$69,472,000) was recognised as revenue in the
current year.

19 Lease liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, the lease liabilities

ARABREHERRAKRER
ERABRAZAMELEZERA

Eo

R-EBE-=FXA=+HWER
EEEF  BREAEEBRIRAK
AB##520,561,000 0 (ZB==
F : 8%569,472,0007T) °

19 HE&EE

REEHLR - HERERK:

represented:

2024 2023
—E_ME —EC-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BEF T
Within 1 year —FR 2,615 3,112
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMNFER 771 933
After 2 years but within 5 years MEZRERER 562 136
1,333 1,069
3,948 4,181
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

20 Post-employment benefits

164

The Group participates in pension schemes organised by
the PRC government whereby the Group is required to pay
annual contributions at rates ranging from 15% to 16%
(2023: 14% to 16%) of the standard wages determined by
the relevant authorities in the PRC during the year ended 30
June 2024.

The Group operates a MPF scheme for the employees
employed under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
("HKEQ"), the employees employed under HKEO are also
entitled to long service payment if the eligibility criteria are
met. The LSP is a defined benefit plan.

(a) MPF scheme

The Group operates a MPF scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contribution to the plan at
5% of employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The
employer and its employees may elect to contribute
more than the minimum as a voluntary contribution.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately, there is
no forfeited contributions that may be used by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contribution.

20

EERBREA

AEESETRBRFABSNEKRS
2Bl AEERBEEZSWNEX
B=+HALFEERERVEGEKERN
EEEEIEAREXE  B15%Z16% (=
E=F  14%E16%) WL HIEHEFEE
EBRSMHR -

REBRBEAEB(ERKRD) TRAZ
BERVBGMELABESHE([REE
g1 mmFEA(ERKR) BRANE
ENEERGKRSE  THEEARRRBRSE
% - REBBER-BRAEBAE -

(a) @mEERTE

REERBEE(RIIMLAESKE
) BIRIEE B (EFERA) 55EE
TEAZEESSR U RERTE -
BESHEATEMICERAREF
B HBIUZETEAEE - R
BESHE AREREESE
AEEZEELEHEERNEEBE
WA5% 2 5 MBREWA LR
B8 ABEE30,000T - BERE
EPNAERESMNSNRKRE
FBREMEER - RFTEMEL H#
HENEEEB  SEXREEAH
R R FRORR A IR B B ARk

7 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

20 Post-employment benefits

(continued)

(b)

Long services payment liabilities

Hong Kong employees that have been employed
continuously for at least five years are entitled
to long service payments in accordance with the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under certain
circumstances. These circumstances include
where an employee is dismissed for reasons other
than serious misconduct or redundancy, that
employee resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the
employment contract is of fixed term and expires
without renewal. The amount of LSP payable is
determined with reference to the employee’s final
salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years of
service, reduced by the amount of any accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s contributions to
MPF scheme (see note 20(a)), with an overall cap of
HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group
does not have any separate funding arrangement in
place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the
Amendment Ordinance, which will eventually
abolish the statutory right of an employer to reduce
its LSP payable to a Hong Kong employee by drawing
on its mandatory contributions to the MPF scheme.
The Government has subsequently announced
that the Amendment Ordinance will come into
effect from the Transition Date. Separately, the
Government is also expected to introduce a subsidy
scheme to assist employers after the abolition.

MIE(EB)BRAR | 2=

20 EEEBEREN @)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

20 Post-employment benefits

(continued)

166

(b)

Long services payment liabilities (continued)

Among other things, once the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism takes effect, an employer
can no longer use any of the accrued benefits
derived from its mandatory MPF contributions
(irrespective of the contributions made before,
on or after the Transition Date) to reduce the
LSP in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date. However, where an employee’s
employment commenced before the Transition
Date, the employer can continue to use the above
accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the
employee’s service up to that date; in addition, the
LSP in respect of the service before the Transition
Date will be calculated based on the employee’s
monthly salary immediately before the Transition
Date and the years of service up to that date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting
mechanism and its abolition as disclosed in notes
2(c)(ii) and 2(q)(ii).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

20 Post-employment benefits

20 EEEBEREN @)

(continued)
(b) Long services payment liabilities (continued) (b) RERBSEE#H)
The present value of unfunded obligations and its AEREANREARESESNT :

movements are as follows:

2024
—EC-mEF
HK$'000
BEFT
At 1 July: BtA—H =
Remeasurements recognised in other TEHEMERES NG PN
comprehensive income: EHETE
Actuarial gains arising from demographic A O &5 B R 21k
experience and changes in financial FrIEENBERER
assumptions (116)
Payments made during the year FRAR (3)
Expenses recognised in profit or loss: RiIBRIRPHEZ 2R
Current service cost EHAARTE AR 301
Interest cost B RA 67
Past service cost BIEPRFE A 1,694
2,062
At 30 June RAA=1H 1,943
The weighted average duration of the defined RAEBNEENMELOERA
benefit obligation is 11.4 years (2023: 12.3 years). MAFE(ZEZ=F:123F) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE—ZBE_WFEAA=tBHLFE

20 Post-employment benefits 20

(continued)
(b) Long services payment liabilities (continued)

The above expenses are recognised in the following

EERBEEN @

(b) RERBEEE#E)

THBEARGERBERNUTIE

line items in the consolidated statement of profit or B iR :
loss:

2024
—E-F
HK$’000
BETT
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER 1,273
Administrative expenses THEAR 789
2,062

Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed as
weighted averages) and sensitivity analysis are as

EARBERR (UMEFIIER
RIRBBRESFTMT

follows:

2024 2023
—E-IF —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$°000
BET T BT T
Discount rate = 4.10% 4.00%
Future salary increases RRFEER 3.00% 3.00%

Expected investment return on AR REEREERN
offsettable MPF accrued benefits FEHRIR B Ol =K 4.25% 4.25%

168 Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

20 Post-employment benefits 20 EERBREMN =
(continued)
(b) Long services payment liabilities (continued) (b) RHRKEEE#E)
The below analysis shows how the defined benefit UToWER BEERBEMR
obligation would have increased/(decreased) as a BHE025%MEL  RERANE
result of 0.25% change in the significant actuarial Efg i, GRd) :

assumptions:

Increase in 0.25% Decrease in 0.25%
#100.25% H20.25%
2024 2023 2024 2023

—ECONE 2 —EBEC-=fF 0 —EBECNE —EBEC-=FE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BYT T BT T BEF T BEFT

Discount rate RZE (51) (49) 56 52

Future salary increases RRFEER 3 2 (3) 3)
The above sensitivity analysis is based on the LABBREITRERBERR
assumption that changes in actuarial assumptions B~ HEBNRE  BlEE
are not correlated and therefore it does not take ZRBERZ 2 BNAEEE -

into account the correlations between the actuarial
assumptions.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE—ZBE_WFEAA=tBHLFE

21 Deferred taxation 21 EEBIIE
(a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities (a) CEREELEHEBEEERERSE:

recognised:

(i) Movement of each component of (i) BEEHEEEREEEL
deferred tax assets and liabilities 2E
The components of deferred tax liabilities/ RiFE MR RKRERR
(assets) recognised in the consolidated ZIEERBEE (BEF)
statement of financial position and the HERFERAZESFHMNT :

movements during the year are as follows:

Depreciation
allowances
in excess of Expected
the related distributable
Deferred tax arising from:  EEFEELR depreciation  Provisions  Tax losses profits Total
TERHE ik
BHERAE B HBER  WARER &t

HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
E®Tn  ER¥Fr  ERTn ERFn ERTx

At 1 July 2022 R-ZE--E+f-H 8,727 (173) (6,307) 9,682 11,929
Charged/(credited) to RERERE

consolidated statement B/ (GrA)

of profit or loss (note 8(3)) (Hi813) 348 6 (14,766) 3,228 (11,184)
Exchange adjustments ENA% 65 - 176 - 241
At 30 June 2023 R-B-=E5xA=1A 9,140 (167) (20,897 12,910 986
At 1 July 2023 RZE-=E+f-H 9,140 (167) (20,897) 12,910 986
Charged/(credited) to REREER

consolidated statement B/ GIA)

of profit or loss (note 8(a)) (H7:2813) 2,121 (1,017) 597 6,295 8,002
Exchange adjustments ERAE 2 3 13 - 18
At 30 June 2024 R-BE-MExA=1A 11,269 (1,181) (20,287) 19,205 9,006
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

21 Deferred taxation (continued)

(a)

(b)

21 EERIE 4w

Deferred tax assets and liabilities () CHRIAECEHELEERARE:
recognised: (continued) (&)
(ii)  Reconciliation to the consolidated (ii) EEBBR R
statement of financial position:
2024 2023
—E_NE —EB=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BEFIT
Net deferred tax assets recognised RSB RED
in the consolidated statement of R ZIELEREF
financial position i=¥=3 (11,897) (14,586)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised R&& R RERE
in the consolidated statement of R IEIER IEF
financial position =8 20,903 15,572
9,006 986
Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (b) FEFEELEHEEE

At 30 June 2024, temporary differences relating to
the expected distributable profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the Mainland China amounted to
HK$1,003,737,000 (2023: HK$823,628,000).
A deferred tax liability has been recognised
in respect of expected distributable profits of
HK$384,078,000 (2023: HK$258,215,000) where
there are planned distributions from subsidiaries in
the foreseeable future. No deferred tax liabilities
have been recognised in respect of the remaining
HK$619,659,000 (2023: HK$565,413,000) as the
Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is
probable that profits will not be distributed by these
subsidiaries in the foreseeable future.

MIE(EB)BRAR | 2=

PO 4F 4F ¥R

RZZBE-_MEXNA=1+H A58
AEBRPEAREZHBEQGE
U2 REANNEREERESR
7 #1,003,737,000 L (ZE ==
& @ 7B 823,628,0007T) ° i
BARWEBRER TSR EFA
7 k384,078,000 L (Z B = =
& : B ¥ 2582150007 ) @ A
FFEIR AT RARRDIRER - Eit
—EHELEREEECHER - H
RAEAQTTEFZENHB LN
BREWE » WERERATRERR
ZERBATARITEETEDIR
A FTBAIE R R ER T B
619,659,000 T (ZB-=% : &
#£565,413,0007T ) &k 7 B A E R
HBERAELHESRE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

21 Deferred taxation (continued)

172

(c)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

At 30 June 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$402,737,000 (2023: HK$374,878,000) available
for offset against future taxable profits. A deferred
tax asset has been recognised in respect of tax
losses of HK$101,396,000 (2023: HK$98,199,000).
No deferred tax assets have been recognised in
respect of the remaining HK$301,341,000 (2023:
HK$276,679,000) due to the unpredictability
of future taxable profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$94,106,000
(2023: HK$52,740,000) that will expire within
five years. Other losses can be carried forward
indefinitely.

At 30 June 2024, the Group had temporary
differences of HK$61,522,000 (2023:
HK$64,118,000) arising from impairment losses
of certain leasehold land and property, plant and
equipment provided in prior years. No deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of these
temporary differences due to the unpredictability of
taxable profits streams against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised in the
foreseeable future.
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EIERIE ()
(© FEBETHEEE

RZZE-ZNEAA=1+H A&
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

22 A

22 Share capital

(a)

Issued share capital () CDBITRX
2024 2023
—ECNE —EC-=F
Number of Number of
shares shares
RO EE RnEE
‘000 HK$°000 ‘000 HK$'000
F BEFT ¥ BT T
Ordinary shares, issued ERITREBE
and fully paid: EZER
At 1 July and 30 June RtA—BRK
~A=TH 243,354 672,777 243,354 672,777
In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong RIEFB(ATIEHIYE135F &
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the AFEBERITBEEEHEE -
Company do not have a par value.
During the year, the Group purchased its own AEEARECETROABE
ordinary shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong WITENGRYE » NEBIZKRA
Kong Limited for the purpose of satisfying the ABETEIABAEEEBHER
exercise of share options granted under the Group's SHRERATHENZERUOT :
share option scheme as follows:
For the year ended 30 June 2024: BE-—E-—_MEANA=+HLE
E:
Number of Highest Lowest
shares price paid price paid Aggregate
purchased per share pershare price paid
=5 Ch) [=F-Ch)
B AR BRES BR&HE =FCh
Month/year T,/ A BE % B HERE
‘000 HKS$ HKS$ HK$'000
F BT BT BT
September 2023 —E-=FhA 53 8.80 7.70 446
October 2023 —E-=F+1+A 10 8.10 8.00 81
November 2023 —EB-=F+—A8 33 8.00 7.90 264
December 2023 —EBEZ=F+=AH 27 8.00 7.90 216
January 2024 —E_MME—A8 12 8.00 7.73 95
June 2024 “EMERA 39 9.00 8.30 342
174 1,444
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 Share Capital (continued)
(@) Issued share capital (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2023:

22 PBRZN ()
(@) BREFRE@E)

BE-Z-=Fx~A=1+HLHE

E:
Number of Highest Lowest
shares price paid price paid  Aggregate
purchased per share per share price paid

[=%-(h) =% ()
BARSD BRE&S BR&EE [=F- ()

Month/year £/ A% e TS B HER
‘000 HK$ HK$ HK$'000

F BT BT BT T

August 2022 g2 29 9.55 9.30 274
September 2022 —E- 24 9.90 9.70 236
October 2022 —E-= 32 10.50 10.00 323
February 2023 —g2-= 15 10.20 10.00 152
March 2023 —EB-=F=A 8 10.00 9.80 79
108 1,064

The considerations of the purchased shares for the
year ended 30 June 2024 of HK$1,444,000 (2023:
HK$1,064,000) were charged to ESOP reserve.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

As at 30 June 2024, there were 8,583,000 (2023:
8,409,000) ordinary shares acquired and held by the
Group under the ESOP reserve for the purpose of
satisfying the exercise of share options granted to

eligible employees.

BE-ZE_MEXBA=+HL
FEBARODHNEBEARBE
1,444,000 (ZE =4 : B
1,064,0007) W EETHA B
DRI IE T REFEINBR o

EERZEFEAATEBRAKEIK
ZRE  YARARFEZKE L
HRERBROEE-—ZREE-H
RRAFZHNGEEMS - IEE
BRERRSER -

RZZE-_NEFEAA=1+H An
REERTEEREIRMNABE
AT R - AEERITH
ANERNRBEFRFEBEDIEE
L iBEMRS8,583,000 (= BE==%F:
8,409,0008%) °
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

22 Share Capital (continued)

(b)

22 A (@)

Capital management (b) EXEHE
The Group's primary objectives when managing AEEEBEANTEAERE
capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to RIEESERAFELSE  BBA
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue = R R & E B E bk s
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits HEE UREBREERAE
for other stakeholders, by pricing products and BRE  RmEEARREMRD
services commensurately with the level of risk and by W AEMTZEZAEE FRFE ©
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.
The Group actively and regularly reviews and TEEEBR EHHEREERE
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance BRIRERE  LERSRKREMD
between the higher shareholder returns that might BN T AJEHEz2RSEEK
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the TFHRBHFNERNRRFRNES
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital RREZEREFE  EHEERK
position, and makes adjustments to the capital BRENESCEHERNEBIELTH
structure in light of changes in economic conditions. o
The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing AEEUEEEKLEERRER
its equity-debt ratio and cashflow requirements, ERZEERNFHEEBRAIE
taking into account of its future financial obligations BEREREAEB - BRERK
and commitments. For this purpose, the Group It AEESERERLEERE
defines equity-debt ratio as the ratio of total equity BOEREZERNLEE - BE
to net debt. Net debt represents lease liabilities less KEEHEafRREERER -
cash and deposits.
2024 2023
—E_ME —EBEZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BEFT
Lease liabilities HEEE 3,948 4,181
Less: Cash and deposits W RERER (1,706,444) (1,456,839)
(1,702,496) (1,452,658)
Total equity R 2,904,223 2,786,313
Equity-debt ratio FEREKLE 100:0 100:0
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

23 f#fE

23 Reserves

176

The Company VNN
Fair value
Share reserve
Share option (non- Revenue
capital reserve recycling) reserve Total
hiAEE ATEERE
& e (FTERE) Wt fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT BEFT BETR BEFT
At 1 July 2022 R-BE-ZE+A-H 672,777 2,537 (5,626) 1,538,193 2,207,881
Profit for the year REERA - - - 76,716 76,716
Equity investments at FVOCI - net movement  RATEREH AR M2 EREN
in fair value reserve (non-recycling) RERE- A TEERELD
FE(TIED) - - 3,820 - 3,820
Transfer of gain on disposal of equity ERNERNTERTAZERS
investments at FVOC| to revenue reserve WIRERE 2 s - - (6,173) 6,173 =
Equity settled share-based transactions RERLEEZIRDAERERS S 2,196 S S 2,196
Final dividend paid in respect of prior year ~ BEEEEARDRE - - - (80,307) (80,307)
Interim dividend paid in respect of FREEEAPERE
current year - - - (24,335) (24,335)
At 30 June 2023 RZB-=EXA=1H 672,777 4,733 (7,979) 1,516,440 2,185,971
At 1July 2023 RZBZZF+A-H 672,777 4,733 (7,979) 1,516,440 2,185,971
Profit for the year REERR - - - 19,604 19,604
Equity investments at FVOCI - net movement  #AFEE AL 2 EWEN
in fair value reserve (non-recycling) RERE-NTEERELD
FE(THERD) - - 3317 - 3377
Transfer of gain on disposal of equity ERLERDNTRES A ARG
investments at FVOC| to revenue reserve MRERE < i - - (1,681) 1,681 -
Remeasurement of long service payment RERBeBECENIE
liabilities - - - 57 57
Equity settled share-based transactions EREEEZURDAERRS - (147) - - (147)
Final dividend paid in respect of prior year ~ BEEEEARBRE - - - (48,671) (48,671)
Interim dividend paid in respect of PREECATHRE
current year - - - (31,636) (31,636)
At 30 June 2024 WoB-mEXAZ1R 672,177 4,586 (628) 1457475 2,128,555
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

23 Reserves (continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group:

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Surplus reserve

In accordance with Accounting Regulations for
Business Enterprises, foreign investment enterprises
in Mainland China are required to transfer at least
10% of their profit after taxation, as determined
under accounting principles generally accepted in
the PRC (“PRC GAAP") to the statutory surplus
reserve until the balance of the reserve is equal to
50% of their registered capital.

ESOP reserve

The ESOP reserve comprises the purchase
consideration for issued shares of the Company
acquired for the purpose of satisfying the exercise of
share options granted to eligible employees under
the Company’s Share Option Scheme.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve comprises the cumulative fair
value of employee services received for the issue of
share options at respective grant date and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies in
note 2(q)(iii).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises: (a) the foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of subsidiaries outside
Hong Kong whose functional currencies are different
from the functional currency of the Company; and
(b) the exchange differences on monetary items
which form part of the Group’s net investment in the
subsidiaries outside Hong Kong. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 2(u).

MIE(EB)BRAR | 2=

23 @#Ew@

SERFBZEERRAE

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

PO 4F 4F ¥R

BErfEE

RE(EESHFE) > EHEK
BEHIBRECEIAERIR
10% M R(FEARLNHASE
B ST ENRBRBERNBAEER
BRiEE EEZRMENEHRES
REFEMEARBS0%BIE

THRABRORBELRRER

TBRAEROABELIRFAEER
BARMREEREITERER
ARODAEFTREERTIROR
BEMBAZARFACHTRS
HEBENRE -

R R R

ROZABERFEEENRSRER
BETFTROABEZETIRE 2
RIFAFEE  ZFHBREME
2o)ii)FrE 2 BT BERMERE -

BE

ERRERERE BRETBUIIZ
MEAR(REERERIRALR
BZIREER) 2 MBRKRAEL
ZHNEERE AKRAKEEEE
LASN 2 B /6 1 Rl 4R B F 5 — #8540
ZEWMER CEREME o AR
BIREM 28 2 S5 R
BRI o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Reserves (continued)
(v)  Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments at FVOCI under HKFRS 9 that are held at
the end of the reporting period (see note 2(f)).

(vi) Revenue reserve

The distributable reserves of the Company at 30
June 2024 amounted to HK$1,457,475,000 (2023:
HK$1,516,440,000).

Equity settled share-based
transactions

Executive Share Option Scheme 2013 (the “ESOS 2013")
was approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 23 April 2013 and
took effect on 25 April 2013 to, among other, allow grant
of options over newly issued shares and/or transfer of
existing shares by a trust of the ESOS 2013 (the “Trust”)
which was established between the Company and a trustee
of the Trust, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.

Options granted under the ESOS 2013 are subject to
achievement of performance-based vesting condition. The
option shall lapse on the date the grantee ceased to be an
employee of the Group or the performance-based condition
is not satisfied. Each option gives the holder the right to
subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company and is
settled gross in shares.

23

24

RE =)
(v) AV EEH#ERTER)

AFEERE(TTERD) BER
BERRAFAEBMBREE
BIEORE TR ER D FEES
ARt 2E KT ENRERE
DNHEEZEH 2R FE(RME
2(f) °

(vi) WEfEE

AKARARKRZE-_MNF XA
St+tHEZUSREERE B
1,457,475,000 L (ZE ==& :
7B#51,516,440,0007T) °

RERGEZURG A
BERERZ

20131THRAER 7 R BREST 2 (2013
BHRBEETE DR =_FT—=FTA
“H=ZARARABRRESH RS LER
RitE YR=F—=FmMA=+HA
£ HPEEAETRESRIBITR
B RBEB2013R M ABEEFTEIRNE
FE(TEED (EE AR AT EERZET
ZETAFRYL > MEFTAALTEBRZ
2EMBLAT) o

RIF2013RDRBE B TR E 2R
BzBBIREBARIRERERE - RH
RBERARAFLATERZETZ
ARAREEIRBERRLAYN - SHORKR
HRBEBTHEEARBBARA-RE
BRI K LR R ER A o
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE-—ZB-WFEAA=ZtHLEE

24 Equity settled share-based 24 BREBEEZURG A
transactions (continued) HERXZ @
(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are (a) BHZERMEENT :
as follows:
ESOS 2013: 2013 1D EREBRESTE ¢
Number of
Instruments at Contractual life
grant date Exercisable period of options
REQSBABESE WIEHH RBESHH

Options granted to a director:

ARERT-2ES:

24 August 2021 2,500,000 From the date of notification of entitlement (“Vesting 3.4 years
“E-_-EAAZ1+WA Date”) up to 2 months from the Vesting Date
RESASHERRRAN(HEEAN)ER 34F
BEASBEMEARTHE

From the 13th month up to the 14th month from the 4.4 years
Vesting Date

REBRMEEt=EAZEtNEABBTR 445

From the 25th month up to the 26th month from the 5.4 years
Vesting Date

REBRMEE-TREAZE-t\MEABBTR 5.4%

Options granted to eligible executives:

AEERTOERTHAR
24 August 2021 6,200,000 From the Vesting Date up to 2 months from the Vesting 3.4 years
—E2--FAA=1NA Date
BB B HEmE A 1T 34%F
From the 13th month up to the 14th month from the 4.4 years
Vesting Date
REBRMEEt=EAZEtNEADBTR 445
From the 25th month up to the 26th month from the 5.4 years
Vesting Date
REBRMEE-TREAZE -t MEAHET 5.4%
Total share options granted 8,700,000
RO BEERTFAH
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE—ZBE_WFEAA=tBHLFE

24 Equity settled share-based

180

(b)

24 RESRGHEZURMDA

transactions (continued) ERRT 5w
The number and weighted average (b) KROPEENEERMNETEY
exercise prices of share options are as TEEWMT :
follows:
ESOS 2013: 2013R1DFRIERERT &) -
2024 2023
el 12 - St 2
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options  exercise price options
ik R IR
18 REEHE 1@ REEHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BT F BT F
Outstanding at the beginning ~ REFNERFITHE
of the year 15.11 6,700 15.11 7,900
Lapsed during the year RERKHK 15.11 (2,500) 15.11 (1,200)
Outstanding at the end REREABITHE
of the year 15.11 4,200 15.11 6,700
Exercisable at the end RERTT

of the year

The options outstanding at 30 June 2024 had an
exercise price of HK$15.11 (2023: HK$15.11) and a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.4

years (2023: 2.4 years).

R-ZZE-MEARA=ZTHBER
WITHEHRBRETEEABYE
15 11T (ZEBZ=F : B¥15.11
7T RMEFLIGRENE A4
F(ZBZ=F :24F) -

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2024
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

24 Equity settled share-based
transactions (continued)

(c)

24 BEREEZURGBA
ERRXZ @

Fair value of share options and (0 RBROIRBENLATFLEENRR
assumptions
The fair value of services received in return for share EBRFBROIDBEERMERE
options granted is measured by reference to the fair NAFEERZBEZMETIABE
value of share options granted. The estimate of the HWAFEEE - ERERAER
fair value of the share options granted is measured BEANTEER2BE MR —EF
based on Black-Scholes model. The contractual life A ERGE - RODBEENS
of the share option is used as an input into this HHAPR R ZE R g AE o
model.
Fair value of share options and assumptions of ESOS BOREEAFLEER2013KH
2013: R
24 August 2021
Grant date REBH —E--FNA=+WmA
Fair value at measurement date Rt 2R ZAFEE HK$1.415 - HK$1.798
1,415 T-8%1.798 T
Share price RAE HK$15.00
7B#£15.007T
Exercise price 1TEE HK$15.11
BHEE15.117T
Expected volatility FEHR R IR 19.89% —21.43%
Option life R R o R 3.4 years — 5.4 years
3.4F-54%F
Expected dividends FEHIRE=E 3.2%
Risk-free interest rate 92 [ B ) B 0.33% - 0.68%
(based on Exchange Fund Notes) (REBIEESERE)
The expected volatility is based on the historic JEHRIE AR B A RIEmEE
volatility (calculated based on the weighted average (SHE Ty RIE R 5 LB RE W I E
remaining life of the share options), adjusted for B » WARE ABIEMHME
any expected changes to future volatility based on B R RRIETEE T /EH
publicly available information. Expected dividends o AR ENRERERAM
are based on historical dividends. Changes in the BE o BRI AEBRBRAYHA
subjective input assumptions could materially affect TIEEGSEREALE -
the fair value estimate.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 BIREREERAEE

fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group's business. The
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its
equity investments in other entities.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk
is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash
and deposits and derivative financial assets is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with a good credit rating, for which the
Group considers to have low credit risk. The Group
invests in debt securities issued by government with
credit ratings A or above as rated by international
credit rating agencies, and has limits for exposures
to individual investment in debt securities to manage
concentration risk. The Group does not provide any
other guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country
in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 33% (2023: 32%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s five largest
customers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

25 Financial risk management and
fair values (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Credits are offered
to customers following financial assessments and
established payment records where applicable.
Credit limits are set for all customers and these are
exceeded only with the approval of senior company
officers. Customers considered to be with credit risk
are traded on a cash basis. General credit terms are
payment within 30 to 60 days following the sales
took place. Regular review and follow up actions
are carried out on overdue amounts to minimise
the Group’s exposure to credit risk. Collaterals over
properties are obtained from certain customers.
An ageing analysis of the debtors is prepared on a
regular basis and is closely monitored to minimise
any credit risk associated with these debtors.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience indicates
different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer bases.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE—ZBE_WFEAA=tBHLFE

25 Financial risk management and
fair values (continued)

184

(a)

25 BXEREERATFE
B

Credit risk (continued) (a) EERKRE)
Trade receivables (continued) EZEWR (E)
The following table provides information about the TREHBEBEASERE S EK
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade ERNTEGZEERARETEEE
receivables: BEE2ER
2024 2023
—E-_NE —E-=F
Gross Gross
carrying Loss carrying Loss
amount allowance amount allowance
REAE EBERE RELE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BEFT BYTF T BYFTT
Current (not past due) BIER (REE) 291,126 - 286,397 -
Less than 3 months past due ~ AHHR={EA 20,492 - 16,343 -
More than 3 months past due BB B =187 824 (125) 152 (146)
312,442 (125) 302,892 (146)

The calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome of expected credit losses and is adjusted
to reflect differences between economic conditions
during the period over which the historic data has
been collected, current conditions and also forward-
looking information including the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

25 Financial risk management and
fair values (continued)

(a)

(b)

25 BXEREERATFE
B

Credit risk (continued) () FERBGE)
Trade receivables (continued) B S ENARR (&)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect AEEESZRWRFR ZEERE
of trade receivables during the year is as follows: AEREMD BT ¢
2024 2023
—E N —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$°000
BET T BT T
At beginning of year g0 146 144
Amounts written off during the year TEEMESRE (31) (7)
Loss allowance recognised during REEEEEE
the year R 10 9
2y 2
At end of year FR 125 146
Liquidity risk (b) REBEELEMR
The Group closely monitors its liquidity and financial AEERYERERBES MO
resources to ensure that a healthy financial position BER » UEREFBEWEK
is maintained such that cash inflows from operating MR ERELEEZNAEBR
activities together with un-drawn banking facilities ® - BRMKRBANRITERE
are sufficient to meet the requirements for loan B RUENEEER: - HEEZ
repayments, daily operational needs, capital B EBEXER UREBEEEBER
expenditure, as well as potential business expansion BRNEBTESEE -
and development.
The Group reviews its strategy from time to time AEETRRFTEMBERE > B
to ensure that cost-efficient funding is available to NRELHEERAUBENHNER
cater for the unique operating environment of each ¥ NEEWHBATBENKE
subsidiary. RIG o
Banking facilities available to Group companies and AEREEEAZ R ZRT
not yet drawn as at 30 June 2024 amounted to MER-_ZE-_NFASA=+HA
HK$585 million (2023: HK$553 million). 7 ¥ 585,000,000 T (= &E = =
f : #%553,000,0007T) °
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

25 Financial risk management and 25 HKEBEERANFE

fair values (continued) E(,{éﬁ)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REBESERRE)
The following tables show the remaining contractual TREYAEBERHEBENRRE
maturities at the end of the reporting period of HABZBTENEEE 8T
the Group's financial liabilities, which are based ARNZHEDNRENARITRES
on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including TE(BEMNBYNERN RSN (T
interest payments computed using contractual rates B)EREHARABBANAETE
or, if floating, based on rates prevailing at the end of ZREAF) URAEBAHER
the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group NRzREBHE

can be required to pay:

2024
b S 3
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
EHRTER LR
Within More than More than
Carrying 1 year or yearbut  2yearsbut

amount  ondemand within 2 years within 5 years Total
- —F0E MELE
REE HME  BRENA  BEFHUR &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
ERFr  ERTn ERTn ERTn ERTx

Trade payables EREMNEN 303,877 303,877 - = 303,877
Other payables and accruals EEARIRETER 260,405 260,405 - - 260,405
Lease liabilities HESE 3,948 2,745 848 574 4,167
568,230 567,027 848 574 568,449
2023
—ECCE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ENATEESR

Within -~ Morethan ~ More than
Carrying Tyearor  Tyearbut 2 yearsbut

amount  on demand within 2 years within 5 years Total
—£R —F0E WEAL
REE gME  EmENA BREEUR ait

HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
ERTL  EETT  ERTm  ERETT ERTR

Trade payables ECLES 367,339 367,339 - - 367,339
Other payables and accruals HitE A RE R ETER 200,910 200,910 - - 200,910
Lease liabilities HEEE 4,181 3,226 951 138 4315

572,430 571,475 951 138 572,564
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE-—ZB-WFEAA=ZtHLEE

25 BIREREERAEE

25 Financial risk management and
fair values (continued)

(¢) Interest rate risk

(i)

E@

(0 FRERE

Interest rate profile (i) FIZEHEER
The following table details the interest TRAJARS LB
rate profile of the Group’s interest earning TEBCHMEEREER
financial assets and interest bearing financial STEERMABBCFRER
liabilities at the end of the reporting period:
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Effective Effective
interest Carrying interest Carrying
rate p.a. amount rate p.a. amount
L Eilp BREE ERERE SREE
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
BETFT BYF T
Fixed rate financial EEEREE/
assets/(liabilities): (BE):
Deposits with banks RITEHER 2.98 1,480,200 2.98 1,139,063
Debt securities EBRES 2.77 22,032 2.27 91,446
Lease liabilities HEEE 4.84 (3,948) 433 (4,181)
1,498,284 1,226,328
Variable rate FESREE.
financial assets:
Cash at bank RITER 1.08 184,957 1.36 251,951
Total &3t 1,683,241 1,478,279
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25 BIREREERAEE

25 Financial risk management and
fair values (continued)

188

(¢) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

At 30 June 2024, it is estimated that general
increase/decrease of 0 to 100 basis points
(2023: 0 to 97 basis points) in interest rates
for the Group's interest earning financial
assets denominated in various currencies,
mainly Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and
United States dollars, with all other variables
held constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group’s profit for the year and
revenue reserve by approximately HK$6,000
(2023: HK$5,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit
after tax (and revenue reserve) that would
arise assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to fair value
interest rate risk at the end of the reporting
period. In respect of the exposure to cash
flow interest rate risk arising from floating
rate non-derivative instruments held by the
Group at the end of the reporting period, the
impact on the Group's profit after tax (and
revenue reserve) is estimated as an annualised
impact on interest income of such a change
in interest rates. The analysis is performed on
the same basis as for 2023.

E@

() F=EbE)

(i)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
75 R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

25 Financial risk management and
fair values (continued)

(d)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases which give rise to
receivables, payables and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations
to which the transactions relate. The currencies
giving rise to this risk are primarily United States
dollars (“US$"), Renminbi (“RMB"), Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$"”) and Macau Patacas (“MOP").

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s
exposure at the end of the reporting period
to currency risk arising from recognised assets
or liabilities denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate. Differences resulting from
the translation of the financial statements
of operations outside Hong Kong into the
Group's presentation currency and exposure
arising from inter-company balances which
are considered to be in the nature of interest
in subsidiaries are excluded.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE—ZBE_WFEAA=tBHLFE

25 Financial risk management and 25 HKEBEERANFE

fair values (continved) B
(d) Currency risk (continued) d) EB¥EKE)
(i) Exposure to currency risk (continued) (i) REZIMEREE (1E)

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in original currency)
REZHERR(IREMHR)
2024
k12
HK$'000 RMB’000 US$'000 MOP’000
BETT ARETT A RFEFr

Trade and other receivables B 5 REMEWES - = 45 -
Cash and deposits BEREH 424 16,677 6,057 -
Trade and other payables B SR EAMERER - (246) (1,824) =
Amounts due from group EREEARFE

companies 15,511 45,284 - 1,925
Gross exposure arising ERABENSER

from recognised assets EENER

and liabilities 15,935 61,715 4,278 1,925
Notional amounts of DAY EEEER

foreign exchange forward BEIABHER

contracts at FVPL BMEREERE = (43,800) = -
Net exposure arising tHEEREREL

from recognised assets ZBBFE

and liabilities 15,935 17,915 4,278 1,925

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in original currency)
AR HERRAREHHE)
2023
ZECZZF
HK$'000 RMB'000 Us$'000 MOP'000
BETFR ARE TR ETFT BF% TR

Trade and other receivables E 5 REMERRR = - 47 _
Cash and deposits HERER 439 16,015 2,506 =
Trade and other payables B S REMEMEN = (219 (1,360) =
Amounts due from group EREBLAFE

companies 23,676 1,670 - 2,879
Net exposure arising SREEREBEEL

from recognised assets ZERFE

and liabilities 24,115 17,466 1,193 2,879
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25 Financial risk management and
fair values (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R R e

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

25 BXEREERATFE
B

(d) Currency risk (continued) d) EB¥EKE)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i) HBEZH
The following table indicates the THREHEERNEBRIR
instantaneous changes in the Group’s profit LA BFFmE ERER
after tax (and revenue reserve) that would ZHNEER  JAZBEHN
arise if foreign exchange rates to which BrESHAEBREE
the Group has significant exposure at the i ) (RO U &8 4 ) 2 B Reg
end of the reporting period had changed at B WERIZMABEEME
that date, assuming all other risk variables IS RITRE o
remained constant.
2024 2023
“ECmE b Sy -2
(Decrease)/ (Decrease)/
(Decrease)/ increase in (Decrease)/ increase in
increase  profit after increase profit after
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange revenue exchange revenue
rates reserve rates reserve
BRBL R R BB R
SMEE = R G R SMERE =X Rz
(TH)/L£# (BD)/%m  (TH),/LH  FD)/ &l
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
BETT BET T
HK$ B (0.68) (81) (6.09) (1,101)
RMB AR 0.68 58 6.09 959
Us$ e (0.31) (88) 0.28 13
MOP el (0.68) (10) (6.09) (128)
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25 Financial risk management and
fair values (continued)

192

(d)

(e)

Currency risk (continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the Group
entities’ profit or loss after tax and revenue
reserve measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the
change in foreign exchange rates had
been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is
performed on the same basis as for 2023.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising
from equity securities designated at FVOCI (see note
14).

All of the Group’s equity securities are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and are held
for investment yield enhancement purpose. Equity
securities have been chosen based on their dividend
yield track records. Equity securities are subject
to asset allocation limits to control appropriate
risks and the limits are reviewed from time to time
based on the latest market situation as well as the
Group’s liquidity needs. The portfolio size is regularly
reviewed and the price movements are closely
monitored with appropriate actions taken when
required. Internal reporting mechanism is strictly
implemented for treasury management.

At 30 June 2024, it is estimated that an increase/
decrease of 3% (2023: 3%) in the market value of
the Group’s equity securities designated at FVOCI,
with all other variables held constant, would have
increased/decreased the Group's total equity by
HK$1,563,000 (2023: HK$2,025,000). The analysis
is performed on the same basis as for 2023.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE—Z-_WFE A A=+HIEEE

25 Financial risk management and
fair values (continued)

(f) Fair value measurement

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured
at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s financial instruments measured
at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in
HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The
level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value
measured using only Level 1 inputs
i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date.

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not
available.

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs.

MIE(EB)BRAR | 2=

25 BXEREERATFE
B

()

PO 4F 4F ¥R

APREEE
() HURAFEETAEZZHE

EREE

TREIREBEEBIMBER
HENE =5/ 2 FEE
2 EHRREHLE
SAEEEERMIACAY
BEIERA=EAFEE
RA - BERMET LR
BWABBNITEEMRE
EMEUTRBIEE :

- B-A&RMEE:E
5 — AR BlE A
BE(AGFERHE
AHEREERER
TEIRT S EHRE
AERE)FTEHD
FEE-

- BIRBMEE:E
PS8 Z 4R Bl da A B
BEITHEE—K
AEENTERREH
BI)FENLFE
B BTEERAE
RAABERGAR
B THBERA
BB BARERSET
SR A RS -

- ESHGE: R
REATABER
AR EH DT
B -

193



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 75 3R & Y &

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE—ZBE_WFEAA=tBHLFE

25 Financial risk management and 25 HKEBEERANFE

fair values (continued) Ha
(f)  Fair value measurement (continued) f) DAEEEFERE)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured (i) LN FEEFEZEHRE
at fair value (continued) EREE(E)
2024 2023
k- CECCE

Level 1 Level2  Level3 Total  Level!  Level2  Level3 Total
08 EchE %=@M & E-OR EMR E=@M A
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
BT BETn BETn BETn BT MPn B BT

Recurring fair value measurements ~ EE#ATEREIE
Assets EE

Otherfinancial assets: EUEEEER
- Equity securites designated at FVOC - IR RATEREITALA

FENENRERS 5,09 - - RMm 6149 - - 6490
- Club membership -g# - m - m - 872 - 8
Derivative finandil instruments: e MIA:
- Foreign exchange forward contracts -EAE = m = m = = = =
52,092 1,084 - BB 67490 872 - 68362
During the years ended 30 June 2024 and BE-_Z-_NHFR_-F
2023, there were no transfers between T=EFEANA=Z+TBHLE
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or B E—RBIEE R
out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to ZEREER  LREE
recognise transfers between levels of fair AREBHE=HG - AE
value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting BEREARKANEREE
period in which they occur. ZHREHABAERDFE
BEHRRIER -
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE-—ZB-WFEAA=ZtHLEE

25 BIREREERAEE

25 Financial risk management and
fair values (continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in
Level 2 fair value measurements

The fair value of club membership in Level
2 are determined using market comparison
approach by reference to quoted prices in an
active market of financial assets similar to the
instrument being valued, adjusted for factors
unigue to the instrument being valued.

The fair value of foreign exchange forward
contracts in Level 2 is determined based on
quotes from market makers or alternative
participants supported by observable inputs
including spot and forward exchange rates.

Fair value of financial assets and
liabilities carried at other than fair value

All other significant financial assets and
liabilities are carried at amounts not
materially different from their fair values as at
30 June 2024 and 2023. It is not meaningful
to disclose the fair value of non-trade
balances with subsidiaries because there is no
fixed term of repayment.

E@
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(ii)

(iii)
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

26 Commitments

(a)

(b)

26 FIE
Capital commitments outstanding at the end of the () ZAEEFRABREHKRBELUTER
reporting period not provided for in the financial FRYERAE B A HRER 1 B
statements were as follows:
2024 2023
—EUFE —EBT=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Capital expenditure authorised and ERETEITNZ
contracted for EAREX 9,319 11,748
Capital expenditure authorised but EREERTNOZ
not contracted for BEERBEX 41,791 51,290
In addition, the Group did not commit to enter into o AEBR-_ZE-NFR=
new leases that are not yet commenced at 30 June E_=FXRA=THRBEAE
2024 and 2023. M ARFBBHHEE
At 30 June 2024, the Group had several non- (b) HR==E-_mEAXA=+H XE
cancellable purchase orders for raw materials with BEEMERIIZE T TUEUE
its suppliers with an amount of HK$509,080,000 WEMBHRIBETE - EABE
(2023: HK$571,315,000). 509,080,000 (= ==%F : /&
#£571,315,0007T) °
27 EBEALTZRS

27 Material related party
transactions

196

(a)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
and certain of the highest paid employees is
disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements. Total remuneration is included in “staff
costs” (note 7).

(a)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
0 7 R &= Bﬁ%I

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #HZE—

27 Material related party
transactions (continued)

(b)

(c)

“HERAZSTHLEFE

27

FREALTZRZ @)

Material transactions with related parties (b) BAEALTEARS
Nature of transactions REUE 2024 2023
—E_NE —E=-=
HK$'000 HK$°000
B F T BETFT
Management fee expenses to fellow EEHBELYHFER
subsidiaries (note (i) M=) (HfaE (i) 8,625 3,917

Notes: BEE -

(i) A master services agreement (the “Master Services (i) EA— E_=FRA=+H &
Agreement”) dated 30 June 2023 was entered into AR R E M B A B B Guoline
by the Company and its subsidiaries with GuoLine Group Management Company
Group Management Company Pte. Limited, a Pte. Ltd. (KA TR Z BRAER
wholly-owned subsidiary of Guoline Capital A 8 Guoline Capital Assets
Assets Limited, the ultimate holding company LimitedZ 2 &M B AR 7T L
of the Company, for the provision by the latter FRBEHEERBEHZED -
of management services including, among other FEURMBERHEEEREE
things, overview and/or oversight of businesses E(REMBE) ERRREE
and operations, investment management and EBREE  RETERMK
financial management disciplines, treasury and EELE  MERBERER
risk management, key managerial recruitment and FTEEBASRUBEREER
retention as well as other operating practices and UREMEEERNERF &
procedures, accounting, corporate advisory, legal, 5t BERH - AE - ATRR
company secretarial and other services. EREMART o
The Master Services Agreement is for a term of FREBZRENHH-_T ==
three financial years from 1 July 2023 to 30 June FLtA—HEZZEZ-REXA
2026. =+H RE=ZERRFE -

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to (00 EBEBEXSZLTHAZE

connected transactions A

The related party transactions in respect of
management fee expenses above constitute
continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
are provided in section “Connected Transactions” of
the Directors’ Report.

BIE(EE)BRAR | T _MFFH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE—ZBE_WFEAA=tBHLFE

financial position

28 AREERB BRI R

2024 2023
—E_UE —_E=-=

HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T JBHET T

Non-current assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BMERKRE 160 597
Interest in subsidiaries MiB A B 1,067,342 1,065,994
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR K B A~ B FRIE 618,127 660,102
Other financial assets HittemEE 52,092 67,490
1,737,721 1,794,183

Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H b FEUR BRFX 6,660 5,299
Cash and deposits BEREXR 490,502 448,504
497,162 453,803
Current liabilities REBAE

Other payables and accruals Hitt AR R ETER 11,506 7,432
Lease liabilities HEEE 110 428
11,616 7,860
Net current assets FREBEE 485,546 445,943
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 2,223,267 2,240,126

Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETHI B A~ B 7KI8 94,567 54,045
Lease liabilities HEEE - 110
Long service payment liabilities REREE2EE 145 =
94,712 54,155
NET ASSETS REE 2,128,555 2,185,971

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EeRkEE
Share capital (note 22) B (HfaE22) 672,777 672,777
Reserves (note 23) & (HaE23) 1,455,778 1,513,194
TOTAL EQUITY MR 2,128,555 2,185,971

KHESEN-_S-_MFEABNAH#E
NIRRT o

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors
on 4 September 2024.

CHIU Chao Hsiang, James FPE8%¥
DIRECTOR EE

Christian K. NOTHHAFT mA
DIRECTOR EE
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 HBE-—ZB-WFEAA=ZtHLEE

29 Immediate and ultimate holding 29 EHERHFXRIZERAT
company

RZZ-MEARA=+A X27K
HE 2K 2 7 A Guoline International
Limited » —ERABREZMEA LN A
A BEERATRRANRKERLAH
Guoline Capital Assets Limited » — & 7€
EAGEMALNAR > KAERRER
AE - EEBREVMERRUEARE
1

At 30 June 2024, the Company’'s immediate holding
company is Guoline International Limited, which is
incorporated in Bermuda. The directors consider that the
Company’s ultimate holding company is GuolLine Capital
Assets Limited, a company incorporated in Jersey, as its
ultimate holding company. These entities do not produce
financial statements available for public use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E

For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-—Z-_FE A A=1+HIEE

Possible impact of amendments, 30 B Z =ZZ = 4 F X

new standards and
interpretations issued but not
yet effective for the year ended
30 June 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended standards,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 30 June
2024 and which have not been adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

BELEMBEHRERTRAY  FBET
MASCHEMEZERBE-R-MNFE N
A=1THLEFEEMRERELENHR
REARRAZIETER - EPAEER
SEMAEZBRNOT -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
AT BHAg A
BRG 2 B 5T BRI AN

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Classification of 1 January 2024
liabilities as current or non-current (“2020 amendments”)

BB EANE 1R Q020F 2B/ ) MBHEXNWES : HEELEBRBHIER —EZWNFE—-A—H
B [2185T

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements:
Non-current liabilities with covenants (“2022 amendments”)

1 January 2024

BBRETERNE R (2022F 2 15T )[ B BHRENZS] - WERZHHRBEE 2 —E-_N¥—-A—H
&5

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024

ERNBREERNF165%/HE ERHLENHEERR [21ER “E-ME—-A—H

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and HKFRS 7, Financial 1 January 2024
Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements

BB EAETR [ BEREX IREBUBRELENETR [ 2HTA - “E-NE—-A—H
WE  REFHELH [2ERT

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates: 1 January 2025
Lack of exchangeability

BERETENSEN N [ EXZPHNTE B RN 215 —E-h%—-A—H

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

REBEEFEZSETRNBEAYEB
ZEMEE  -HIBAAL HAZRE
B AMTEHAEEREUBRRE
HEEATE -
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The following list contains particulars of principal subsidiaries at 30

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
TENME QT

At 30 June 2024 RZZBZMFEXA=+H

R-BZNEAA=ZTHETEMBELATFEEN

June 2024: T :
Place of incorporation/ Effective
Particulars of establishment and percentage of
Name of company issued capital operation equity holding Principal activities Notes
DRER ERAZRETHE SRREE Y REREEAL FTEER i3
Group  Company
2E5H  FAH
Changzhou Lam Soon Edible Oils  RMB40,000,000 The People’s Republic of 100 - Manufacturing and trading of N1
Company Limited AEK#40,000,0007 China specialty fats products
EMrEIEREERAR PEARLAE BERRERLERES
Guangzhou Lam Soon Homecare ~ HK$21,000,000 The People’s Republic of 100 - Manufacturing and trading of N1
Products Limited 78#21,000,0007C China home care products
ENEIEEZRRERAR PEARLANE FEERERLERE
Hong Kong Flour Mills Limited 100 ordinary shares Hong Kong 100 - Provision of trucks rental service
EEENBERLR 10,000 deferred shares ~ && and investment holding
100REER RUSERERRER
10,000 RIEE R
Jiangsu Lam Soon Flour Mills US$7,000,000 The People’s Republic of 100 - Manufacturing and trading of N1
Company Limited 7,000,000 7T China flour products
TERIBENERAR HEARLNE BREREERES
Jiangsu Lam Soon Food US$10,000,000 The People’s Republic of 100 - Manufacturing and trading of N1
Company Limited 10,000,000 7T China flour products
TEEIERRERAR MEARLAE BRERLERES
Lam Soon (China) Holdings US$1 British Virgin Islands/ 100 - Investment holding
Company Limited %7 Hong Kong REER
ABAEREE /BB
Lam Soon Cleaning & Caring 2 ordinary shares Hong Kong 100 - Trading of home care products
Laboratories (Hong Kong) IREER BB SEERERES
Company Limited
BIEEZEERE (B BRAT
Lam Soon Edible Qils 2 ordinary shares Hong Kong 100 - Investment holding
Holdings Limited UREBR Bk REER
BB ERERAR
HIBE(EB)ARAA | 2T ZWFF W 201



Name of company

NEER

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
TENE QT

At30June 2024 H=—Z-MFEXA=1+AH

Particulars of
issued capital

BRTZBARE

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
operation

AR EE B

Effective
percentage of
equity holding
RERREIL

Notes

[

Principal activities

IRER

Lam Soon Food Industries (BVI)
Limited

Lam Soon Food Supply Company
Limited
HERRARARLAR

Lam Soon Food Supply (Macau)
Company Limited
HIERREEGRM)ERAR

Lam Soon Home Care Products
Holdings Limited
BEREERERERERAR

Lam Soon Products Supply
(Hong Kong) Company Limited
HIEERME(EE)BRAR

Lam Soon Realty Limited

HEtERRAR

Lam Soon (Shandong) Food
Company Limited
HE(WR)REERAT

Lam Soon (Sichuan) Food

Company Limited
BIE(M)INRRERAT

202

HK$ 11,858,415
iB#11,858 4157

1,000 ordinary shares
500,000 deferred shares
1,000 E B

500,000 BGERE R

MOP25,000

TAFI#E25,0007T

2 ordinary shares
IREBR

1,000,000 ordinary shares

1,000,000 &R

2 ordinary shares

WREER

US$10,113,100

10,113,100% ¢

US$7,000,000
7,000,000% 7

Lam Soon (Hong Kong) Limited | Annual Report 2024

British Virgin Islands
ABAERES

Hong Kong
&8

Macau
il

Hong Kong
gd

Hong Kong
&R

Hong Kong
&R

The People’s Republic of
China
hE A REAE

The People’s Republic of
China
EIN 0 1l

Group  Company

r55

100

v

100

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Trading of flour, edible oils and
home care products
Y RRARFEREERES

Investment holding

REER

Manufacturing of edible oils and
trading of flour, edible oils and
agency products

REBEERIES  RABR
REERES

Property holding, the provision of
warehousing and logistic services
and licenses of factory canteen

NERE - RERRNDREER
IRREHRKE

Manufacturing and trading of N7
flour products

BNERLERES

Manufacturing and trading of N7
flour products

BRERLERES



PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
TENME QT

At 30 June 2024 RZZBZMFEXA=+H

Place of incorporation/ Effective
Particulars of establishment and percentage of
Name of company issued capital operation equity holding Principal activities Notes
NAER BRTZRANE EMREEHH REREEIHL TEEY (i
Group  Company
25EH  AAH
Lam Soon Silos Investments Limited 2 ordinary shares Hong Kong 100 - Investment holding
HEHEREBRAT UREBER BE REZR
Lam Soon Systems Limited 2 ordinary shares Hong Kong 100 - Provision of information
BIERGERAR UREBR £ technology services
REEERNERE
Lam Soon Trademark Limited Us$2 Cook Islands/Hong Kong 100 - Trademark holding
ET NREE/BE BERE

LS SynaLife Trading (Shanghai) RMB7,000,000 The People's Republic of 100 - Trading and distribution of N1

Company Limited ARK7,000,0007 China products
BEERE (LE)BRAR hEARLAE ESRNHER
Richly Choice Development (PTC) ~ US$1 British Virgin Islands 100 100 Provision of trustee services

Limited EV ABGRRNE REETRSE
Shekou Lam Soon Flour Mills US$27,500,000 The People’s Republic of 100 - Manufacturing and trading of N7

Company Limited 27,500,000% 7 China flour products
EORIBEENERAR PEARLAE BRERLERES
Shekou Lam Soon Silo US$9,500,000 The People’s Republic of 100 - Provision of silo facilities N1

Company Limited 9,500,000% 7 China REERRY
ROEEEEERAR PEARLANE
Shenzhen Lam Soon Edible Oils ~ US$12,000,000 The People’s Republic of 100 - Manufacturing and trading of NT

Company, Limited 12,000,000 7t China edible products
R IR PR =) HEARLNE RRBEREERES

Note: MiaE
N1 These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-owned-foreign N1 ZEMBARRPEIEEUNEBEECERE
companies under PRC Laws. = o
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5-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LFEMBERE

The summaries of results, assets and liabilities and total equity of AEEBEREGHREENEE BEEREER

the Group for the last five financial years are as follows: BERMENT :
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“E-NE ZT-=HE ZE--f ZE--F CZZZEE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BYEET BYEErT EWEErn EFEEn EFEET

Results £

Revenue LON 4,838 5119 6,107 5,761 5119

Operating profit before interest, FINBFIE - F1E

taxation, depreciation and MEREHENEEE

amortisation 273 135 327 457 436
Profit for the year REERF 201 85 257 358 317
Assets and liabilities BERER
Non-current assets FREBEE 812 884 975 917 692
Net current assets FRBEE 2,116 1,919 1,998 1,981 1,806
Non-current liabilities FREEE (24) (17) (14) (17) 21
Total equity BRER 2,904 2,786 2,959 2,881 2,477
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